
 

https://waterloowi.sharepoint.com/sites/Fileshares/data/Common/AGENDAS_ MINUTES/2022/COUNCIL - 1st and 3rd Thurs/2022-04-21City Council/2022-04-21CityCouncilAgenda.docx 
4/19/2022 5:41 PM 

                  

                          136 North Monroe Street  
Waterloo, WI  53594 

      Phone:  (920) 478-3025 
      Fax: (920) 478-2021 

      www.waterloowi.us 
 CITY OF WATERLOO COUNCIL AGENDA 

COUNCIL CHAMBER OF THE MUNICIPAL BUILDING – 136 N. MONROE STREET 
Thursday, April 21, 2022 – 7:00 p.m. 
Participate Remotely Or In-Person 

 

Join Zoom Meeting   https://us02web.zoom.us/j/83519816328?pwd=Wm9wT2hXSHNBeVd0b2MxeksyK3JkZz09 
Meeting ID: 835 1981 6328   Passcode: 869408 
Dial by phone        +1 312 626 6799 US (Chicago) 

 
Pursuant to Section 19.84 Wisconsin Statutes, notice is hereby given to the public and news media, that a public meeting will 
be held to consider the following: 
 

*** ANNUAL ORGANIZATIONAL MEETING *** 
1. CALL TO ORDER, PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE AND ROLL CALL  

 
2. ORGANIZATIONAL MATTERS 

a. Discussion Of Organizational Opportunities 
b. Resolution 2022-12 Appointing The Official Newspaper, Depositories And Auditors 
c. Election of Council President As Specified In Chapter 30-1 (F) Of The Waterloo Code 
d. Resolution 2022-13 Council Confirmation Of Mayoral Appointments & Council Standing Committees 
e. Resolution 2022-14 Confirmation Of Waterloo Fire Department Appointments 

3. ANNUAL ORGANIZATIONAL MEETING ADJOURNMENT 
 

 
***REGULARLY SCHEDULED CITY COUNCIL BUSINESS*** 

1) MEETING MINUTES APPROVAL: April 7, 2022 
 

2) CITIZEN INPUT / PUBLIC COMMENT 
 

3) OLD BUSINESS 
 

4) MEETING SUMMARIES (since last Council meeting) 
a) 04/19/2022 Cable Television Regulatory Board 
b) 04/19/2022 CDA 
c) 04/21/2022 Finance, Insurance & Personnel Committee 

 
5) CONSENT AGENDA ITEMS 

a) March Reports Of City Officials & Contract Service Providers 
i) Parks 
ii) Fire & Emergency Medical Services 
iii) Building Inspections 
iv) Public Works 
v) Police 
vi) Library Board 
vii) Water & Light Utility Commission 
viii) Watertown Humane Society 

 
 

6) RECOMMENDATIONS OF BOARDS, COMMITTEES AND COMMISSIONS 
a) Public Safety 

i) Ordinance 2022-06 An Ordinance Amending Chapter§57-11 Fire Dept Traffic Laws Apply to Volunteers 
b) Finance, Insurance & Personnel 

i) March 2022 Financial Statements: General Disbursements $117,563.79; Payroll $76,883.40 & 
Clerk/Treasurer’s Reports [see on municipal website] 

http://www.waterloowi.us/
https://us02web.zoom.us/j/83519816328?pwd=Wm9wT2hXSHNBeVd0b2MxeksyK3JkZz09
https://www.waterloowi.us/clerk-treasurer/pages/monthly-financial-statements


 

https://waterloowi.sharepoint.com/sites/Fileshares/data/Common/AGENDAS_ MINUTES/2022/COUNCIL - 1st and 3rd Thurs/2022-04-21City Council/2022-04-21CityCouncilAgenda.docx 
4/19/2022 5:41 PM 

ii) Ordinance 2022-04 Record Retention Schedule 
iii) Path lighting through the park.  One light off of Mill St around the bend and one light on the other side of the 

bridge lighting the path Boorman/Park Ave. 
iv) HVAC Proposal – City of Waterloo Garage Jensen Plumbing, Heating & Air INC. 

c. Waterloo Utilities 
(a) Removal of Fluoride from City water 

 
7) NEW BUSINESS 

a) 2021 Audit Presentation, Baker Tily 
 

8) FUTURE AGENDA ITEMS AND ANNOUNCEMENTS 
9) ADJOURNMENT 

 
Jeanne Ritter Clerk/Deputy Treasurer       Posted & Emailed: 04/19/2022  

PLEASE NOTE: It is possible that members of and possibly a quorum of members of other governmental bodies of the municipality may be in attendance at the above 

meeting(s) to gather information. No action will be taken by any governmental body other than that specifically noticed. Also, upon reasonable notice, efforts will be 
made to accommodate the needs of disabled individuals through appropriate aids and services. For additional information or to request such services please contact the 
clerk’s office at the above location 



Page 1 of 2  
https://waterloowi.sharepoint.com/sites/Fileshares/data/Common/AGENDAS_ MINUTES/2022/COUNCIL - 1st and 3rd Thurs/2022-04-07City Council/2022-04-
07CityCouncilMinutes.docx 
4/16/2022 6:51 PM 

CITY OF WATERLOO COMMON COUNCIL - MEETING MINUTES: April 7, 2022 
[a digital recording of this meeting also serves as the official record] 

 
1) CALL TO ORDER, PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE & ROLL CALL. Mayor Quimby called the meeting to order at 7:00 

p.m. Alderpersons present: Cummings, Rhynes, Kuhl, Griffin, Thomas, Weihert and Petts.  Alderpersons attending 
remotely:  none.  Absent: none. Others attending remotely or in-person:Ryan Spoehr with the Courier; Police Chief 
Sorenson; Treasurer/ Deputy Clerk Tschanz, Library Director Mountford, Parks Director Haberkorn, Fire Chief 
Benisch, Utility Supervisor Sorenson, DPW Director Yerges, Jeanne Ritter, Sam Hensler, Jim English, Erin Waitz, 
Don Nell, Joshua Wurtzburger, Siobhan Brandman and WLOO videographers. The pledge of allegiance was 
recited. 

 
2) MEETING MINUTES APPROVAL: March 17, 2022 [Petts/Griffin] VOICE VOTE: Motion Carried. 

 
3) CITIZEN INPUT / PUBLIC COMMENT none 

 
4) NEW BUSINESS Solarium  

a) Approving Agents for Liquor Licenses 
i) Agent Kent Ganske/The Solarium [Thomas/Cummings] VOICE VOTE: Motion carried.   
ii) Agent Elizabeth Davis/ Waterloo Market LLC [Thomas/Cummings] VOICE VOTE Motion carried. 

b) Class B Beer and Liquor. Class C Wine Applications for 4/8/2022-06/30/2022 
i) The Solarium 575 W Madison St [Kuhl/Rhynes ] VOICE VOTE: Motion carried.  Siobhan from The Solarium 

discussed marketing plans and invited all to the May 1st Event.   
ii) Waterloo Market LLC 103 N Monroe St [Petts/Cummings]  VOICE VOTE: Motion carried.   

c) Ordinance 2022-05 Update §85-7 updating appointment section. [Petts/Kuhl ] VOICE VOTE: Motion carried 
d) Resolution #2022-11 Recognizing Eric Rhynes For His Municipal Service As a Member of the Waterloo Common 

Council [Kuhl/Weihert] VOICE VOTE: Motion carried.   
e) City Clerk Position Opening – Interview. [NOTE:  The City Council may meet in closed session per Wis. Stat. 

19.85(1)(c) “considering employment, promotion, compensation or performance evaluation data of any public 
employee over which the governmental body has jurisdiction or exercise responsibility. Upon concluding a closed 
session, the Committee will reconvene in open session. [Kuhl/Thomas] VOICE VOTE Motion carried to go into 
closed session.   [Kuhl/Cummings] to come out of closed session back into open session [Kuhl/Cummings] 
VOICE VOTE: Motion carried 

f) Appointment of Jeanne Ritter City Clerk/Deputy Treasurer.  [ Kuhl/Cummings] VOICE VOTE: Motion carried. 
 

5) MEETING SUMMARIES (since last Council meeting) updates noted 
a) 03/22/2022 Plan Commission  
b) 03/29/2022 Fire/EMS  
c) 04/05/2022 Water & Light   
d) 04/06/2022 Parks  
e) 04/07/2022 Public Safety & Health  
f) 04/07/2022 Public Works & Property  

 
6) RECOMMENDATIONS OF BOARDS, COMMITTEES AND COMMISSION  

a) Public Safety & Health 
i) Waterloo Business Association Wine Walk Event Application unanimously approved by Public Safety 5-8 pm 

on May 19.  300 tickets available $25.[Thomas/Cummings] VOICE VOTE: Motion carried.   
b) CDA  

i) Ordinance 2022-01 Amending Section 140-15 Unsafe Buildings Renaming it Regulation and Permit for 
Demolition of Structures.  [Weihert/Kuhl] VOICE VOTE: Motion carried.  

c) Public Works and Property 
i) Approval of Small Cell Sites in Waterloo. 5g across the city added to current poles. Noting node 14 will be 

updated.   [Petts/Weihert] VOICE VOTE: Motion carried.   
ii) City of Waterloo Road / Utility Out-Year Project Plan.  Petts would like to see form updated.   

 
7) OLD BUSINESS 

a) Ambulance & Emergency Medical Service Agreement Update. Town of Waterloo still working to figure out what 
direction they will be going.  Goal is to have decision by July.   

 
8) FUTURE AGENDA ITEMS AND ANNOUNCEMENTS April 16 Easter Bunny in the Park.  Park spring clean up April 



Page 2 of 2  
https://waterloowi.sharepoint.com/sites/Fileshares/data/Common/AGENDAS_ MINUTES/2022/COUNCIL - 1st and 3rd Thurs/2022-04-07City Council/2022-04-
07CityCouncilMinutes.docx 
4/16/2022 6:51 PM 

23 and first concert May 12th.  Pancake breakfast May 15th at the Fire Station.   
 

9) ADJOURNMENT [Kuhl/Petts] VOICE VOTE: Motion carried. 8:05pm 
 

 
 
Attest: 
Mike Tschanz, Deputy Clerk/Treasurer 



Page 1 of 1  

HTTPS://WATERLOOWI.SHAREPOINT.COM/SITES/FILESHARES/DATA/common/resolutions/2022 resolutions/a - drafting/2022-12council appointments/#2021-13council 
appointments-newspaper-depository-auditors.docx 
4/19/2022 1:21 PM 

 

                                           

                          136 North Monroe Street 
   Waterloo, WI 53594-1198 

      Phone:  (920) 478-3025 
Fax: (920) 478-2021  

            www.waterloowi.us 

 

______________________________________________________________________________              _ 
                                    

RESOLUTION #2022-12 
 

ANNUAL COUNCIL APPOINTMENTS   
OFFICIAL NEWSPAPER, OFFICIAL DEPOSITORIES AND OFFICIAL AUDITORS 

 
The Common Council of the City of Waterloo, Wisconsin does hereby make the following 
appointments and delegations: 
 
▪ The Courier, official newspaper for the City of Waterloo; 
 
▪ The Council hereby delegates authority to appoint the official depositories for the City of Waterloo 

to the Mayor in consultation with the Treasurer/Deputy Clerk. 
 
▪ Baker Tilly Virchow Krause LLP, official auditors for the City of Waterloo; 
 
BE IT RESOLVED, that the Common Council formally approves the appointments until the 2023 
Council Organizational Meeting. 
 
Adopted:  __________, 2022 
      City of Waterloo 
  
 
 

Signed: _____________________________ 
         Jenifer Quimby, Mayor 
 
Attest:  
 
 
 
______________________________ 
Jeanne Ritter, Clerk/DeputyTreasurer  
 
 
 
SPONSOR(S) – Mayor  

 

http://www.waterloowi.us/


Page 1 of 2 
https://waterloowi.sharepoint.com/sites/Fileshares/data/Common/RESOLUTIONS/2022 RESOLUTIONS/A - Drafting/2022-13 MAYORAL APPTS/#2022-13 MAYORAL APPTS.docx 

 

                                          

                          136 North Monroe Street 
   Waterloo, WI 53594-1198 

      Phone:  (920) 478-3025 
Fax: (920) 478-2021  

            www.waterloowi.us 

 

_______________________________________________________________________________________ 
                                

RESOLUTION #2022-13 
COUNCIL CONFIRMATION OF MAYORAL APPOINTMENTS 

 

  
The Common Council of the City of Waterloo, Wisconsin does hereby resolve as follows: 
 
WHEREAS, the Municipal Code directs the Mayor to appoint members of the Common Council to standing 
committees of the Council, and whereas the Mayor has made the following standing committee appointments, 
 
- Finance, Insurance & Personnel Committee: Thomas, C. Kuhl and Weihert 
- Public Safety & Health Committee:  Thomas, Griffin and Cummings 
- Public Works & Property Committee: Weihert, Petts, and A. Kuhl 
 
[NOTE: Bold designates appointed committee chair.] 
 
WHEREAS, the municipal code directs the Mayor to appoint citizens to various Boards, Commissions and 
Committees, and whereas the Mayor has made the following appointments, 
 
- Administrative Review Appeals Board 

Jeanette Petts, Council Representative    (term expiring 2023) 
Mayor Jenifer Quimby       (term expiring 2023) 

 
- Board of Review 
 Lindsay Reynolds      (term expiring 2027) 
         
 
- Board of Zoning Appeals  

Tim Thomas       (term expiring 2023)  
Vacancy, Alternate      (term expiring 2025) 

  
- CATV Regulatory Board:  

Chad Teubert       (term expiring 2025) 
 Vacancy       (term expiring 2024) 
 
- Community Development Authority 
 Austin Kuhl       (term expiring 2026)  
 Michelle Soter       (term expiring 2026) 
     
- Emergency Response Plan Committee 
 Tim Thomas, Council Representative    (term expiring 2023) 
 
 
  
- Joint Review Board For Tax Incremental Finance 
 Keri Sellnow        (term expiring 2023) 
 

http://www.waterloowi.us/


Page 2 of 2 
https://waterloowi.sharepoint.com/sites/Fileshares/data/Common/RESOLUTIONS/2022 RESOLUTIONS/A - Drafting/2022-13 MAYORAL APPTS/#2022-13 MAYORAL APPTS.docx 

 

- Library Board 
Sara Cummings, Council Representative    (term expiring 2023) 
Abby Vosters        (term expiring 2025) 
Cindy Krueger        (term expiring 2025) 
Vacancy        (term expiring 2023) 
 

- Parks Commission 
Rich Weihert, Council Representative     (term expiring 2023) 
Al Kegler         (term expiring 2025) 
     

- Plan Commission 
Jeanette Petts, Council Representative     (term expiring 2023) 
Lindsay Reynolds       (term expiring 2025) 

 
- Police Committee 
 Timothy Nelson, Chairperson      (term expiring 2023)  
 Robert Crosby        (term expiring 2025) 
  
 
- Water & Light Commission (appointment date effect October 1, 2022) 
 Vern Butzine         (term expiring 2027)  
     
- Weed Commissioner: Chad Yerges, Public Works Director  (term expiring 2023)  
 
BE IT RESOLVED, that the City Council confirms the Mayoral appointments listed above and thanks those 
serving. 
  
Adopted:  _________, 2022 
 

      City of Waterloo 
 
 

Signed: _____________________________ 
         Jenifer Quimby, Mayor 
 
Attest: 
 
______________________________ 
Jeanne Ritter 
Clerk/Deputy Treasurer  
 

 

SPONSOR(S) – Mayor Quimby 
 
FISCAL NOTE – Board of Review members receive $25 per day; Plan Commission members receive $15 per 
meeting; Board of Zoning Appeals receives $10 per meeting. 

 



 -- CITY OF WATERLOO ORGANIZATIONAL CHART --  
 
 
   
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
    
 
 
 
 
    ** Private Contract Service Providers                       05/10/19 
        

Citizens of Waterloo 

Mayor & City Council  
 

Police  Fire/EMS  Public Works 

Library Property 
Assessment 

Building Inspection ** 

Council Standing Committees  
-Finance, Insurance & Personnel 

- Public Safety & Health  
- Public Works & Property 

Utility Commission 
(Waterloo Utilities) 

 
  

 

Office of 
Clerk/Treasurer 

Statutory Committees 
- Administrative Review 
- Assessment Review Board                             
- CATV Regulatory Board  
- Library Board 
- Park Commission 
- Plan Commission 
- Police Committee 
- Zoning Appeals Board 

Ad Hoc Committees 
Community Development 

Authority (2007) Rev.1 2019 

Election Inspection 

Honorary 
Division 

Active Division 

City Attorney ** 
 

Engineering ** 



Page 1 of 2 

HTTPS://WATERLOOWI.SHAREPOINT.COM/sites/fileshares/data/common/parks/2022/parks commision meetings/coordinator reports/2021-12-01parkscoordinatorreport.docx 

2/2/2022 10:04 AM 

 
 

                 
                          136 North Monroe Street  

Waterloo, WI  53594 
      Phone:  (920) 478-3025 

      Fax: (920) 478-2021 

      www.waterloowi.us 

__________________________________________________________________________________________________ 

PARKS COORDINATOR REPORT 
December 2021 – January 2022 

 
EVENTS AND HIGHLIGHTS 

 HOLIDAY OF LIGHTS 
o Winner – WYSO 
o 2nd Place – Rosie’s Kids 
o 3rd Place (Tie) – Friend of KJML & Avestar CU 

 HOLIDAY PARADE – December 11, 2021 
o Great success 

 WINTERFEST – December 11 & 18 
o Vendor Fair & Community Night – Great Turnout 
o Winter Formal – Big Loss ($2900) 

 
ONGOING PROJECTS 

 LOWER PAVILION WORK 
o Sump Pump Installed 
o Plumbing Work Done 

 FENCE PROJECT 
o Scheduled for Spring 

 BATHROOM RENOVATION 
o Scheduled for Spring 

 DUG-OUT/PRESS BOX RENOVATIONS 
o Waiting on fencing to be completed 

 PLAYGROUND EQUIPMENT 
o Phase 2 set for Spring 2022 

 
FINISHED PROJECTS 

 ROUNDHOUSE CONCRETE 

 MAIN RED DOOR REPLACED ON CAROUSEL ENTRANCE/EXIT 

 LIFT STATION 

 KITCHEN DOOR REPLACEMENT 

 LOWER PAVILION SUMP PUMP 

 LOWER PAVILION PLUMBING 
 
CAROUSELRED DOOR REPLACEMENT 

o Doors are here – Waiting on Spring 2022 
 

http://www.waterloowi.us/


Page 2 of 2 

HTTPS://WATERLOOWI.SHAREPOINT.COM/sites/fileshares/data/common/parks/2022/parks commision meetings/coordinator reports/2021-12-01parkscoordinatorreport.docx 

2/2/2022 10:04 AM 

 
 

PROJECTS FOR 2022 

 LOWER PARKING LOT PAVING 
o Paving area in front of concession stand over to the Carousel 

 KITCHEN RENOVATION 
o Updating Kitchen for possible rentals 

 AIR CONDITION UPDATES 
o New AC at Waterloo Regional Trailhead 
o Updating AC in Park Pavilion 

 
DONATION CAMPAIGNS 

 50/50 Raffle 
o Beginning in March 

 
GRANT OPPORTUNITIES 

 RESEARCHING NOW 











Invoice
Page: 1

Invoice Number: 0084256-IN

02/28/22Invoice Date:

Salesperson: 0000

Customer Number:

Customer P.O.:

11-WATERL2

Terms: Net 30 Days

CITY OF WATERLOO
136 N MONROE STREET
Waterloo, WI  53594-1198

03/30/22Due Date:

02282022WATERL2-1

Item Type Description AmountQty Unit Price  

CODE ENFORCE 4600-MADSN-WI-CE - 02/10/2022 - Code Enforcement - 
Site Visits / Chris Butschke 001136: 469 East Madison St. 
code enforce

45.002.00 90.00

CODE ENFORCE 4600-MADSN-WI-CE - 02/10/2022 - Code Enforcement - 
Site Visits / Chris Butschke 001136: 362 East Madison 
Street, Code enforce.

45.002.00 90.00

180.00Amount Due

02282022WATERL2-1

Invoice Total: 180.00

Sales Tax: 0.00

Freight: 0.00
180.00Net Invoice:

Remit Payment to: SAFEBuilt, LLC Lockbox# 88135

P.O. Box 88135, Chicago, IL 60680-1135



































Karl Junginger Memorial Library / Mayor/Council/Board Report - MARCH 2022 

MARCH  MONTHLY STATISTICS JAN FEB MARCH APRIL MAY JUNE JULY AUG SEPT OCT NOV DEC 

Library Card Holders 2021 2468 2477 2496 2499 2482 2519 2533 2539 2561 2544 2464 2397

2022 2400 2410 2420

% of Change -2.76% -2.70% -3.04% -100.00% -100.00% -100.00% -100.00% -100.00% -100.00% -100.00% -100.00% -100.00%

Checkouts (Circulation) 2021 3263 3312 3601 3425 3352 4483 4826 3764 3475 3499 3245 3194

2022 3920 3624 4192

% of Change 20.13% 9.42% 16.41% -100.00% -100.00% -100.00% -100.00% -100.00% -100.00% -100.00% -100.00% -100.00%

eBook/Audio Checkouts 2021 593 607 585 536 562 498 573 665 591 655 568 627

(Circulation) 2022 663 711 705

% of Change 11.80% 17.13% 20.51% -100.00% -100.00% -100.00% -100.00% -100.00% -100.00% -100.00% -100.00% -100.00%

Library Visits 2021 1396 1259 1539 1125 747 1236 1799 1685 1491 850 1422 1497

2022 1462 1584 1820

% of Change 4.73% 25.81% 18.26% 100.00% 100.00% -100.00% -100.00% -100.00% -100.00% -100.00% -100.00% -100.00%

Meeting Room Use 2021 1 0 6 5 8 9 3 6 7 2 10 8

2022 10 10 8

% of Change 900.00% 900.00% 33.33% 100.00% 100.00% 100.00% 100.00% 100.00% -100.00% -100.00% 100.00% -100.00%

Public Computer Use 2021 74 92 117 86 87 69 64 70 72 80 84 40

2022 60 73 74

% of Change -18.92% -20.65% -36.75% 100.00% 100.00% -100.00% -100.00% -100.00% -100.00% -100.00% -100.00% -100.00%

WiFi Use 2021 139 166 147 161 154 171 166 159 195 173 182 185

2022 174 189 206

% of Change 25.18% 13.86% 40.14% -100.00% -100.00% -100.00% -100.00% -100.00% -100.00% -100.00% -100.00% -100.00%

Outreach to local 2021 122 88 96 91 111 109 69 92 142 88 86 133

residents -Checkouts 2022 114 90 132

% of Change -6.56% 2.27% 37.50% -100.00% 100.00% -100.00% -100.00% -100.00% -100.00% -100.00% -100.00% -100.00%

PROGRAMS *2022 #'s will include In-Person and Passive programs

Adult  Number of Programs 2021 4 6 4 4 3 6 5 5 6 11 19 11

2022 21 19 18

% of Change 425.00% 216.67% 350.00% -100.00% -100.00% -100.00% 100.00% -100.00% -100.00% -100.00% -100.00% -100.00%

Adult Attendance 2021 46 44 34 25 28 130 35 77 28 112 107 51

2022 193 114 117

% of Change 319.57% 159.09% 244.12% -100.00% -100.00% -100.00% 100.00% -100.00% -100.00% -100.00% -100.00% -100.00%

Teen (12-18) 2021 1 1 1 1 1 8 10 0 1 1 1 1

Number of programs 2022 3 2 2

% of Change 200.00% 100.00% 100.00% 100.00% 100.00% -100.00% -100.00% #DIV/0! -100.00% -100.00% -100.00% -100.00%

Attendance 2021 20 25 22 22 20 154 21 0 0 0 1 0

2022 39 25 36

% of Change 95.00% 0.00% 63.64% 100.00% 100.00% -100.00% -100.00% #DIV/0! #DIV/0! #DIV/0! -100.00% #DIV/0!

Children's 2021 6 7 9 6 2 19 20 10 9 11 11 8

Number of programs 2022 17 30 16

% of Change 183.33% 328.57% 77.78% -100.00% -100.00% -100.00% -100.00% -100.00% -100.00% -100.00% -100.00% -100.00%

Attendance 2021 95 184 257 182 84 1133 973 348 58 112 105 73

2022 307 257 308

% of Change 223.16% 39.67% 19.84% -100.00% -100.00% -100.00% -100.00% -100.00% -100.00% -100.00% -100.00% -100.00%



List of Bills

5 Alarm Fire & Safety Equipment 69.83 NAPA 220.52

APG of Southern Wisconsin 34.59 New Glarus Utilities 300.00

AC Engineering 35,437.40 Northeast Wisconsin Technical 368.22

Axley Brynelson LLP 597.50 North Central Laboratories 1,230.94

Beaver of Wisconsin 8,299.00 Payment Service Network 12.95

Tom Bergan 105.00 Dale Padfield 145.88

Bond Trust Servcies Corp 400.00 Pig 61.53

Border States 2,890.61 Payroll 51,162.17

BP Credit Card Center 1,033.18 Petty Cash 160.68

Brooks Tractor 170.62 PSC 145.92

Vern Butzine 105.00 Portland Sanitary District 18,387.24

Cardinal Title 12,193.00 Richter Heating & AC 510.00

City of Waterloo Treasurer 125,107.51 Resco 7,780.14

CGC, Inc 6,069.26 SEERA 1,330.29

Charter Communications 344.95 SJE Inc 5,211.66

Cooper Power Systems 219,292.36 Solenis LLC 4,284.00

Crescent Electrical Supply 1,773.00 Stella-Jones Corp 17,245.00

Diverse Electric 1,084.19 Devin Schumann 105.00

DNR Operator Certification 50.00 The Cutting Edge 375.00

Elster Solutions 20,656.00 Tim Thomas 105.00

F&M Bank 209.17 Town & Country Engineering 146,196.25

Electric Testing Lab LLC 91.48 The Courier 82.75

Frontier 384.78 United Liquid Waste Recycling 937.50

GFC Leasing 94.00 US Cellular 225.59

Hawkins 1,759.18 Unifirst Corp 486.93

Howie's Hardware 403.83 UPS 114.22

Infosend 900.73 Visa 2,190.37

Irby 5,330.00 Chuck Wallace 70.00

Jerry's Electric 53,650.00 Waterloo Building Center 99.50

K&B Auto Service 329.00 WYSO 300.00

Lakes Gas Co 41.15 Waterloo Utilities 13,521.92

LaForce 484.00 WE Energies 4,715.99

Lamp Recyclers 1,145.11 WEG Transformer USA LLC 15,173.75

Lou's Gloves 166.00 Wisconsin Dept. of Revenue 4,028.16

Midwest Meter 1,923.36 Wisconsin State Lab 26.00

Mulcahy Shaw Water 4,380.84 WPPI Energy 210,068.40

Total Disbursements $1,014,385.10

Checking Account #102-613:

Balance 2/28/22 $366,608.81

Transfer 484,094.40

Disbursements (804,094.58)

Interest 12.44

Service Charge (26.64)

Balance 3/31/22 $46,594.43

WWTP Account #374-547 (DNR Replacement Fund)

Balance 2/28/22 $86,681.02

Deposit

Transfer for Expenses

Interest 11.04

Balance 3/31/22 $86,692.06

Debt Service Account #3015323:

Balance 2/28/22 $278,145.04

Deposit 58,650.00

Bond Payment

Interest 85.33
Balance 3/31/22 $336,880.37

Money Market Account #110-832:

Balance 2/28/22 352,191.12

Deposits 619,510.10

Transfer (408,650.00)

Disbursements (210,068.40)

Interest 191.91

Service Charge (195.48)
Balance 3/31/22 $352,979.25

Transportation Fund

Balance 2/28/22 $95,052.99

Transfer
Balance 3/31/22 $95,052.99

Construction Account:

Balance 2/28/22 547,425.76

Transferred in

Construction Payment (134,094.40)
Balance 3/31/22 $413,331.36

Avestar CD # (Bond Reserve):

Balance 2/28/22 311,436.57

Interest

Transferred in
Balance 3/31/22 $311,436.57

CD #613386 (Bond Reserve):

Balance 2/28/22 217,863.86

Interest
Balance 3/31/22 $217,863.86



WWTP CD #2875 (DNR Replacement Fund):

Checking Account #102-613: $464,149.88

Interest

Transfer
Balance 3/31/22 $464,149.88



Regular meeting of the Waterloo Water & Light Commission held April 5, 2022  

The meeting was called to order by President Tom Bergan at 7:00pm at the Waterloo Utilities 

office. Present were Commissioners Vern Butzine, Devin Schumann, Tim Thomas, Chuck Wallace, 

Superintendent Barry Sorenson, Office Manager Joy Bisco, Lineman Evan Pratt and Jodi Dobson, 

Baker Tilly.   

 

Minutes 

It was moved by Schumann, seconded by Butzine, to approve the minutes of the March 1, 2022 

meeting.  Motion carried. 

 

Expenditures 

It was moved by Thomas, seconded by Schumann, to approve the payment of the March bills as 

presented.  Motion carried. 

 

Citizen Input 

None. 

 

2021 Financial Review 

Jodi Dobson, Baker Tilly, reviewed the financial health of the utility. 

 

Fluoride in Drinking Water 

Well water has a natural occurring amount of fluoride. The utility currently adds additional fluoride 

to its’ water.  It was moved by Bergan, seconded by Butzine, to recommend to City Council to 

eliminate the additional fluoride currently being added to the City’s water. Motion carried. 

 

Discussion on Updating the Employee Handbook 

Joy discussed updates, clarifications, and changes that were needed to the Employee Handbook. 

Drafts will be provided at a future meeting. 

 

Water & Sewer Ordinance Review 

It was moved by Bergan, seconded by Schumann, to approve Town & Country’s proposal for 

ordinance review not to exceed $9,500.  Motion carried. 

 

Electric GIS 

The quote from Forster was discussed. It was moved by Thomas, seconded by Wallace, to table 

until the next meeting, after Sorenson’s meeting with Forster.  Motion carried. 

 

General Info 

Joy reviewed the Electric and Water 2021 Rate of Returns and Final Costs of the Hwy O 

Substation. Commissioners were also provided information comparing Waterloo electric rates to 

Investor Owned electric rates in our area. 

 

It was moved by Butzine, seconded by Thomas, to adjourn. Motion carried.  

 

Respectfully submitted, 

Tim Thomas 

Secretary 





 

https://waterloowi.sharepoint.com/sites/Fileshares/data/Common/ORDINANCES/2022 ORDINANCES/1_DRAFTS/2022-06 Ordinance Amending Chaper 57-11.docx 
4/8/2022 11:24 AM 

         

 

                      

                           13                       136 North Monroe Street, Waterloo, Wisconsin 53594-1198 

                                                      Phone (920) 478-3025 

                                                      Fax (920) 478-2021 

 

   

ORDINANCE 2022-06 
AN ORDINANCE AMENDING CHAPTER §57-11 Fire Dept Traffic Laws Apply to Volunteers 

 
The City Council of the City of Waterloo, Jefferson County, Wisconsin do ordain as follows: 
 
SECTION I:  A) All volunteer Fire and EMS personnel when responding to an emergency call with a 

private vehicle, shall comply with all traffic regulations, except nonmoving traffic 
regulations.  

B) The volunteer may have the use of courtesy dash lights only.  This would be at the 
expense of the volunteer and not the City or the Fire Department.  No other light will be 
allowed.  The light is to be a combination of red and white light only.  They can only be 
used within the City limits of the City of Waterloo.     

 

SECTION II: This ordinance shall take effect and be in force from and after its passage and posting as 
provided by law. 
 

BY ORDER OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 
WATERLOO  
 
 

       _______________________________ 
       Mayor Jenifer Quimby  
Attest: 
____________________________ 
 
Date Adopted: ________________________ 
Date Published: _______________________ 

 



 

https://waterloowi.sharepoint.com/sites/Fileshares/data/common/ORDINANCES/2022 ORDINANCES/2_PROPOSED/2022-04-Ordinance Records Retention/2022-04 Record 
Retention Policy.docx 
4/19/2022 1:45 PM 

         

 

                      

                           13                       136 North Monroe Street, Waterloo, Wisconsin 53594-1198 

                                                      Phone (920) 478-3025 

                                                      Fax (920) 478-2021 

 

   

ORDINANCE 2022-04 

Records Retention Schedule 
 

The City Council of the City of Waterloo, Jefferson County, Wisconsin do ordain as follows: 
 
SECTION I: Retention of Public Records 

(a)  General Records Schedule Adopted. The City of Waterloo hereby adopts, by reference, the Wisconsin 
Municipal Records Schedule (hereinafter, “Records Schedule”), pertaining to the retention and destruction of 
public records, and approved by the State of Wisconsin Public Records Board (hereinafter, “Records Board”) on 
August 27, 2018. A copy of the Records Schedule will be kept on file in the City of Waterloo Clerk’s office located 
at 136 N. Monroe St Waterloo, WI 53594 and made available for public viewing during Monday – Friday 8-4:30 
pm.  

(b)  Other Records. In the event the City of Waterloo creates a record not contemplated by the Records Schedule, 
the City of Waterloo may, subject to the Records Board’s prior approval, either adopt an applicable records 
retention schedule set forth by the Records Board, if available, or use the default retention of 7 years in 
19.21(4)(b) for any retention not set by statue or Record’s Board.  

(c)   Repeal. All ordinances, or portions thereof, and resolutions, or portions thereof, in conflict with any portion 
of the Records Schedule are hereby repealed. Any approved City of Waterloo retention schedule, or portion 
thereof, for any record not contemplated by the Records Schedule shall remain in full force and effect.  

(d)  Effective Date. This ordinance is effective as of ______________, 20__. 

SECTION II: Notification of Destruction of Public Records 
(a)  At least 60-days notification is required to be given to the Wisconsin State Historical Society before 

destroying any public record as provided in § 19.21(4)(a), Wis. Stats. Notification is not required in 
instances when the Society has waived the 60-day notification period as indicated in the Wisconsin 
Municipal Records Schedule or in written correspondence. 

 
 
SECTION II: This ordinance shall take effect and be in force from and after its passage and posting as provided by 
law. 

BY ORDER OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 
WATERLOO  
 

       _______________________________ 
       Mayor  
Attest: 
____________________________ 
 
Date Adopted: ________________________ 
Date Published: _______________________ 

 



1 
 

 

General Records Schedule 
 

Wisconsin Municipal and Related Records 
 

Approved by the Public Records Board: 
 

August 27, 2018 
 
 

 
 

 
Expiration: August 27, 2028 

Revised: June 15, 2020 
 

 
For use by all units of Wisconsin Government at the Municipal level 



2 
 

Wisconsin Municipal Records Schedule  
 

Table of Contents 
Introduction .......................................................................................................................................................................................... 3 

I. Applicability: .............................................................................................................................................................................. 3 

II. Purpose: .................................................................................................................................................................................... 4 

III. Implementation: ..................................................................................................................................................................... 4 

IV. Using the Schedule: ............................................................................................................................................................... 5 

V. Confidential Records and Personally Identifiable Information (PII) ............................................................................................. 7 

VI. Additional Schedules: ............................................................................................................................................................ 8 

Administrative Records ........................................................................................................................................................................ 9 

Cemetery Records ............................................................................................................................................................................. 22 

Community Development/Public Services .......................................................................................................................................... 25 

Election Records ................................................................................................................................................................................ 30 

Finance Records ................................................................................................................................................................................ 35 

Public Works ...................................................................................................................................................................................... 40 

Revenue Records .............................................................................................................................................................................. 52 

 

  



3 
 

Introduction 
Wisconsin Municipal Records Schedule 
 

Records are a basic tool of transacting business on behalf of all local government units. They are the foundation for government 
accountability. Records management is regulated by Wisconsin state law, and accordingly, the Wisconsin Municipal Records 
Schedule (WMRS), upon adoption, provides legal authorization to dispose of records on a regularly scheduled basis. The 
schedule serves as a mechanism for consistent retention and disposition of similar types of records across all municipal 
governments and provides assurance of accountability to the public. 
 
The schedule was developed following guidelines for complying with legal, fiscal, and archival requirements for records retention 
and facilitates cost-effective management of records commonly found in municipal governments. 
 
Wisconsin Statute § 19.21(1) defines public records as “all property and things received from the officer’s predecessor or other 
persons and required by law to be filed, deposited, or kept in the officer’s office, or which are in the lawful possession or control of 
the officer or the officer’s deputies.” Records are defined by Wisconsin Statute § 19.32(2) as “any material on which written, 
drawn, printed, spoken, visual, or electromagnetic information or electronically generated or stored data is recorded or preserved, 
regardless of physical form or characteristics, that has been created or is being kept by an authority.” Public records are also 
defined as being “all books, papers, maps, photographs, films, recordings, optical discs, electronically formatted documents, or 
other documentary materials, regardless of physical form or characteristics, made or received by any state agency or its officers 
or employees in connection with the transaction of public business” (Wis. Stat. § 16.61(2)(b)). 
 

I. Applicability: 
 
The WRMS is available for adoption by all Wisconsin cities, villages, and towns; along with other non-county local units of 
government. County governments should refer to the County General Schedule for their record retention requirements. The 
WMRS is intended to serve as guidance for records that are created or received by your particular unit. Adopting the schedule 
does not require local units to begin creating any record series that they currently do not produce. 

 
Records retention guidelines apply regardless of record format. Records covered by the WMRS may be retained in electronic, 
paper, or other formats. The schedule applies to all records: born digital (including those created or transmitted via e-mail), data 
contained in database systems, tapes/cartridges and other types of electronic records and information systems maintained by 
agencies. Municipalities must also meet the standards and requirements for the management of electronic records outlined in 
Chapter Adm. 12. 
 
 

https://publicrecordsboard.wi.gov/Documents/ADM%2012.pdf


4 
 

II. Purpose: 
 

Record schedules are intended to be used by records creators as a tool to SIMPLIFY their records management responsibilities, 
not to make them more complex. It is the intention of the WMRS to streamline municipal records management by: 

• Providing clear and uniform guidance for the retention and disposition of records common to most municipal governments; 

• Eliminating the need for individual municipalities to develop and obtain Wisconsin Public Records Board approval of 
records retention/disposition schedules; 

• Facilitating uniformity in the retention and disposition of records across all municipalities; and 

• Promoting the cost-effective management of municipal records. 
 
III. Implementation: 

 
The WMRS is a schedule that municipalities MAY adopt to manage their records. Municipalities ARE NOT required to adopt the 
schedule for use. The WMRS does not replace the ability of municipalities to create and adopt records schedules through the 
creation of ordinances. See Additional Options below for more information.  
 
Adopting the Schedule: 

• Submit the original and two copies of the Notification of General Schedules Adoption Form (PRB-002) to: 
State Archivist 
Wisconsin Historical Society 
816 State St. 
Madison, WI 53706 

• The Wisconsin Public Records Board (PRB) will acknowledge your Notification of Adoption by returning a signed copy of 
the adoption to the municipality. 

• After confirmation of PRB approval, municipalities should enact an ordinance adopting the WMRS as their official 
schedule.  

 
Municipalities are expected to supersede any previously approved, unique, ordinances which cover records included in the 
adopted Municipal Schedule. Retain any approved schedules in existing ordinances for records that ARE NOT covered by the 
Municipal Schedule. 
 
Additional Options: 
All municipalities may adopt the PRB approved General Records Schedules to supplement the WMRS. See Section VI of this 
instruction for more information. 
 

https://publicrecordsboard.wi.gov/Documents/PRB-002%20FINAL%2011-2017.pdf


5 
 

Specific schedules may also be set by Records Disposition Authorizations (RDAs). Visit the following PRB webpage for more 
information: Information for Counties and Municipalities 
 
Municipalities that choose not to adopt the WMRS are still required to schedule the destruction of obsolete records through 
ordinance as stated in Wis. Stat. § 19.21(4). Retention periods that are not specifically set by state statutes CANNOT be 
scheduled for less than 7 years without approval from the PRB. 
 

IV. Using the Schedule: 
 
The Municipal Schedule is arranged into seven different sections, which include similar types of record series. Sections may be 
broken down into subsections for easier reference. All individual schedules include the title of a series, description, retention 
times, confidential status, and information about notifying the Historical Society.  
The following is an example of the format:  
 

Record Series Title Series Description Retention Confidential WHS Notification 

Subsection 

     

     

 

• Record Series Title – Descriptive title of the record series. This is a basic title, not necessarily universally used by all 
municipalities. 

• Series Description – Brief overview of the records that are included in the record series. 
o If a specific statute or legal source defines a retention period for the records it is identified in this field.  

• Retention – Indicates the minimum time period a record series must be maintained and a description of what initiates the start 
of the retention clock. 

o Creation: Is used when the creation of the record initiates the retention time period. (Example: If a RDA existed for 
ABC Annual Reports, the event might be written as Creation+ 3 years meaning an ABC Annual Report must be 
retained for three years after it is created.) 

o Fiscal: Is used if the retention time period is initiated by the end of a fiscal year.  (Example: RDAs that exist for annual 
budgets might be written as Fiscal+ 6 years meaning a budget would have to be retained for six years after the end of 
that fiscal year.) 

o Event:  Is used if a specific event other than Creation or Fiscal initiates the retention time period. (Example: A RDA 
that exists for a housing relocation program has the event written as “Event+ 5 years; Event=Approval Letter for 

https://publicrecordsboard.wi.gov/Pages/Resources/LocalUnit.aspx
https://publicrecordsboard.wi.gov/Pages/Resources/LocalUnit.aspx


6 
 

Relocation Plan”. In this scenario, it means all records associated with this RDA have to be retained for five years 
after the official letter was sent by the state to approve the relocation plan.) 

o Permanent: Is used if the records need to be maintained permanently by the creating municipality. See Guidelines for 
the Permanent Retention of Records for more information. 

o General references on retention periods for municipal records are found in Wis. Stat. § 19.21(4)(b), Wis. Stat. § 
19.21(6), or Wis. Stat. § 19.21(8). 

• Confidential – Indicates whether or not the record series contain information that is required by statute to be kept confidential. 
See Section V of this guide for more information on confidential records. 

• WHS Notification – Wis. Stat. § 19.21(4)(a) requires that all municipal public records must be offered for transfer to the 
Wisconsin Historical Society 60 days prior to their destruction. This field indicates if notification to the Wisconsin Historical 
Society is required before records can be destroyed. Column will either state NOTIFY or WAIVED. 

o Waived: The Wisconsin Historical Society has determined the record series has low historical value and waived the 
notification period as indicated Wis. Stat. § 19.21(4)(a). Municipalities are free to destroy any waived records without 
notification once they reach their required retention period. 

o Notify: You are required to send written notification to the Wisconsin Historical Society before destruction. Please 
contact the Wisconsin Historical Society with questions on how to properly notify on the destruction of public records. 

o N/A: indicates that the retention is permanent. 
 

Final Disposition: 
 
Municipal records, which have met the retention time outlined in the WMRS, have only two dispositions: Destroy or transfer to the 
Wisconsin Historical Society. Records that are held beyond their retention period but are not destroyed are still subject to all 
public records laws. 

• Destruction: Records identified as “waived” in this schedule may be destroyed without notifying the Wisconsin Historical 
Society. Local units should dispose of all public records in a manner that ensures they are completely destroyed. 

o If records contain confidential information, or “information that can be associated with a particular individual 
through one or more identifiers or other information or circumstances” (Wis. Stat. § 19.62(5) including, but not 
limited to names, addresses, social security numbers, and banking information it must be destroyed confidentially. 
This means that these records must be disposed of in a way that renders them unreadable and unable to be 
reconstructed. Typically, this can be achieved by cross cut shredding or pulping. Many organizations choose to 
hire an outside vendor to handle the process of disposing of confidential information. 

o Note on records older than 75 years: the waived designation does not apply. Notification should be given on any 
records 75 years or older regardless if they have been indicated in the schedule as having been waived. 

• Transfer: Records identified as “notify” must be offered, in writing, to the Wisconsin Historical Society. Per Wis. Stat. § 
19.23(2), the Wisconsin Historical Society assumes title control and public records responsibility of all transferred records. 
Obsolete municipal records may not be transferred to local historical societies or other repositories because the statutes 

https://publicrecordsboard.wi.gov/Documents/Guidelines%20-%20Permanent%20Retention%20of%20Records.pdf
https://publicrecordsboard.wi.gov/Documents/Guidelines%20-%20Permanent%20Retention%20of%20Records.pdf


7 
 

do not specify other institutions can hold title to public records. Only the records creators and the Wisconsin Historical 
Society are identified in statutes as being official holders of title. Information on transferring records can be found on the 
Society’s webpage pertaining to proper handling of obsolete records. 

• Permanent: Records identified as “permanent” have been identified as containing significant historical information and 
long-term business value. Municipalities are responsible for ensuring the long-term preservation of these records. The 
Wisconsin Historical Society will, in certain circumstances, accept “permanent” records for transfer if the municipality is 
unable to maintain these records. 

 
Records that have passed their retention period should not be destroyed if any of the following conditions apply: 

• Records are required for financial or performance audits either currently underway or known to be planned. 

• Records are subject to a “legal hold” because they may be relevant to an existing, pending, or anticipated legal 
proceeding. 

• A related open records request has been received and not completed, or statutorily required time periods have expired. 
 

V. Confidential Records and Personally Identifiable Information (PII) 
 
Confidential Records: 
Some records series may contain confidential or restricted access records. The WMRS identifies any record series containing 
information required by Wisconsin Statute, administrative rule, or other legal authority to be kept confidential or protected from 
public access. The confidential column is marked “yes” if ANY records in the series may contain confidential information. 
 
Even when specific confidentiality statutes do not apply, application of substantive common law principles through the balancing 
test considerations under Wis. Stat. § 19.35(1)(a), may affect disclosure of the record under the public records law. 
 
When an individual or an individual’s representative makes an open records request for records containing personally identifiable 
information about that individual, there is no balancing test, but the disclosure exceptions under Wis. Stat. § 19.35(1)(am), must 
be considered. Wis. Stat. § 19.35(1)(am) exceptions include: 

• endangering an individual’s life or safety; 

• endangering the security of a prison, including the security of the population or staff; 

• identifying a confidential informant; and 

• records collected or maintained in connection with complaints, investigations, or other circumstances that may lead to 
various administrative or court proceedings. 

It is strongly recommended that local governments consult with legal counsel when responding to an open records request. 
Additional resources on open records requests can be found by visiting the Wisconsin Department of Justice, Office of Open 
Government’s website. 
 

https://www.wisconsinhistory.org/Records/Article/CS15489
https://www.doj.state.wi.us/office-open-government/office-open-government
https://www.doj.state.wi.us/office-open-government/office-open-government


8 
 

Personally Identifiable Information (PII): 
Wisconsin law defines Personally Identifiable Information (PII) as “information that can be associated with a particular individual 
through one or more identifiers or other information or circumstances” (Wis. Stat. § 19.62(5)). The municipal unit is responsible 
for evaluating their record series to determine if PII is included. The inclusion of PII does not automatically restrict records, nor 
does it make them confidential. The confidential column is only marked “yes” in cases where specific statutes restrict access. 
 

VI. Additional Schedules: 
 
Municipal governments should be aware that there are additional schedules that apply to public records. All Wisconsin 
municipalities have the option of adopting any of the General Records Schedules that have been approved by the PRB. These 
schedules may cover additional record series not found in the WMRS. In some cases, the WMRS points to the General 
Schedules for covering some specific records series (such as personnel records). Information on adopting schedules can be 
found on the PRB Counties and Municipalities Resource Webpage. 
 
Municipalities should also be aware that there are two separate General Records Schedules for the following: 

• Wisconsin School Districts 

• Wisconsin Public Libraries and Library Systems 
 
In addition, municipalities should check the schedule set by the Public Service Commission of Wisconsin (PSC) for Municipal 
Utilities. A complete list of records and schedules is located in “Investigation to Consider Proposed Changes to Records 
Retention Requirements for Electric, Gas and Water Utilities.” 
 
Municipal Court Records are scheduled by Supreme Court Rule 72, which specifies the retention periods for court records and 
requires municipal courts to give 60 day notice to the Wisconsin Historical Society prior to destroying obsolete records. 
Furthermore, SCR 72 states that notice is not required for records in which “the historical society has indicated, by blanket 
waiver, that it has no interest for historical purposes.” The Wisconsin Historical Society has waived the sixty-day notification 
period for all municipal court records dated 1941 or later. This waiver applies to all municipal courts throughout the state and 
allows for the disposal of municipal court records without further notification. Municipal Courts are still obligated to maintain the 
records for the minimum time specified in SCR 72. Please contact the Wisconsin Historical Society if you have any questions 
regarding Municipal Court Records. 
 
Table of Contents 

  

https://publicrecordsboard.wi.gov/Pages/GRS/Statewide.aspx
https://publicrecordsboard.wi.gov/Pages/Resources/LocalUnit.aspx
https://publicrecordsboard.wi.gov/Documents/DPI%20GS-APPROVED%20June%202015%20v8.1.pdf
https://publicrecordsboard.wi.gov/Documents/PUB%20LIB%20GRS%20-FINAL-%206-2017.pdf
https://psc.wi.gov/Documents/recordsRetentionGuidelines.pdf
https://psc.wi.gov/Documents/recordsRetentionGuidelines.pdf
http://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/misc/scr/72


9 
 

Administrative Records 
Wisconsin Municipal Records Schedule 
 

Requirements Specific to Administrative Records 
The Administrative Records section is organized by the following subsections: 

• Administration (general) 

• Common Council/Village Board/Town Board 

• Emergency Planning 

• Human Resources/Personnel 

• Legal 

• Licenses and Permits 

• Municipal Land Ownership 

• Municipal Vehicles 

• Payroll  

• Real Property Titles 

 
This section is intended to provide municipalities with schedules for the most common record series generally grouped under this 
topic. Municipalities that are in need of schedules for records not covered in this section are encouraged to review and consult the 
appropriate General Records Schedules listed below: 

• Administrative Records General Schedule 

• Fleet and Aircraft Management Records 

• Human Resources and Related General Schedule 

• Payroll & Related General Schedule 

 
Municipal Court Records are scheduled by Supreme Court Rule 72, which specifies the retention periods for court records and 
requires municipal courts to give 60 day notice to the Wisconsin Historical Society prior to destroying obsolete records. 
Furthermore, SCR 72 states that notice is not required for records in which “the historical society has indicated, by blanket waiver, 
that it has no interest for historical purposes.” The Wisconsin Historical Society has waived the sixty-day notification period for all 
municipal court records dated 1941 or later. This waiver applies to all municipal courts throughout the state and allows for the 
disposal of municipal court records without further notification. Municipal Courts are still obligated to maintain the records for the 
minimum time specified in Supreme Court Rule 72. Please contact the Wisconsin Historical Society if you have any questions 
regarding Municipal Court Records. 

  

https://publicrecordsboard.wi.gov/Documents/Admin%20GRS.pdf
https://publicrecordsboard.wi.gov/Documents/Fleet%20GRS.pdf
https://publicrecordsboard.wi.gov/Documents/GRS%20-%20Human%20Resources.pdf
https://publicrecordsboard.wi.gov/Documents/Payroll%20GRS.pdf
http://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/misc/scr/72


10 
 

 

Record Series 
Title 

Series Description Retention  Confidential 
WHS 

Notification 

Administration Records (general) 

Appointment 
Files 

Materials documenting appointments and 
nominations to boards, task forces, councils, or 
other bodies. May include applications; cover 

sheets, letters of recommendation, resumes, and 
correspondence. 

Event+2 years; 
Event=End of term 

No Notify 

Appointment 
Files (not 
selected) 

Unsuccessful appointments and nominations to 
boards, task forces, councils, or other bodies. 

Event+1 year; 
Event=Position filled 

No Waived 

Committee 
Records and 

Minutes 
(Excluding 

Common Council 
and Zoning 

Board) 

Records of committees, boards, councils, and 
commissions, other than Common Council. 
Includes meeting minutes, agenda packets, 

reports, and resolutions.  
See Common Council section for retention of 
Common Council Minutes. See schedule for 

Zoning Board Records in Public Works Section. 

Creation+7 years No Notify 

Complaints 
(External) 

File related to complaints regarding issues not 
related to a specific program. Complaints are not 

otherwise regulated by state or federal 
requirements. 

Event+2 years; 
Event=Complaint 

resolution, dismissal or 
end of litigation 

No Waived 



11 
 

Record Series 
Title 

Series Description Retention  Confidential 
WHS 

Notification 

Contracts and 
Agreements 

Any contracts or agreements to which the 
municipality is a party. 

Event+6 years; 
Event=End date or 

cancellation of contract 
No Waived 

Correspondence 
(Senior Level or 
Elected Official)  

Business-related correspondence (paper and 
electronic) of senior level staff and elected 

officials. 

Event+6 months; 
Event=Separation from 

position/end of term 
(Note: Correspondence 
that relates specifically 
to a program or project 

may need to be 
retained per that 

particular schedule) 

No Notify 

Correspondence 
(General Staff) 

Business-related correspondence (paper and 
electronic) of non-appointed general staff. 

Event+1 year; 
Event=Creation or 

receipt 
(Note: Correspondence 
that relates specifically 
to a program or project 

may need to be 
retained per that 

particular schedule) 

No Waived 

Grants 

Records relating to grant-funded projects where 
the agency is the grant recipient or issuer, 

including the application process, the receipt and 
expenditure of grant funds, or denial. 

Event+4 years; 
Event=Date of final 

report or notification of 
denial 

No Waived 



12 
 

Record Series 
Title 

Series Description Retention  Confidential 
WHS 

Notification 

House Number 
and Address 
Change File 

Provides official control and reference source for 
city addresses. 

Permanent No N/A 

Internal Policies 
and Procedures 

Established departmental policies and 
procedures.  

(Note: May also be called administrative 
practices or directives or executive directives). 

Event+7 years; 
Event=Date the policy/ 

procedure is 
superseded or made 

obsolete 

No Waived 

Memorandums 
of Understanding 
(MOU) & Service 

Level 
Agreements 

(SLA) 

Agreements between government units. 
Sometimes define agreements between a large 
government unit’s separate divisions or bureaus. 

Event+4 years; 
Event=Ending date of 

the MOU or SLA. 
No Waived 

Notice of 
Removal of 

Human Corpse 

Form for the removal of a human corpse if death 
occurs in a hospital, nursing home, or under 

hospice care at any location. 

Event+2 months; 
Event=Date of death 

No Waived 

Oath of Office 

Elected or appointed municipal officers may be 
required to take, and file in writing, an official 
oath within ten days after receiving notice of 

election or appointment.  

Event+5 years; 
Event=End of term 

No Waived 



13 
 

Record Series 
Title 

Series Description Retention  Confidential 
WHS 

Notification 

Open Records 
Requests and 

Responses 

Records relating to regular and reformulated, 
repetitious, systematic or continuing requests by 
individuals, groups or organizations for access to 
general information under the provisions of the 

Wis. Stats. §§ 19.35-19.37. 

Event+3 years; 
Event=Response 

provided 
No Waived 

Organizational 
Chart 

Repository of the official organizational structure 
of offices. 

Event; 
Event=Superseded 

No Waived 

Organizational 
Planning 

Includes division and unit strategic business and 
operational planning files such as, but not limited 

to, final plan and significant work papers. 

Event+7 years; 
Event=Completion of 

plan 
No Notify 

Petitions 
Petitions submitted to municipalities for 

improvements or changes to existing municipal 
services/structures. 

Event+7 years; 
Event=Petition 

approved or denied 
No Waived 

Press/News 
Releases 

Information about municipality programs and 
events. 

Creation+3 years No Notify 



14 
 

Record Series 
Title 

Series Description Retention  Confidential 
WHS 

Notification 

Proclamations 
Proclamations issued by the mayor, 

commissioner, or elected executive on behalf of 
the municipality. 

Event+1 year; 
Event=End of elected 
representative’s final 

term 

No Notify 

Reports (Annual) 
Annual reports produced by all departments and 

programs.  
Event+7 years; 

Event=Date of issue 
No Notify 

Reports 
(Monthly) 

Monthly reports of divisions/committees. Creation+3 years No Waived 

Subject Files 
(Senior Level or 
Elected Official)  

Subject files (paper and electronic) of senior level 
staff such as department heads and elected 

officials. 

Event+6 months; 
Event=Separation from 

position/end of term 
No Notify 

Common Council/Village Board/Town Board 

Affidavits of 
Publication 

Records providing proof of publication for legal 
notices as required by law. 

(Note: See Wis. Stat. § 985.12 for more 
information on proof of publication). 

Event+7 years; 
Event=Date of 

publication 
No Waived 



15 
 

Record Series 
Title 

Series Description Retention  Confidential 
WHS 

Notification 

Audio Tapes 
Recordings of meetings used to produce 

minutes. Authority provided by Wis. Stat. § 
19.21(7). 

Event+90 days; 
Event=Date the 

minutes have been 
approved and 

published 

No Waived 

Common 
Council/Board 

Meeting Minutes 

Official minutes of the Common Council/Village 
Board/Town Board. 

Permanent No N/A 

Ordinances 
Official ordinances and any ordinance books kept 

by municipalities. 
Permanent No N/A 

Resolutions 
Official records pertaining to resolutions passed 

by municipalities. 
Permanent No N/A 



16 
 

Record Series 
Title 

Series Description Retention  Confidential 
WHS 

Notification 

Emergency Planning1 

Continuity of 
Government/ 

Operational Plan 
and 

Documentation 

Agency official plan and documentation of the 
Continuity of Operations Plan/Continuity of 

government plan. 

Event; 
Event=Superseded by 

revised plan 
No  Waived 

Critical Incident 
Management 

Plans  

Critical incident management plans, local site 
security plans, local emergency action plans, life 

safety, and other similar documents. 

Event+3 years; 
Event=Superseded by 

revised plan 
No Waived 

Disaster 
Recovery 
Records 

Records created during the disaster recovery 
process.  

Event+3 years; 
Event=Date recovery 

effort is complete 2 
No Waived 

Human Resources/Personnel 

Grievance Case 
File 

Records of grievances filed by employees. 
Event+7 years; 

Event=Date grievance 
is closed 

Yes 3 Waived 

 
1 No specific statutes restrict the records in this series. However, the balancing test per Wis. Stat. § 19.35(1)(a) should be applied prior to release.  
2 Retention is 3 years from the date of the final Financial Services Report when Federal Grant money is involved. 
3 No specific statutes restrict this type of record. However, the balancing test per Wis. Stat. § 19.35(1)(a) should be applied prior to releasing this type of record. 
Personnel files may contain patient health records which may be protected by Wis. Stat. § 146.82 and/or the Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act 
(HIPAA). 



17 
 

Record Series 
Title 

Series Description Retention  Confidential 
WHS 

Notification 

Personnel Files 
Documents employee personnel actions during 

the employment of the employee.  
Applies to ALL employees. 

Event+7 years; 
Event=End of 

employment/service 
No 4 Waived 

Legal 

Attorney 
Opinions 

Municipal attorney opinions given to answer 
specific questions regarding the interpretation 
and application of statutes and ordinances, or 

other legal matters. 

Permanent No 5 N/A 

Case Files 
Files include, but are not limited to, pleadings 

and legal arguments, evidence, research, orders, 
legal summons and subpoenas issued. 6 

Event+7 years; 
Event=Close of case 

No 7 

Notify on 
historically 
significant 

cases only 8 

 
4 No specific statutes restrict this type of record. However, the balancing test per Wis. Stat. § 19.35(1)(a) should be applied prior to releasing this type of record. 
Personnel files may contain patient health records which may be protected by Wis. Stat. § 146.82 and/or the Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act 
(HIPAA). 
5 Records may contain material protected by Attorney-Client Privilege Wis. Stat. § 905.03. 
6 Records may contain the client file with information pertaining to expenses, attorney notes, medical records, government agency filings, discovery such as 
requests for production of documents, deposition transcripts, and evidence. 
7 Records may contain material protected by Attorney-Client Privilege Wis. Stat. § 905.03. 
8 Historically significant case files include those that have established legal precedents; cases that received widespread attention from the public and news media; 
and cases recognized for their uniqueness. Examples of such cases include, but are not limited to, major civil rights cases, major labor relations cases, major 
environmental cases, cases dealing tribal governments and treaty rights, major cases with constitutional implications, and cases related to major prosecutions of 
public officials. 

 



18 
 

Record Series 
Title 

Series Description Retention  Confidential 
WHS 

Notification 

Licenses and Permits 

License 
Applications 

Includes license applications (approved and 
unapproved) and license stubs. Includes all non-
alcohol related licenses including, but not limited 

to, non-intoxicating beverages, soda water 
beverages, food handling and sales, mobile 
home park licenses, restaurant, retail dairy 

products, pet, and animals. Also includes permits 
for the excavation of streets by private utility 

companies. 

Creation+3 years No Waived 

Liquor and Beer 
Licenses 

Includes license applications (approved and 
unapproved) and license stubs. 

Authority provided by Wis. Stat. § 125.04(3)(i). 
Creation+4 years No Waived 

Permits 

Permits for public space usage. Includes, but not 
limited to, burning, street usage, and parking 

permits. 
NOTE: See Public Works Section for retention of 

building permits. 

Creation+5 years No Waived 

Permits (septic 
tanks) 

Permit for a septic tank. The permit records the 
location and ownership of the tank. 

Permanent No N/A 



19 
 

Record Series 
Title 

Series Description Retention  Confidential 
WHS 

Notification 

Municipal Land Ownership 

Land Titles, 
Conveyances 

and Easements 

Documentation for municipal owned land. Also 
includes any legal rights granted to others that 

relate to municipal owned land. 
Permanent No N/A 

Sales of 
Facilities and/or 

Land (Case 
Files) 

Includes appraisals and related valuations. 
Projects where a municipality plans or actually 

sells either facilities and/or land assets. 

Event+6 years; 
Event=date of the 
completion of the 

transaction 

No Waived 

Municipal Vehicles 

Motor Vehicle 
Control and 
Assignment 

Records 

Documentation of agency motor vehicle 
assignments to employees. Includes completed 

documentation on reservations for pool cars, 
individual trips, driver profiles, check-in and 

checkout logs. 

Event+1 year; 
Event=date the vehicle 

is disposed 
No Waived 

Motor Vehicle 
and Heavy 
Equipment 

Maintenance 
Records 

Records documenting service and repair orders 
to motor vehicles. These records normally 
include maintenance orders, logs, fiscal 

documents, such as requisitions or purchase 
orders for parts or services, vehicle warranties, 
operation and repair manuals and parts lists. 

Event+1 year; 
Event=date the vehicle 

is disposed 
No Waived 



20 
 

Record Series 
Title 

Series Description Retention  Confidential 
WHS 

Notification 

Vehicle Use 
Agreements 

Agreements between individuals and 
municipalities required before driving a municipal 

owned vehicle.  

Event+1 year; 
Event=termination of 

agreement or 
employment  

No Waived 

Vehicle 
Inspection 
Reports 

Inspections of municipal vehicles. 
Event+1 year;  

Event=date the vehicle 
is disposed 

No Waived 

Payroll9 

Employee 
Payroll & Benefit 

File 

Includes various documents that are maintained 
throughout the employee's term of employment. 

Event+7 years; 
Event=Employee 

retirement, transfer or 
termination 

No Waived 

Monthly and 
Quarterly Payroll 

Reports 

Includes, but is not limited to, quarterly report of 
federal income tax withheld; quarterly report, 
payroll summary; state's quarterly report of 

wages paid, and monthly memorandum report. 

Event+5 years; 
Event=Report Issued 
(provided record has 

been audited) 

No Waived 

 
9 No specific statutes restrict this record series. However, the balancing test per Wis. Stat. § 19.35(1)(a) should be applied prior to releasing this type of 

information. 



21 
 

Record Series 
Title 

Series Description Retention  Confidential 
WHS 

Notification 

Payrolls and 
Payroll Registers 

Payroll listings showing gross and net pay, as 
well as deductions for state employees. Referred 
to on questions of back pay and income taxes. 

Creation+4 years No Waived 

Real Property Titles 

Title 
Documentation 

Records documenting the title of land owned by 
the municipality including the abstract and 
certificate of title, opinions of title, and title 

insurance policies. 

Permanent No N/A 

 
Table of Contents 
  



22 
 

Cemetery Records 
Wisconsin Municipal Records Schedule 
 

Requirements Specific to Cemetery Records 
Municipalities and towns are required to assume ownership of abandoned private cemeteries. Cemeteries are considered 
abandoned if the cemetery association or other organization that once cared for the cemetery no longer exists and no legal owner 
can be found (Wis. Stat. § 157.115(1)). 

• The municipality or town must care for the cemetery to the same standards as other municipal or town cemeteries. 

• Six or more residents of your town or municipality may petition the circuit court to require that the town or municipality 
assume ownership or move any graves to another location. 

 
 

Record Series 
Title  

Series Description Retention Confidential 
WHS 

Notification 

Annual Report 
and 

Documentation 

Includes the annual report to the cemetery board 
and the records needed to prepare the report. 
Authority provided by Wis. Stat. § 157.62(4). 

Permanent No N/A 

Care Funds 

An accounting of amounts deposited in, amounts 
withdrawn from, other income accruing to, and 
the balance at the end of the reporting period of 

care funds of the cemetery, including the funds in 
Wis. Stat. § 157.11(9g)(a), Wis. Stat. § 

157.12(3), and Wis. Stat. § 157.125. Includes 
records that show for each deposit, the name of 

the purchaser or beneficiary of the contract 
relating to the deposit and the item purchased. 
Authority provided by Wis. Stat. § 157.62(4). 

Permanent 

Yes 
Confidential per 

Wis. Stat. § 
157.62(2)(c) 

N/A 

https://www.wisconsinhistory.org/pdfs/hp/HPR-Wisconsin-Statutes-Concern-Abandond-Cemeteries-157.115.pdf


23 
 

Record Series 
Title  

Series Description Retention Confidential 
WHS 

Notification 

Contract for Sale 

Copy of each contract for the sale of a cemetery 
lot, mausoleum space, or cemetery 

merchandise. 
Authority provided by Wis. Stat. § 157.62(4). 

Event=3 years; 
Event=After all of 
the obligations of 
the contract have 

been fulfilled 

No Waived 

Grave Registration 
Records 

Records that identify the deceased’s name, date 
of death, and internment and location of remains. Permanent No N/A 

Preneed Trust 
Funds 

An accounting of amounts deposited in, amounts 
withdrawn from, income accruing to, and the 
balance at the close of the reporting period of 

any preneed trust funds of the cemetery. Include 
records that show for each deposit, the name of 

the purchaser or beneficiary of the contract 
relating to the deposit and the item purchased. 
Authority provided by Wis. Stat. § 157.62(4). 

Event+15 years; 
Event=Date of the 

deposit or 
withdrawal 

Yes 
Confidential per 

Wis. Stat. § 
157.62(2)(c) 

Waived 

Reburial of Human 
Remains 

Includes records confirming an attempt to notify 
individuals specified in Wis. Stat. § 

157.112(3)(b)1.-4. when none of the individuals 
specified are available. 

Authority provided by Wis. Stat. § 157.112(3m) 

Permanent No N/A 



24 
 

Record Series 
Title  

Series Description Retention Confidential 
WHS 

Notification 

Report for Final 
Disposition 

Report for final disposition completed by the 
funeral director or other person preparing the 
body for burial or other final disposition. The 

reports are filed with the local registrar, but may 
also be filed with the cemetery to serve as a 

record of interment. 
See Wis. Admin. Code § DHS 135.06(1)(a)(1) for 

more information.  

Permanent No N/A 

 
Table of Contents 
  



25 
 

Community Development/Public Services 
Wisconsin Municipal Records Schedule 
 

Requirements Specific to Community Development/Public Services 
The Community Development/Public Services section is organized by the following subsections: 

• Housing Program 

• Outreach 

• Parks 

• Public Transportation 

• Sanitation 

 
This section is intended to provide municipalities with schedules for the most common record series generally grouped under this 
topic. Municipalities that are in need of schedules for records not covered in this section are encouraged to review the County 
General Schedule for reference on scheduling similar records. The County General Schedule cannot be adopted by municipalities 
for use, but the schedules can be used for creating record schedules through municipal ordinances. 
 
Municipalities that have records pertaining to Public Health should use the County General Schedule to create ordinances to 
schedule those records. 
 
Public Transportation Surveillance Recording records should follow the schedule for Surveillance Recording records found in the 
Public Works section; Maintenance and Operations subsection.  

https://publicrecordsboard.wi.gov/Pages/GRS/LocalUnit.aspx
https://publicrecordsboard.wi.gov/Pages/GRS/LocalUnit.aspx


26 
 

Record Series 
Title 

Series Description Retention Confidential 
WHS 

Notification 

Housing Program 

Program Files 
Correspondence, breakdown of projects, HUD 

regulations, and supporting files. 
Event+7 years; 

Event=Audit 
No Notify 

Outreach 

Public Program 
Files 

Outreach programs for municipality sponsored 
programs. 

Event+7 years; 
Event=Superseded or 

end of program, 
whichever is first 

No Notify 

Parks 

Park Master Plan 
Master plans for parks and park systems. May 

include maps, drawings, photographs, and 
reports.  

Superseded No Notify 

Program Files 
Records relating to programs, events, and 

activities. 
Creation+3 years No Waived 



27 
 

Record Series 
Title 

Series Description Retention Confidential 
WHS 

Notification 

Reservation 
Requests, Rental 
Agreements, Use 

Permits, and 
Contracts 

Permits, agreements, and contracts for the use 
of parks, shelters, and facilities.  

Event+3 years; 
Event=Date of 

reservation 
No Waived 

Supervisors Daily 
Report of Work 

Completed 

Summarizes progress made on a particular job, 
noting the time required, employees assigned 

and vehicles used. 
Creation+2 years No Waived 

Public Transportation 

Accessible 
Boarding Reports 

Reports documenting the accessibility of 
vehicles. 

Creation+5 years No Waived 

Americans with 
Disabilities Act 

(ADA) Customer 
Eligibility Files 

Files determining the eligibility of customers for 
ADA transit programs. 

Event+6 years; 
Event=Termination of 
service or participation 

by customer 

Yes  
(Patient health 

information may 
be protected by 

Wis. Stat. § 
146.82) 

Waived 

Bus Route 
Schedules and 

Timetables 

Documentation of transit schedules, timetables, 
routes, and route history. 

Event+3 years; 
Event=Superseded 

No Waived 



28 
 

Record Series 
Title 

Series Description Retention Confidential 
WHS 

Notification 

Dispatch Files 
Boarding and alighting, extra board weekly 

projections and assignments, daily work 
schedules, and bid mark-ups. 

Creation+7 years No Waived 

Fare Information 
Files 

Research, background, studies, and other 
materials used to determine fares. 

Creation+7 years No Waived 

Operation 
Reports 

Daily, weekly, or other periodic reports 
summarizing transit system operations and 

ridership and lost and found reports. 
Creation+3 years No Waived 

Operator 
Assignment 

Records 

Documentation of assignment of individual 
operators to routes and shifts. 

Creation+3 years No Waived 

Sanitation 

Composting 
Regulations 

Documents pertaining to the disposal of yard 
waste. 

Event+7 years; 
Event=Superseded 

No Waived 



29 
 

Record Series 
Title 

Series Description Retention Confidential 
WHS 

Notification 

Curbside 
Recycling 
Program 

Documentation of the curbside recycling 
program including policies, procedures, and 

administration of the program. 

Event+7 years; 
Event=Superseded 

No Waived 

Drop Off 
Site/Recycling 
Yard Waste 

Site operation files and records. Creation+7 years No Waived 

Household 
Hazardous 

Waste Collection 
Center 

Records related to the collection and disposal of 
paints, corrosives, flammables, toxics, used 

motor oil, and car/truck batteries. 
Creation+30 years No Waived 

Landfill/Garbage 
Dump Sites 

Location of any fill, records of materials 
deposited, cover materials used, reports of 

leachate and methane leakage and treatment, 
source of fill materials, (household, commercial) 

source of cover materials, and inspection 
reports. 

Permanent No N/A 

 
Table of Contents 
  



30 
 

Election Records 
Wisconsin Municipal Records Schedule 
 

Requirements Specific to Election Records 
Additional information regarding election records is available through the Wisconsin Election Commission. Municipalities are 
encouraged to review the Election Administration Manual  available on the Wisconsin Elections Commission Website for more in-
depth information about managing election related records. Retention times in this section that are not specifically stated in 
Wisconsin Statutes are taken from the Election Administration Manual. 

• Federal Election records must be maintained for 22 months as specified in Wis. Stat. § 7.23(1)(f). 

• Recounts or Pending Litigation are subject to a longer retention pending litigation or recounts as specified in Wis. Stat. § 
7.23(2). 

• All other material not described below are identified by Wis. Stat. § 7.23(1)(k) as having a retention period of 90 days after 
the election. 

  

http://elections.wi.gov/clerks/education-training/election-administration-manual


31 
 

 

Record Series 
Title 

Series Description Retention Confidential 
WHS 

Notification 

Ballots and Equipment 

Applications for 
Absentee Ballots 

(Federal 
Elections) 

Includes copies of proof of identification when 
submitted with application. 

Authority provided by Wis. Stat. § 7.23(1)(f). 

Event+22 months; 
Event=Election 10 

No Waived 

Applications for 
Absentee Ballots 
(State, County, 
Local Elections) 

Includes copies of proof of identification when 
submitted with application. 

Authority provided by Wis. Stat. § 7.23(1)(k). 

Event+90 days; 
Event=Election 

No Waived 

Ballots (Federal 
Elections) 

Federal election ballots.  
Authority provided by Wis. Stat. § 7.23(1)(f). 

Event+22 months; 
Event=Election 

No Waived 

Ballots (State, 
County, Local 

Elections) 

State, county, local offices. 
Authority provided by Wis. Stat. § 7.23(1)(h). 

Event+30 days; 
Event=Election 

No Waived 

 
10 All materials and documentation associated with a federal election must be retained at least 22 months after the election. Federal elections include those for the 
office of President of the U.S., U.S. Senator, and U.S. House of Representatives (Wis. Stat. § 7.23(1)(f)). 



32 
 

Record Series 
Title 

Series Description Retention Confidential 
WHS 

Notification 

Ballots (Unused 
and related 
Materials) 

Only applies to unused ballots and materials. 
 

Event+3 business 
days; 

Event=Completion of 
all election canvasses 

11 

No Waived 

Detachable 
Recording Units 

Data storage devices used in electronic voting 
equipment. 

Authority provided by Wis. Stat. § 7.23(1)(g). 

Event+21 days; 
Event=Election 12 

No Waived 

Detachable 
Recording Units 

(Primary 
Elections) 

Data storage devices used in electronic voting 
equipment. 

Authority provided by Wis. Stat. § 7.23(1)(g). 

Event+14 days; 
Event=Election (see 

footnote 3) 
No Waived 

Campaign 

Campaign 
Finance Reports 

Financial disclosure reports filed by candidates 
during election campaigns.  

Authority provided by Wis. Stat. § 7.23(1)(d). 

Event+6 years; 
Event=date of receipt 

No Waived 

 
11 Materials must be retained in event a petition for recount has been filed. 
12 Before clearing or erasing the units or compartments, a municipal clerk shall transfer the data contained in the units or compartments to a disk or other recording 
medium which may be erased or destroyed 22 months after the election to which the data relates. The requirement to transfer data does not apply to units or 
compartments for use with tabulating equipment for an electronic voting system that was approved for use prior to January 1, 2009, and that is not used in a 
federal election. 



33 
 

Record Series 
Title 

Series Description Retention Confidential 
WHS 

Notification 

Campaign 
Registration 
Statements 

Statements filed by candidates for public office. 
Includes Notification of Non-candidacy for 

reelection forms.  
Authority provided by Wis. Stat. § 7.23(1)(d). 

Event+6 years; 
Event=termination 

issued by the registrant 
No Waived 

Reports and Lists 

Official 
Canvassers 
Statements 

Prepared statement showing the results of each 
election. 

Authority provided by Wis. Stat. § 7.23(1)(i). 

Event+10 years; 
Event=election 

No Waived 

Election Notices  

Includes proofs of publication and 
correspondence filed in connection with such 

notices. 
Authority provided by Wis. Stat. § 7.23(1)(j). 

Event+1 year; 
Event=Election  

No Waived 

Election Notices 
(Federal 

Elections) 

Includes proofs of publication and 
correspondence filed in connection with such 

notices. 
Authority provided by Wis. Stat. § 7.23(1)(f). 

Event=22 months; 
Event=Election 

No Waived 

Election Voting 
and Registration 

Statistics 
Reports 

Reports filed by municipal clerks on registration, 
voting, and absentee voting.  

Event+22 months; 
Event=Election 

No Waived 



34 
 

Record Series 
Title 

Series Description Retention Confidential 
WHS 

Notification 

Ineligible Elector 
Registrations 

Elector registrations deemed ineligible for 
voting. Status and reasons for ineligibility should 

be noted. 
Authority provided by Wis. Stat. § 7.23(1)(c). 

Event+4 years; 
Event=When deemed 

ineligible  
No Waived 

Poll (Voter) Lists 

List compiled by election officials on election day 
showing the names and addresses of electors 

who actually cast votes in an election defined in 
Wis. Stat. § 5.02(14). 

Authority provided by Wis. Stat. § 7.23(1)(e). 

Event+22 months; 
Event=Election 

No Waived 

 
Table of Contents 
  



35 
 

Finance Records 
Wisconsin Municipal Records Schedule 
 
Requirements Specific to Finance Records 

The Finance section is organized by the following subsections: 

• Budget 

• Fiscal 

• Purchasing 
 
Municipalities are encouraged to adopt the following general schedules in instances where this schedule does not adequately 
provide coverage for all types of records that could be created: 

• Budget & Related General Records Schedule 

• Fiscal & Accounting Related Records General Schedule 

• Purchasing & Procurement General Schedule 
 

Note: Records in this series may contain confidential or restricted information. Even when specific confidentiality statutes do not 

apply, application of substantive common law principles through the balancing test considerations under Wis. Stat. § 19.35(1)(a), 

may affect disclosure of the record under the public records law. Please consult Section V: Confidential Records and Personally 

Identifiable Information (PII) of the Introduction for more information on this topic.  

  

https://publicrecordsboard.wi.gov/Documents/Budget%20GRS.pdf
https://publicrecordsboard.wi.gov/Documents/Fiscal%20GRS.pdf
https://publicrecordsboard.wi.gov/Documents/Purchasing%20GRS.pdf


36 
 

 

Record Series 
Title 

Series Description Retention Confidential 
WHS 

Notification 

Budget 

Approved Annual 
Operating 

Budget 

Records related to establishing the base level 
agency annual operating budget each fiscal year. 

Fiscal+6 years No Waived 

Audit Reports 
Reports that evaluate the financial holdings of the 

municipality. 

Event+3 years; 
Event=Final report 

issued 
No Waived 

Budget 
Development 

Records include final budget requests (forms or 
their equivalents), justifications/analysis, policy 

papers, related correspondence, and requests for 
information. 

Fiscal+6 years No Waived 

Final Budget 
Submittal 

The final budget document for the municipality. Fiscal+6 years No Waived 



37 
 

Record Series 
Title 

Series Description Retention Confidential 
WHS 

Notification 

Municipal Borrowing 

Bond Records 

All records associated with municipal bonds. Also 
includes the bond register, bond payment 

register, and any certificates of destruction when 
the bond agent has been authorized to destroy 

cancelled bonds, coupons, and promissory 
notes. 

Event+7 years; 
Event=Bond issue 
expires or following 

payment of all 
outstanding matured 

bonds/notes/coupons, 
whichever is later 

No Waived 

Payments and Receipts 

Bank Statements 
and 

Reconciliations 

Statements received from institutions holding the 
municipality’s funds. 

Creation+7 years No Waived 

Cashbook 
Overall record accounting for receipts and 

disbursements, usually for fiscal or calendar 
year. 

Event+7 years; 
Event=Audit 

No Waived 

Collection & 
Disbursement 

Reports 

Reports showing the amounts collected, amounts 
retained by county/local government, and portion 

sent to state. 

Event+3 years; 
Event=Transaction 

date 
No Waived 



38 
 

Record Series 
Title 

Series Description Retention Confidential 
WHS 

Notification 

Credit Card 
Receipts or 
Information 

Received from 
Sales 

Credit card receipts and related documentation 
associated with credit card transactions. 

Event+3 years; 
Event=Transaction 

date 
No Waived 

Financial 
Support Records 

Records used in reconciling bank statements and 
verifying expenditures. Includes, but not limited 
to, credit/debit notices, cash reconciliations, and 

deposit stubs. 

Event+1 year; 
Event=Audit 

No Waived 

Issued Checks 
Checks issued by the municipality that are 

outstanding or have been cleared by the bank. 
Creation+7 years No Waived 

Purchasing 

Contract and 
Request for 

Bid/Proposal File 

Records pertaining to the procurement of all 
commodities and services which may require a 

contract. This includes both successful and 
unsuccessful bids. 

Event+6 years; 
Event=End date of 
resulting contract or 
cancellation date of 

contract or bid/proposal 

Yes13 
Some information 

may qualify for Trade 
Secret protection per 
Wis. Stat. § 19.36(5) 

Waived 

 
13 Some information may qualify for other legal protection such as copyright, patent, trademark or licensing. It is possible some vendors may identify information as 
confidential that is not actually protected by law. 



39 
 

Record Series 
Title 

Series Description Retention Confidential 
WHS 

Notification 

Vendor 
Performance 

Files 

Documentation of vendors and contractors who 
fail to meet the terms and specifications of 

purchasing contracts. 

Event+6 years; 
Event=End of contract 

No Waived 

 
Table of Contents 
  



40 
 

Public Works 
Wisconsin Municipal Records Schedule 
 

Requirements Specific to Public Works 
Records in the Public Works section are arranged under the following subsections: 

• Building Inspection 

• Engineering 

• Maintenance and Operations 

• Planning and Zoning 

• Utilities 

The Public Works section is intended to provide municipalities with schedules for the most common record series generally 
grouped under this topic. Municipalities that are in need of schedules for records not covered in this section are encouraged to 
review and consult the appropriate General Records Schedules listed below: 

• Facilities Management and Related  Records 
 
Wis. Stat. § 19.21(4)(b) defines the minimum retention cities, villages, and towns may set for water stubs, receipts of current 
billing, and customer’s ledgers of any municipal utility as 2 years. In addition, municipalities should check the schedule set by the 
Public Service Commission of Wisconsin (PSC) for Municipal Utilities. A complete list of records and schedules is located in 
“Investigation to Consider Proposed Changes to Records Retention Requirements for Electric, Gas and Water Utilities.” 
 
Schedules specific to Police/First Responder records are not included in the WMRS. Consult the County General Schedule for 
records schedules for similar records which can be used as a basis for the creation of schedules and/or ordinances. 

 
Surveillance recording schedule applies to municipally operated security footage for public buildings, street cameras, and public 
transportation. The schedule does not apply to footage recorded by police body cameras, patrol dashboard cameras, or any 
similar police recording device. 

 
Municipalities should have adequate and clear procedures in place that explain the proper handling and destruction of surveillance 
recordings. Clear communication with appropriate municipal personnel will help to ensure that the record is not destroyed 
prematurely and public requests and/or any legal or program needs are met in a timely manner. 

  

https://publicrecordsboard.wi.gov/Documents/Facilities%20GRS.pdf
https://psc.wi.gov/Documents/recordsRetentionGuidelines.pdf


41 
 

Record Series 
Title 

Series Description Retention Confidential 
WHS 

Notification 

Building Inspections 

Building 
Inspection 
Records 

Summary of inspection history of a particular 
property. Records include original building permit, 

site plans, certificate of occupancy, conditional 
use documents, comprehensive design reviews, 

and violations for both residential and 
commercial structures. Also includes inspection 
of plumbing, electrical, ventilation, heating, and 

air conditioning. 

Event+1 year; 
Event=Life of building 

No Waived 

Building Plan 
Review and 
Inspection 

Conditionally approved building plans, 
calculations, and correspondence. 

Authority provided by Wis. Admin. Code § SPS 
361.60(5)(f)1.b. 

Note: applies to certified municipalities only (see 
Wis. Admin. Code § SPS 361.60(2)).14 

Event+4 years; 
Event=Construction 

completed 
No Waived 

Building Plans: 
Residential 1 
and 2 Family 

Dwellings 

Includes architectural, design specs, structural 
and utility plans submitted for inspection review. 
Authority provided by Wis. Admin. Code § SPS 

320.10(6)(a)2. 

Event+4 years; 
Event=Construction 

completed 
No Waived 

 
14 Note: Refer to Wis. Admin. Code § SPS 361.60(5) for detailed information on the specific types of buildings that first class, second class, and other 
municipalities are authorized by the Department of Safety and Professional Services to review. Prior to applying this schedule, the Municipality must review and 
take the steps outlined in Wis. Admin. Code § SPS 361.60. 



42 
 

Record Series 
Title 

Series Description Retention Confidential 
WHS 

Notification 

Building 
Inspection: 

Residential 1 
and 2 Family 

Dwellings 

Applications forms, correction orders, 
correspondence and inspection records. 

Authority provided by Wis. Admin. Code § SPS 
320.10(6)(a)3. 

Event+7years; 
Event=Construction 

completed 
No Waived 

Code 
Compliance 
Inspection 
Reports 

Reports completed during field investigations to 
determine if buildings and system installations 
comply with the specifications of appropriate 

codes. 

Permanent No N/A 

Engineering 

Airport 
Improvement 
Petition File 

Material submitted to the Department of 
Transportation when a municipality wants to 

make an improvement to the airport. Records 
may include public hearing records, briefs, 

reports and recommendations, and 
correspondence. 

Event+7 years; 
Event=petition 

submitted to DOT 
No Waived 

Airport Master 
Plan 

The Airport Master Plan provides information 
about the condition of the airport and projects 

development for the next 20 years.  

Event+20 years; 
Event=new plan issued 

No Notify 

Municipal 
Construction 

Plans: Final As-
Built Projects 

Final as-built plans and original drawings for 
public for buildings, streets, sewers, sidewalks, 

etc.  

Event;  
Event=life of structure 

No Waived 



43 
 

Record Series 
Title 

Series Description Retention Confidential 
WHS 

Notification 

Municipal 
Construction 

Plans: Final As-
Built Projects  
(Historically 
Significant) 

Use for historically significant projects. 

(Typically large-scale projects. May 

include construction of a major municipal 

facility, as well as projects involving 

facilities significant to the State of WI or 

United States history; buildings on the 

State or National Register of Historic 

Places.) 

Event;  
Event=life of structure  

No Notify 

Environmental 
Assessment & 

Impact 
Statements 

Official copies of environmental assessments, 
impact statements and related documentation 
related to municipal construction projects. 15 

Event+6 years; 
Event=Termination of 

municipal ownership of 
the land 

No Notify 

Maps: 
Construction and 

Topographical 

May include maps covering environmental 
impact/changes, development of specific areas, 
and the impact on public infrastructure (utilities, 

roads, sidewalks). 

Permanent  No N/A 

Municipal Project 
Records 

All documents pertaining to a project including, 
design and construction contracts, proposed and 
approved amendments to all contracts, bidding 
plans and specifications, details on materials 
used on each project, and all other related 
project materials. Use for buildings, streets, 

sewers, sidewalks, etc.  

Event+10 years; 
Event=Date project is 

completed 
No Waived 

 
15 May include: environmental assessment reports and drafts, environmental impact statements (draft and final), legal notices, comments from the public, DNR and 
others, related correspondence and supporting materials. 



44 
 

Record Series 
Title 

Series Description Retention Confidential 
WHS 

Notification 

Municipal Project 
Records 

(Historically 
Significant) 

Use for historically significant projects.  
(Projects are typically large-scale and may 

include new construction of a major municipal 
facility, as well as projects involving facilities 
significant to the State of WI or United States 

history; buildings on the State or National 
Register of Historic Places.) 

Event; 
Event=Life of structure  

No Notify 

Maintenance and Operations  

American with 
Disabilities Act 
(ADA) Facility 

Reviews 

Records cover ADA inspections, investigations, 
complaint investigations, facility logs and reports 
regarding ADA compliance relating to facilities 

and structures. 

Event+6 years; 
Event=Close of review 

or audit 
No Waived 

Asbestos and 
Hazardous 

Material and 
Environmental 
Remediation 

Case File 

Project files on asbestos abatement and 
hazardous materials and environmental 

remediation projects at state owned buildings. 16 

Event+30 years; 
Event=Completion of 

the project 
Yes 17 Waived 

Building 
Maintenance: 

Equipment 
Repair and 

Service Records 

Documents the installation, maintenance, service 
and history of equipment commonly used to 

maintain facilities. 

Event+1 month; 
Event=Removal and 

disposal of equipment 
No Waived 

 
16 OSHA 29CFR 1926.1101 governs asbestos abatement projects. The records include medical surveillance records for certain people who wear protective 
equipment performing asbestos abatement work. 
17 Patient health care records in this series are confidential per Wis. Stat. § 146.82. 



45 
 

Record Series 
Title 

Series Description Retention Confidential 
WHS 

Notification 

Building Lease 
Files 

Files on leased facilities. 
Event+7 years; 

Event=End of lease 
No Waived 

Maps 

Series may document road locations or surfaces, 
zoning information, parks, flood plains, soils, or 
parcel boundaries. This record series may also 

include indexes to maps.18 

Permanent  No N/A 

Physical Plant 
Monitoring and 

Inspection 
Reports 

Records documenting the operation of all facets 
of facilities: VAC; plumbing, mechanical, 

electrical, structural as well as special monitoring 
of building components. 

Creation+6 years No Waived 

Profile and 
Grade Books 

Documentation of landscape and features. Permanent No N/A 

 
18 Copies of maps that are retained by local government offices after originals have been sent to other government units for retention may be destroyed 90 days 
after they have been transferred. Example: Certified survey maps sent to the county register of deeds office for retention under Wis. Stat. § 236.34(2). 



46 
 

Record Series 
Title 

Series Description Retention Confidential 
WHS 

Notification 

State Highway 
Aids Program 

Records 

Records of state aid pertaining to road 
maintenance. 

Creation+7 years No Waived 

Street and 
Sidewalk 

Operations File 

Documentation of the performance of tasks 
related to street and sidewalk maintenance. This 

may include solid waste management, street 
cleaning, repairs, snow removal, and garbage 

collection.  

Creation+7 years No Waived 

Surveillance 
Recordings  

Monitoring and surveillance recordings for public 
buildings, street cameras, and public 

transportation.19 

Event+120 days20 
Event=Date of 

recording 
(Note: Recordings may be 
subject to longer retention. 

See footnote for more 
information.)21 

No Waived 

Planning and Zoning 

Aerial 
Photographs 

Aerial photographs used for planning and map 
creation. 

Event; 
Event=Superseded 

No Notify 

 
19 The schedule does not apply to footage recorded by police body cameras, patrol dashboard cameras, or any similar police recording device. 
20 120 days is the time within which a claim may be filed against a governmental body as defined in Wis. Stats. § 893.80.  
21 Surveillance recordings that are required for any legal or programming purpose (such as open records requests, claims, case file, or litigation holds) must be 
retained in accordance with any applicable records schedules and/or have completed their legal or programming requirements.  



47 
 

Record Series 
Title 

Series Description Retention Confidential 
WHS 

Notification 

Annexation 
Records 

Incorporation records such as petitions, hearing 
testimony and exhibits, court orders, notices, 
resolutions, and related correspondence.22   

Permanent No N/A 

Comprehensive 
Growth and 

Development 
Plan 

Provides general goals, objectives, policies and 
implementation recommendations to guide the 

future growth and development of the city. 

Event+14 years; 
Event=Superseded by 

new plan 
No Notify 

Conditional Use 
Permits 

Applications and related documents for a 
conditional use permit. Applications include site 

plan, applicate statement, and evidence 
evidence/documentation. May also include public 

hearing notice, reports, public hearing 
documentation, and decision. 

Event+7 years; 
Event=Termination of 
conditional use permit 

No Waived 

Easements Grants of easement to the municipality. Permanent No N/A 

Final Plats 

A map showing the divisions of a piece of land, 
this series includes vacation or alterations of 
plats, annexation plats, and final subdivision 

plats. 

Permanent No N/A 

 
22 Records cover proposed incorporations of town areas into cities and villages pursuant to Wis. Stats. §§ 66.0201 - 66.0209, and municipal consolidations of 
towns with cities and villages pursuant to Wis. Stat. § 66.0229. 



48 
 

Record Series 
Title 

Series Description Retention Confidential 
WHS 

Notification 

Preliminary Plats Created during the development of subdivisions. 
Event; 

Event=Superseded by 
final plat 

No Waived 

Property Survey 
Records 

Includes field notes, benchmark books, and 
section corner monument logs. 

Permanent No N/A 

Zoning Appeals, 
Approved 

Material submitted to appeal a zoning decision. 
May include maps, rezoning application, written 

local description of the proposed zoning 
boundaries, and drawings of the boundaries. 

Also includes public hearing records. 

Permanent No N/A 

Zoning Appeals, 
Unapproved 

Material submitted to appeal a zoning decision. 
May include maps, rezoning application, written 

local description of the proposed zoning 
boundaries, and drawings of the boundaries. 

Also includes public hearing records. 

Event+7 years; 
Event=Final appeal is 

closed 
No Notify 

Zoning Board 
and Zoning 

Board of Appeals 
Meeting Material 

Agendas, minutes, reports, plans, and other 
material submitted to the Zoning Board, and/or 

Zoning Board of Appeals. 
Permanent No N/A 



49 
 

Record Series 
Title 

Series Description Retention Confidential 
WHS 

Notification 

Zoning 
Ordinance 

The text of the zoning ordinance spells out 
uniform rules that apply to each zoning district 

including: uses of the land (permitted, conditional 
and prohibited uses), dimensional standards (lot 
size, frontage, setbacks, building height, bulk, 
floor area), and the density of development. 

Authority provided by Wis. Stat. § 60.61. 

Permanent No N/A 

Zoning, 
Rezoning Files 

May include, but is not limited to, maps, rezoning 
application, written local description of the 

proposed zoning boundaries, and drawings of the 
boundaries. Also includes public hearing records. 

Permanent No N/A 

Zoning Variance 
Files 

Records related to area and use variances. 
Documentation submitted by landowners to 
secure a variance to the zoning ordinance.  

Permanent No N/A 

Utilities 23 

Abandoned 
Mains and 

Services As-Built 

Records may include final designs and location 
maps. Includes plans of private sewer and water 

systems.  
Permanent No N/A 

 
23 Wis. Stat. § 19.21(4)(b) defines the minimum retention cities, villages, and towns may set for water stubs, receipts of current billing, and customer’s ledgers of 
any municipal utility is 2 years 



50 
 

Record Series 
Title 

Series Description Retention Confidential 
WHS 

Notification 

Excavation Plans 
of Private 
Utilities 

Plans submitted by utilities needing to excavate 
to develop, expand, or repair utility lines. 

Permanent No N/A 

Inspections 
Records documenting the inspection of water 

and sewer lines. 
Permanent No N/A 

Sewer Inspection 
Records 

Indicates problems such as cracked or broken 
pipes, improper alignment, or loose lateral 

connections. 

Event; 
Event=Superseded 

No Waived 

Water and 
Sewer Main 

Break Records 

A record documenting the history of breaks in 
water and sewer main lines.  

Permanent No N/A 

Water, Storm, 
and Sanitary 
Sewer Main 

Maps 

Maps providing the location of water, storm, and 
sanitary sewer mains. Also provides information 
about the depth, slope, size and composition of 

these features. 

Permanent No N/A 



51 
 

Record Series 
Title 

Series Description Retention Confidential 
WHS 

Notification 

Wind Energy 
System 

Applications 
(Approved) 

Written record of decision-making relating to 
applications for a wind energy system.  

Authority provided by Wis. Admin. Code § PSC 
128.34(1)(c). 

Event+7 years 
(Event=Wind energy 

system 
decommissioned) 

No Waived 

Wind Energy 
System 

Applications 
(Denied) 

Written record of decision-making relating to 
applications for a wind energy system.  

Authority provided by Wis. Admin. Code § PSC 
128.34(1)(b) 

Event+7 years 
(Event=year decision 

was issued) 
No Waived 

 
Table of Contents 
  



52 
 

Revenue Records  
Wisconsin Municipal Records Schedule 
 

Requirements Specific to Revenue Records 
Records in the Revenue section are arranged under the following subsections: 

• Assessment 

• Board of Review 

• Special Assessment 

• Tax Calculation and Collection 
 

The Revenue section is intended to provide municipalities with schedules for the most common record series generally grouped 
under this topic. Municipalities that are in need of schedules for records not covered in this section are encouraged to review the 
County General Schedule for reference on scheduling similar records. The County General Schedule cannot be adopted by 
municipalities for use, but the schedules can be used for creating record schedules through municipal ordinances. 
 
Final real property assessment rolls have a retention period of 15 years and may be destroyed after that time has lapsed. 
However, states that no assessment roll containing forest crop acreage may be destroyed without the prior approval of the 
secretary of the Department of Revenue. Municipalities should assume that assessment rolls from rural areas include forest crop 
acreage and that this provision applies to their assessment rolls. Municipalities should contact the Wisconsin Department of 
Revenue, Local Government Services Bureau for more information. This step is in ADDITION TO notifying the Wisconsin 
Historical Society of the upcoming record destruction.  

https://publicrecordsboard.wi.gov/Pages/GRS/LocalUnit.aspx


53 
 

Record Series 
Title 

Series Description Retention Confidential 
WHS 

Notification 

Assessment 

Cadastral Maps 
Includes any plats, assessor's plats, certified 

surveys, or aerial photographs used in 
determining taxable boundaries. 

Permanent No N/A 

Final 
Assessment 

Rolls 
Both real and personal property rolls. 

Creation+15 years 
(Provided no Forest 

Crop Acreage is 
recorded) 24 

No Notify 

Low Income 
Property 
Owner’s 

Certification of 
Occupancy 
(PR-231) 

Form used to determine property tax exemption 
as low-income housing, as defined by Wis. Stat. 

§ 70.11(4a).  

Event+5 years; 
Event=Form submitted 

to local assessor 
No Waived 

Master Property 
Records 

Details the appraisal of real property, based on 
the field inspections of the assessor. 

Use this schedule for any Master Property 
Record Cards (PA-500), Agricultural Work Cards 

(PA-703), or Residential Record Card Inserts. 

Event+5 years; 
Event=Life of structure 

No Notify 

 
24 Wis. Stat. § 19.21(4)(a) states that no assessment roll that contains forest crop acreage may be destroyed without the prior approval of the secretary of revenue. 
Notification to the Wisconsin Historical Society is still required before approved assessment rolls can be destroyed. 



54 
 

Record Series 
Title 

Series Description Retention Confidential 
WHS 

Notification 

Municipal 
Assessment 

Report 

Reports a taxation district's annual assessed 
values. It is a summary of all the Real Estate and 
Personal Property assessed values for a taxation 

district as of the close of January 1. 

Event+5 years; 
Event=Final report filed 

with DOR 
No Waived 

Notice of 
Increased 

Assessment 
(PR-301) 

Notices sent to property owners informing them 
of change in valuation from the previous year for 

any real property. Also includes Notice of 
Personal Property Assessment (PR-299) and 

Agricultural Land Conversion Change (PR-298). 

Creation+7 years No Waived  

Occupational 
Tax Forms 
(PA-002; 
PA-006; 
PA-014) 

Forms submitted by property owner/agent 
regarding iron ore concentrates, coal, and 

petroleum, to the local assessor. 

Event+5 years; 
Event=Date submitted 

to assessor 
No Waived 

Property Tax 
Exemption 
Request  
(PR-230) 

Form used for requesting exemption from 
property taxes; real and personal property. 

Event+6 months; 
Event=Submission of 

Taxation District 
Summary Report to 

DOR 

No Waived 

Request to View 
Property Notice 

(PR-300) 

Notifies property owner of their rights, options, 
and responsibilities with regard to view property 

for assessment. 

Event+5 years; 
Event=Date of 
assessment 

No Waived 



55 
 

Record Series 
Title 

Series Description Retention Confidential 
WHS 

Notification 

Statement of 
Assessment 
(PA-521C) 

Report of the aggregate assessed value of all 
personal and real property. 

Event+7 years; 
Event=Form submitted 

to DOR 
No Waived 

Statement of 
Personal 
Property 
(PA-003) 

Statements filed with local assessor declaring 
taxable personal property. 

Creation+5 years 

Yes  
Confidential per 

Wis. Stat. § 
70.35(3) 

Waived 

Tax Exemption 
Reports 
(PC-220) 

Reports filed by individuals who own property 
exempt from personal property tax under Wis. 
Stat. § 70.11. The reports are submitted to the 

municipal clerk.  
Use this schedule for Multi-Parcel Tax Exemption 

Reports (PC-220A). 

Event+6 months; 
Event=Submission of 

Taxation District 
Exemption Summary 

Report to DOR 

No Waived 

Taxation District 
Exemption 
Summary 
Reports  
(PC-226) 

Reports the total number of exempt properties by 
purpose and value. Compiled from Tax 

Exemption and Multi-Parcel Tax Exemption 
Reports. 

Event+2 years; 
Event=Report 

submitted to DOR 
No Waived 

Board of Review 

Board of Review 
Support 
Materials 

Includes notes taken by clerk, written objections 
and all other materials submitted to the board of 
review, audio recordings, and any transcripts of 

board of review proceedings. 
Authority provided by Wis. Stat. § 70.47(8)(f). 

Event+7 years; 
Event=Final action of 
Board of Review or 

completion of appeal 

No Waived 



56 
 

Record Series 
Title 

Series Description Retention Confidential 
WHS 

Notification 

Form of 
Objection 

Objections submitted by taxpayers. Includes 
written objections and all other material 

submitted to the board of review. 

Event+7 years; 
Event=Final action of 
Board of Review or 

completion of appeal 

No Waived 

Minutes of the 
Board of Review 

Proceedings 

Record of all proceedings of the board of review. 
Also includes the Summary of Board of Review 

Proceedings (PA-800) 
Authority provided by Wis. Stat. § 70.47(5). 

Creation+7 years No Notify 

Notice of Board 
of Review 

Determination 

Final decisions sent to property owners. 
Authority provided by Wis. Stat. § 70.47(12). 

Event+7 years; 
Event=Final action of 
Board of Review or 

completion of appeal 

No Waived 

Special Assessments 

Final Resolution 
Final authorization of special assessments. 

Authority provided by Wis. Stat. § 66.0703(8)(d). 
Permanent No N/A 

Payment 
Register 

Record of the receipt of scheduled payments. 
Event+7 years; 

Event=Final collection 
of payments 

No Waived 



57 
 

Record Series 
Title 

Series Description Retention Confidential 
WHS 

Notification 

Preliminary 
Resolutions 

Issued by municipal district describing the 
purpose of the project, calculations, limits of 

assessment district, and number of installments 
to be paid. See Wis. Stat. § 66.0703(4) for more 

information. 

Creation+2 years 
(provided report is on 
file with public works 

project record) 

No Waived 

Report of Special 
Assessment 

Report of project that includes plans, 
specifications, cost estimates, and property 

affected. See Wis. Stats. §§ 66.0703(5)-(6) for 
more information. 

Creation+2 years 
(provided report is on 
file with public works 

project record) 

No Waived 

Tax Calculation and Collection 

Escrow Account 
List 

List of real estate taxes paid directly from an 
escrow account. 

Event; 
Event=Superseded 

No Waived 

Final Tax Roll 
Real and personal property rolls. Calculated from 

assessment rolls to include total taxes and 
charges to be collected. 

Creation+15 years No Notify 

Statement of 
Taxes 

Combined record of calculations used to set final 
taxes. 

Permanent No N/A 



58 
 

Record Series 
Title 

Series Description Retention Confidential 
WHS 

Notification 

Tax Calculation 
Support Records 

Any record used to calculate municipal taxes. 
These include any certificates, evaluations, 

levies, estimates, payments, and credits used to 
determine real and personal property tax rolls. 

Event+7 years; 
Event=Audit  

No Waived 

Tax Receipts 

Receipts issued by treasurer upon payment of 
taxes. Includes any supporting documents 

associated with issuing and recording receipts of 
payments. 

Event+7 years; 
Event=Audit of records 
by outside accounting 

firm 

No Waived 

Tax Settlements 
Used to verify tax collections compared to the 

taxes levied in the municipal records. 
Event+7 years; 

Event=Audit 
No Waived 

Unpaid Tax 
Statements 

List of postponed real property, delinquent real 
property, and delinquent personal property taxes. 

Creation+15 years 
(Retain with tax roll) 

No Waived 

 
Table of Contents 



WATERLOO UTILITIES CONSTRUCTION ESTIMATE
575 COMMERCIAL AVE. WATERLOO WI 53594 DATE OF ESTIMATE: 3/3/2022
Phone 920-478-2260 Fax 920-478-9682 ESTIMATED BY: Barry Sorenson

NAME: City LENGTH OF LINE: 400
LOCATION: park
DESCRIPTION:Street lights 2

ACCT # MATERIAL ITEM QTY NEEDED UNIT COST TOTAL COST

3640001 ANCHOR GUY $805.38 $0.00
3640002 CROSSARM-6' $231.70 $0.00
3640003 CROSSARM-8' $260.51 $0.00
3640004 CROSSARM-10' $549.02 $0.00
3640005 FIBERGLASS ARM $383.14 $0.00
3640006 CROSSARM/DEADEND $1,126.55 $0.00
3640007 35' POLE $451.00 $0.00
3640008 40' POLE $1,236.02 $0.00
3640009 45' POLE $921.34 $0.00
3650002 CUTOUT-ARRESTOR-1PH $771.66 $0.00
3650003 CUTOUT-ARRESTOR-3PH $1,479.66 $0.00
3650004 OH PRI. 1/0 1 PHASE 150' SPAN $1,383.56 $0.00
3650005 OH PRI. 1/0 3 PHASE 150' SPAN $3,958.57 $0.00
3650006 OH SECONDARY 1/0 TRI 100' SPAN $1,349.97 $0.00
3660001 DUCT PVC-ALL SIZES-TRENCH $1,370.83 $0.00
3670001 CABLE TERMINATION 1PH 15KV URD $698.61 $0.00
3670002 CABLE TERMINATION 3PH 15KV URD $1,988.99 $0.00
3670003 URD PRI. 1PH-200AMP 100' SPAN $935.10 $0.00
3670004 URD PRI. 3PH-200AMP 100' SPAN $1,797.29 $0.00
3670005 URD PRI. 3PH-600AMP 100' SPAN $2,724.70 $0.00
3670007 URD SEC- #4/0 TRI 100' SPAN $1,161.12 $0.00
3670011 SEC/CABINET-3PT-200AMP 15KV $2,491.64 $0.00
3670012 SEC/CABINET-9/12PT-200AMP 15KV $3,653.75 $0.00
3670013 SECONDARY PEDESTAL $611.53 $0.00
3670014 SEC/CABINET-9/12PT-600AMP 15KV $2,286.92 $0.00
3680003 SET-1PH OH NEW TRANSFORMER $84.00 $0.00
3680004 SET-3PH OH NEW TRANSFORMER $271.16 $0.00
3680005 SET-1PH URD NEW TRANSFORMER $84.00 $0.00
3680006 SET-3PH URD NEW TRANSFORMER $168.00 $0.00
3690001 100 AMP OH SERV 2-4 TRI 75' SPAN $1,036.93 $0.00
3690002 200 AMP OH SERV 1/0 TRI 75' SPAN $1,079.23 $0.00
3691001 URD SERV-ALL SIZES 100' SPAN / w TRENCH $1,074.86 $0.00
3691002 URD SERV- 500 MCM 100' SPAN / w TRENCH $2,373.56 $0.00
3692001 OH to URD SERV. 100' SPAN / w TRENCH $1,293.40 $0.00
3730001 FIBERGLASS POLE & FIXTURE 2 $1,752.00 $3,504.00
3730002 ALUMINUM STREET LIGHT POLE $1,349.49 $0.00
3730003 STREET LIGHT ARM & FIX-150 HPS $876.39 $0.00
3731002 6 DUPLEX URD STREET LIGHT 100 ft 4 $911.82 $3,647.28
9999999 TRENCHING $0.67 $0.00

TOTAL PREPAYMENT NEEDED $7,151.28

GOOD FOR 90 DAYS



 

 

 

PROPOSAL 

Jensen Plumbing, Heating & Air INC 
Quality Service Reliability 

JOB# 222- 547 

DATE: :03/15/2022 

JOB NAME: CITY OF WATERLOO GARAGE 

204 W Lake St 

Lake Mills, WI 53551 

Ph 920-648-8373 

Fax 920-648-3077 

EXPIRATION DATE IF NOT ACCEPTED: 04/15/2022  

 

JOB LOC Chad Yerges 

City Of Waterloo 

211 Hendricks St 

Waterloo, WI 53549 

920-478-3025 

www.waterloowi.us 

BILLING Chad Yerges 

City Of Waterloo 

211 Hendricks St 

Waterloo, WI 53549 

920-478-3025 

www.waterloowi.us 

 
 

 

 

 

 

SALESPERSON PAYMENT TERMS 

Kenny Grassman 50% down, final payment due in full upon completion of work 

 

QTY DESCRIPTION UNIT PRICE LINE TOTAL 

 

We propose to replace the 2 existing natural gas boilers. The old equipment will be 

removed and recycled. The new boilers will be reconnected to the existing pvc venting, 

electrical and gas. We will replace the expansion tank, pressure reducing valve and 

backflow preventor. After completion the boilers will be properly bled of air, started 

and tested. 

  

    

2 
LAARS LFTHF 199 High effeciency natural gas boilers, Expansion tank, PRV, Backflow 

preventor.  
$14,000.00  

 Replacement of all 3 loop pumps. 2-UPS 15/58 & 1-UPS 26/99FC pumps. $1,800.00  

    

    

 All materials used are at the discretion of the licensed plumber or HVAC Technician   ------- 

Any work outside of what is outlined above (if time allows) would be at a time and material rate of $112 per hour, per 

technician or plumber, plus materials   
------- 

 JOB TOTAL  

  

Proposal Prepared By: Kenneth Grassman HVAC Project Manager  __________________________________________ Date:      03/15/2022 

 

Acceptance of Proposal 
The above prices, specifications & conditions are satisfactory and are hereby accepted. Jensen Plumbing, Heating & Air Inc. i s  

authorized to do the work as specified. 

**All material pricing is subject to change based on Market Value if job is not scheduled/planned within 

 30 days and completed within 6 months of acceptance of proposal with down payment.** 

 

To accept this proposal Sign & Date:  ____________________________________________________________________________________  

THANK YOU FOR YOUR BUSINESS! 



 

 

 

 

Lien Rights. As required by the Wisconsin Construction Lien Law, builder hereby notifies owner that persons or companies furnishing labor or 

 materials for the construction on owners’ land may have lien rights on owners’ land and buildings if not paid.  

 Those entitled to lien rights, in addition to the undersigned builder, are those who contract directly with the owner or those who give the owner notice within 60 

days after they first furnish labor or materials for the construction. Accordingly, owner probably will rec eive notices from those who furnish labor or materials for 

the construction and should give a copy of each notice received to his lender, if any. Builder agrees to cooperate with the o wner and the lender, if any, to see that 

all potential lien claimants are duly paid. 

 
*A 30% re-stocking fee is applied to all cancelled or returned orders. Jensen Plumbing, Heating and Air INC cannot warranty material pr ovided by 

others. All proposed work will be completed during normal business hours. Plumbing and HVAC permi t fees are based on cost per fixture; permits 

that are based on a total square foot or total job cost are not included. Concrete more than 4” thick or concrete with wire mesh/re -bar will be 

removed on a time & material basis. All work & material will conform to the State of Wisconsin Codes. All material is guaranteed to be as specified.  

All work to be completed in a workmanlike manner according to standard practices.  All agreements contingent upon strikes, ac cidents or delays 

beyond our control.  Owner to carry fire, tornado, and other necessary insurance. Our workers are fully covered by Workmen’s Compensation 

Insurance. 

 

                                                                                                                                           CUSTOMER INTIAL__________ 

 



3/11/22, 11:33 AM How Water Fluoridation in the USA Affects Us | Waterlogic

https://www.waterlogic.com/en-us/resources-blog/usa-fluoride-levels-and-how-they-affect-us/ 1/17

COVID-Secure

 Today we've saved 1,119,582  plastic bottles from landfill 

Water fluoridation in the USA

  03/09/2017  Stephen Tamlin

How Much is Too Much?

For decades the amount of fluoride added to our water supplies (fluoridation), has sparked some

heated debate amongst those for and against its application. On one side there are many who believe

fluoride in drinking water helps protect dental health from problems such as tooth decay yet on the

other side there are those that believe it’s only harming our overall oral health. Since 1962,

communities throughout the country have been adhering to the required Drinking Water
Standards that regulate fluoridation, however, new scientific data has made people think twice about

what’s in their drinking glass.

Please read this COVID-19 update - We realize more than ever that protecting your workforce is paramount. We want you to …
Please read this notice for when you are planning to return to work. 
Read more 

 

Blog  Water fluoridation in the USA 

Resources   

   

https://www.waterlogic.com/en-us/why-waterlogic/covid-secure/
https://nepis.epa.gov/Exe/ZyNET.exe/2000TP5L.TXT?ZyActionD=ZyDocument&Client=EPA&Index=Prior+to+1976&Docs=&Query=&Time=&EndTime=&SearchMethod=1&TocRestrict=n&Toc=&TocEntry=&QField=&QFieldYear=&QFieldMonth=&QFieldDay=&IntQFieldOp=0&ExtQFieldOp=0&XmlQuery=&File=D%3A\zyfiles\Index%20Data\70thru75\Txt\00000002\2000TP5L.txt&User=ANONYMOUS&Password=anonymous&SortMethod=h|-&MaximumDocuments=1&FuzzyDegree=0&ImageQuality=r75g8/r75g8/x150y150g16/i425&Display=p|f&DefSeekPage=x&SearchBack=ZyActionL&Back=ZyActionS&BackDesc=Results%20page&MaximumPages=1&ZyEntry=1&SeekPage=x&ZyPURL
https://www.waterlogic.com/fileadmin/user_upload/US_Website/PDF/return-to-work-instructions.pdf
https://www.waterlogic.com/en-us/resources-blog/
https://www.waterlogic.com/en-us/resources-blog/usa-fluoride-levels-and-how-they-affect-us/
https://www.waterlogic.com/en-us/


3/11/22, 11:33 AM How Water Fluoridation in the USA Affects Us | Waterlogic

https://www.waterlogic.com/en-us/resources-blog/usa-fluoride-levels-and-how-they-affect-us/ 2/17

New research by the Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) and the National Research Council

(NRC) of the National Academies of Science) found an increase in the prevalence of dental fluorosis

(white spots on teeth or pitting on the surface of a tooth), the relationship between water intake and

outdoor temperature, and new fluoride sources outside of tap water (e.g. toothpaste). This research

led the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services to make the first definite change since 1962.

The organization is now recommending that 0.7 parts per million (ppm) or mg/L is the ideal fluoride

level for communities in order to maintain the benefits of fluoridation and avoid risk of dental

fluorosis. Despite this government mandate in April 2015, experts on both sides continue to stand

their ground on the benefits and pitfalls of adding fluoride to our drinking water.

A History of Fluoridation

In 1960s, a report showed that fluoride reduced cavities by 90% - making it an inexpensive method to

allow all of the country to combat tooth decay, regardless of their age or socio-economic status.

While the recommended levels of fluoridation sat between 0.7 mg/L and 1.2 mg/L, the Department of

Health and Human Services concluded that there should be a lower concentration of fluoride in

warmer areas because children “drank more water on warm days.” Such studies began to show that

the higher the concentration of fluoride in the water (between 0.3 mg/L to 1.2 mg/L), the greater

instances of dental fluorosis in those children, increasing from 13.5% to 41.4%. Through the years, the

research continued to prove the benefits of fluoride in drinking water when it reported a 60% decline
in cavities in 12-19 year olds between 1999 and 2004.

Resources   

   

http://www.publichealthreports.org/documents/PHS_2015_Fluoride_Guidelines.pdf
https://www.newsweek.com/us-government-recommends-lower-level-fluoride-water-325760
http://www.publichealthreports.org/documents/PHS_2015_Fluoride_Guidelines.pdf
http://www.publichealthreports.org/documents/PHS_2015_Fluoride_Guidelines.pdf
https://www.waterlogic.com/en-us/


3/11/22, 11:33 AM How Water Fluoridation in the USA Affects Us | Waterlogic

https://www.waterlogic.com/en-us/resources-blog/usa-fluoride-levels-and-how-they-affect-us/ 3/17

Current Fluoride Status

Recent Changes

More recent studies conducted by the National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey
(NHANES), between 1988 and 2004, surveyed more areas throughout the country. New analysis

proved that outdoor temperature accounted for less than a 1% variation in water intake, meaning

there was no correlation between the two. These findings have led to a change in the federally

recommended amount of fluoridation in public water supplies across the US. A level of 0.7 mg/L, was

deemed an appropriate, uniform standard in all temperate zones of the country, and would help to

maintain a reduction in dental cavities in young people, while minimizing their risk of fluorosis.

Individual State Levels

Although this is a federal standard, some states still show a higher level of fluoride that exceeds the

recommended 0.7mg/L level. You can check the state levels of fluoride in your county’s water supply

using this interactive map created by Waterlogic, an industry-leading bottleless water cooler provider.

Waterlogic has used the CDC’s My Water’s Fluoride database, a public database of 27 states that

have volunteered their own fluoride information, to put together Waterlogic’s USA Fluoride Level

Resources   

   

https://www.cdc.gov/nchs/data/series/sr_11/sr11_248.pdf
https://nccd.cdc.gov/DOH_MWF/Default/Default.aspx
https://nccd.cdc.gov/DOH_MWF/Default/ParticipatingStates.aspx?Mode=Reporting
https://www.waterlogic.com/en-us/


3/11/22, 11:33 AM How Water Fluoridation in the USA Affects Us | Waterlogic

https://www.waterlogic.com/en-us/resources-blog/usa-fluoride-levels-and-how-they-affect-us/ 4/17

Map (please see About Fluoride Data Collection for more information regarding the collection of

data, including states that are not in the CDC’s pop

According to Kip Duchon, a National Fluoridation Water Engineer with the Centers for Disease

Control and Prevention (CDC):

In addition, more people today receive fluoride from sources outside of their drinking water. “Your

primary source of fluoride is from drinking water since you don’t get enough of it from things like

toothpaste or food,” continued Duchon. “But we also realize that people were having those other

beneficial exposures, so we realized that the lowest level within the recognized beneficial range

would be suitable for everyone considering the fact that they would get additional fluoride from

other sources:

Risk with Fluoridation

The world is a different place in 2015 than it was in 1962. Water consumption was shown to

be variable in 1962. But, in the current world, water consumption is very uniform

throughout the country. Why is that? Because it turns out that houses in Minnesota are

better heated than they used to be 50 years ago. Houses in Texas tend to be better air-

conditioned than they were in 1962. Plus, we have a more sedentary lifestyle today

- Kip Duchon



Resources   

   

https://nccd.cdc.gov/DOH_MWF/Default/Default.aspx
https://www.waterlogic.com/en-us/


3/11/22, 11:33 AM How Water Fluoridation in the USA Affects Us | Waterlogic

https://www.waterlogic.com/en-us/resources-blog/usa-fluoride-levels-and-how-they-affect-us/ 5/17

While trying to remain neutral in the fight for and against fluoride in drinking water, the CDC does

acknowledge that excessive amounts of fluoride can cause enamel fluorosis, or white spots on the

teeth. Combined with the lower recommended quantity of fluoride, the CDC recommended that

adults should carefully monitor the fluoride intake of children younger than six years old since this

is a critical period for tooth development. The CDC reported that one group that is most critically

affected by fluorosis and demonstrating higher sensitivity to fluoride are African Americans and

Hispanics. These two groups were shown as having had more severe cases of fluorosis than whites.

Dr Kathy Thiessen, Director and Senior Scientist at the Oak Ridge Center for Risk Analysis in

Tennessee is strongly opposed to fluoridation. As she explains:

The Case For and Against Fluoridation

 Pros and Cons

Fluoridation has a history as a controversial, divisive issue. On one side, supporters of fluoridation in

drinking water tout its benefits to dental health. On the other side, there are several vocal groups and

individuals who cite fluoridation as the source of numerous health issues, ranging from thyroid

conditions to autism and attention-deficit hyperactivity disorder (ADHD).

"[Recent data] … indicates no significant benefit from water fluoridation, but a significant

association with dental fluorosis, a situation that will not be avoided by fluoridating all cities

at 0.7.mg/L … At the very least, even if dental fluorosis is considered only a cosmetic

problem, it takes money to treat to improve a person's appearance and perhaps his or her

self-esteem … A growing number of studies indicate associations between dental fluorosis

and increased risk of various health problems. Considerable evidence indicates that water

fluoridation is an unsafe and unethical practice, with little or no real benefit."

Dr. Kathy Thiessen, Director and Senior Scientist at the Oak Ridge Center for Risk Analysis

in Tennessee.



Resources   

   

https://www.adha.org/resources-docs/7265_CDC_Guidelines_on_Flouride_to_Prevent_Tooth_Decay.pdf
https://www.cdc.gov/mmwr/preview/mmwrhtml/ss5403a1.htm
https://www.waterlogic.com/en-us/


3/11/22, 11:33 AM How Water Fluoridation in the USA Affects Us | Waterlogic

https://www.waterlogic.com/en-us/resources-blog/usa-fluoride-levels-and-how-they-affect-us/ 6/17

Argument Against

Laura Pressley, Ph.D., an anti-fluoridation advocate, believes that fluoridation was a factor in her

diagnosis of Hashimoto’s Thyroiditis, an autoimmune disorder that affects the thyroid. She had been

taking medication for the condition and showed signs of fatigue, brain fog, loss of hair, and weight

gain.

 

Dr. Pressley mentioned that many people are exposed to significant amounts of fluoride that they

may not be aware of, “in your tap water, tea, and actually, sodium fluoride is a pesticide, which gets on

“I started doing the research, and fluoride attacks your thyroid… Fluoride is very similar to

iodine electronically because it’s in the same column of the periodic table. Your body

uptakes fluoride from your thyroid instead of iodine and it causes your body to function

improperly. When that happens, your thyroid wants to work harder to put out the

chemicals your body needs. You’re overtaxing your thyroid and it’s exhausted, so you get

hypothyroidism.”

Laura Pressley, Ph.D



Resources   

   

https://www.waterlogic.com/en-us/


3/11/22, 11:33 AM How Water Fluoridation in the USA Affects Us | Waterlogic

https://www.waterlogic.com/en-us/resources-blog/usa-fluoride-levels-and-how-they-affect-us/ 7/17

fruits and vegetables.” She also noted the difference between naturally occurring fluoride and the

fluoride added to water in her home state of Texas, “Because of the oil deposits and geology, you’ll

have natural levels of calcium fluoride.

That is a different chemical than what’s put in the tap water. With calcium fluoride, the fluoride is

bound to the calcium. The chemical being put into the tap water is an acid. There’s no calcium

associated with it, so the fluoride attacks the calcium in your body. It attacks your bones, it attacks

your teeth – that’s why you get pitting – and in your bones, you’ll get osteomalacia, a softening of

the bones.”

With this in mind, Pressley made a decision to eliminate fluoride from her diet. After four or five

months, her Hashimoto’s Thyroiditis went into remission and has been in remission ever since. “I’m off

all of my medications. I’m back to my normal weight. My hair filled out. I regained my energy, and I ran

for City Council,” she said. “My health completely rebounded.

Argument For

On the other hand, many still stand for fluoride in drinking water. Kip Duchon, an environmental

engineer who provides technical direction to the water fluoridation process with the CDC, has

interacted with both pro- and anti-fluoride representatives on both sides of the issue and has pointed

to the 2006 National Academy of Sciences Study and a 2015 Cochrane study as evidence that

fluoridation in drinking water is safe.

 

Resources   

   

https://www.cochrane.org/CD010856/ORAL_water-fluoridation-prevent-tooth-decay
https://www.waterlogic.com/en-us/


3/11/22, 11:33 AM How Water Fluoridation in the USA Affects Us | Waterlogic

https://www.waterlogic.com/en-us/resources-blog/usa-fluoride-levels-and-how-they-affect-us/ 8/17

Duchon said that while there have been studies conducted that pinpoint fluoride as a culprit in health

issues, these studies may not have been systematic – meaning, a review of transparent processes

that examines all available research in context with each other to tell a story that helps people better

understand what’s really happening.

Bruce Austin, the Statewide Dental Director for the Office of the Chief Medical Officer of Oregon,

echoed many of Duchon’s concerns.

 

While the question of whether to fluoridate or not remains a state and local issue, the CDC provides

the science to support the states and does not play a role in managing fluoridation. It was science that

prompted the CDC’s reassessment of the 1962 recommendation with public health in mind.

“Every time the National Academy of Sciences has looked at water fluoridation, they have

always come back with the understanding that it’s safe and healthy based on science.”

Duchon noted that many of the concerns that anti-fluoride advocates currently espouse

were presented prior to the publishing of the study and the National Academy of Sciences

had refuted them, deeming fluoridated water as safe. “The report said there was no

scientific basis for those concerns.”

Kip Duchon



“As for public education, the internet is a huge source of disinformation and false

information. The best facts tend to come from the consensus of science done by expert

panels and groups of researchers, rather than cherry-picked data from individuals. I do feel

that a sound education campaign based on science will only help the public’s

understanding of the safety, efficiency, and cost-effectiveness of community water

fluoridation."

Bruce Austin, the Statewide Dental Director for the Office of the Chief Medical Officer of

Oregon



Resources   

   

https://www.waterlogic.com/en-us/


3/11/22, 11:33 AM How Water Fluoridation in the USA Affects Us | Waterlogic

https://www.waterlogic.com/en-us/resources-blog/usa-fluoride-levels-and-how-they-affect-us/ 9/17

In addition to a study linking fluoridation to autism and ADHD, some of the concerns the public has

about fluoridation’s impact on overall health stem from uncertain evidence of fluoride causing bone

cancer. According to the American Cancer Society, population-based studies examined the risk

between water fluoride levels and cancer, comparing cancer rates in communities with lower versus

higher levels of fluoridation. However, the organization recognizes that there are other factors that

make it hard to conclusively prove that fluoride is the source of adverse health effects. On

their website, the American Cancer Society poses the question: “If fluoridation is a risk factor, is the

type of fluoride used important? Also, is there a specific level of fluoride above which the risk is

increased, or a certain amount of time or an age range during which a person would need to be

exposed?”

On the flipside, several studies have shown fluoridation has provided significant benefits to dental

health. The U.S. Task Force on Community Preventive Services concluded that fluoridated

water reduced tooth decay by a median rate of 29% among children of ages 4 to 17. Similarly,

the Journal of Dental Research concluded that fluoridation reduced decay in adult teeth by 27%,

making fluoride the most effective and practical method for reducing the gap in decay rates between

low-income and upper-income Americans.

While the CDC has pointed to research that indicates fluoridation is safe, others are concerned about

the amount of fluoride in drinking water and whether it is appropriate for people of all ages and sizes.

Laura Pressley stated that, “When a family goes to a doctor and they all have strep throat, the doctor

doesn’t give them all the same dose of an antibiotic. They give a dose per weight, and per history and

sensitivity of the patient.”

Pressley questioned even the new, lower, recommended dose of fluoride in public water supplies,

asking, “Why would we be medicating people with this fluoridated water, one-size-fits-all to a child

versus a man that’s 6’ tall? That makes no sense to me. We should not be putting any type of water to

“We actually did that over a 10 year period, there was a lot of research that we did going

into that. We actually started that work in 2005. We did a lot of new research on water

consumption. The fact is that we’ve been doing water fluoridation for 70 years – and for

every one of those years, the number of people who are getting fluoridated water

increases. And that’s a good thing, to increase the access to fluoridated water to people.

There’s still a big need for it.”

Kip Duchon



Resources   

   

https://www.thelancet.com/journals/laneur/article/PIIS1474-4422(13)70278-3/fulltext
https://www.cancer.org/cancer/cancer-causes/water-fluoridation-and-cancer-risk.html
https://www.cancer.org/cancer/cancer-causes/water-fluoridation-and-cancer-risk.html
https://ilikemyteeth.org/wp-content/uploads/2013/03/Fluoridation-Is-Effective.pdf
https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/17452559/
https://www.waterlogic.com/en-us/


3/11/22, 11:33 AM How Water Fluoridation in the USA Affects Us | Waterlogic

https://www.waterlogic.com/en-us/resources-blog/usa-fluoride-levels-and-how-they-affect-us/ 10/17

treat any type of disease because people have different sensitivities. Those who have hypothyroidism

are going to be more negatively affected than those that don’t. Children, babies – they’re going to be

more affected.”

Fluoride State Regulations

Although the CDC spearheaded extensive studies over a ten-year period to re-evaluate the 1962

recommendations, water fluoridation in a community’s drinking supply is managed at a state level –

not a national one.

Water fluoridation is not a hard and fast rule. To date, 15 states (along with Washington, D.C. and

Puerto Rico) have mandatory fluoridation regulations where if a water system in that state is serving

a specific minimum population, that system is required to fluoridate its drinking water. Arkansas, for

example, must fluoridate if the system is serving 5,000 people or more.

Other U.S. states that mandate water fluoridation based on population include:

While some states have mandatory fluoridation regulations, individual towns, cities, and even

counties throughout the U.S. who have called for a ban on fluoride in their water supplies because

of the uncertainty around it's benefits.

What does fluoridation mean for you?

Want to Get Involved in the Debate?

Resources   

   

http://fluoridealert.org/content/mandatory-fluoridation-in-the-u-s/
http://fluoridealert.org/content/communities/
https://www.waterlogic.com/en-us/


3/11/22, 11:33 AM How Water Fluoridation in the USA Affects Us | Waterlogic

https://www.waterlogic.com/en-us/resources-blog/usa-fluoride-levels-and-how-they-affect-us/ 11/17

Regardless of where you stand on the issue of fluoridation, you can take an active role within your

state in advocating for or against adding fluoride to their community water supply:

For starters, take a look at Waterlogic’s USA Fluoride Level Map and learn just how much fluoride is

in your state and local drinking water supply. If you have questions about the levels of fluoride in your

area's drinking water, get in touch with your local public water system. The CDC has listings for 39

states that participate in its My Water's Fluoride program, making it easy to find your county and its

contact information if you have questions regarding fluoridation.

Further Education

If you want to further educate yourself on the topic of Fluoridation below is a list of resources

available.

Here are some groups that advocate against the use of fluoride in public water systems:
Fluoride Action Network
Fluoride Free Austin
NoFluoride: Citizens for Safe Drinking Water

Here are some groups that point towards the benefits of fluoride:
Fluoride Information Network
I Like My Teeth Campaign for Dental Health
National Center for Fluoridation Policy & Research

Talk to your state representatives about your findings and make them aware of what matters to
you as their constituent.

If you’re looking to remove fluoride from your drinking water, as you advocate for your cause,

one way to do it is through the purchase of a reverse osmosis, deionizer, or activated alumina

water filter. These three types of filters are able to remove about 90% of fluoride from tap

Resources   

   

https://www.waterlogic.com/en-us/resources-blog/usa-fluoride-levels-and-how-they-affect-us/
https://nccd.cdc.gov/DOH_MWF/Default/Default.aspx
http://fluoridealert.org/
http://www.fluoridefreeaustin.com/
http://www.nofluoride.com/
http://fluorideinfo.org/
https://ilikemyteeth.org/
http://www.waterfluoridationcenter.org/
https://www.waterlogic.com/en-us/office-water-dispensers/reverse-osmosis-water-filter/
http://fluoridealert.org/content/top_ten/
https://www.waterlogic.com/en-us/


3/11/22, 11:33 AM How Water Fluoridation in the USA Affects Us | Waterlogic

https://www.waterlogic.com/en-us/resources-blog/usa-fluoride-levels-and-how-they-affect-us/ 12/17

water. However, not all water filters are effective for this purpose. For instance, activated carbon

filters do not remove fluoride.

When phasing out fluoride from her own diet, Laura Pressley turned to reverse-osmosis water:

“If I go to a restaurant and all they have is tap water, I will not drink it. I’ll have fresh-squeezed

orange juice, if they have it. I won’t drink black tea with tap water. I won’t drink coffee with tap

water. I will bring a bottle of reverse osmosis water into a restaurant. That’s how I deal with it.”

Pressley also looked to eating organic foods whenever possible to avoid traces of fluoride due

to foods treated with pesticides.

Distillation units can also help to remove most, if not all fluoride. These units range from $200

for a small countertop distillation unit to over $1,000 for a much larger unit.

The Future of Fluoridation

Although the CDC has provided a nationwide maximum of 0.7 mg/L of fluoridation in public water

supplies, these levels can vary by state and locality. Geographical factors also play a role in levels of

naturally occurring levels of fluoride. If you'd like to learn more about levels of fluoride in your area's

drinking water, the Waterlogic’s USA Fluoride Level Map is a helpful resource to garner accurate, at-

a-glance information and compare your locality to surrounding areas or states throughout the

country.

While these recommended levels of fluoride have been proven to reduce dental cavities and are

considered the most effective way to provide widespread dental protection to the greatest number of

citizens, there are a still number of people who are worried that regular exposure to fluoride may have

adverse effects on health.

However, individuals who believe the concerns associated with fluoride outweigh its benefits are able

to take action for themselves, either by calling for more research to be conducted on the subject, or

personally taking steps to eliminate fluoride from their drinking water.

“The CDC will continue to encourage additional research on water fluoridation because we

want to be the first to say that we don’t know everything. We will still continue to work with

partners to identify what research is important and to better understand what the salient

issues are. I think the knowledge base will continue to grow as to what we need to know

about water fluoridation.”

- Kip Duchhon



Resources   

   

https://www.waterlogic.com/en-us/


3/11/22, 11:33 AM How Water Fluoridation in the USA Affects Us | Waterlogic

https://www.waterlogic.com/en-us/resources-blog/usa-fluoride-levels-and-how-they-affect-us/ 13/17

 Appendix

About Fluoride Data Collection

Since Fluoridation in communities is managed at a state level and not a national level, not all states

are included in the CDC’s My Water’s Fluoride database.

For states that did not participate in the CDC’s database, we contacted each of these states’

Department of Health directly, speaking with officials about the most recent fluoride data available to

the public ranging from 2011 to 2015. As mentioned, not all states are required to collect and report

fluoride data on a yearly basis, which accounts for gaps in the reporting years available for this data.

The fluoride levels reported in the Waterlogic Fluoride Database are considered the “final levels” in

public drinking water from a specific public water system which include both natural and manual

fluoride concentrations, which are added at water treatment plants.

Since public water systems can serve multiple cities and there are many water systems in a given

county, we included a weighted average for counties and states that takes into account the

population for those areas. Our goal was to report the fluoride concentration at the point of public

consumption, regardless of the exact source of the fluoride. In doing this, we’re reporting a more

accurate measure of the amount of fluoride the public is consuming.

What causes high fluoride levels?

Some regions have higher, naturally occurring levels of fluoride in the water supply than others.

Groundwater typically contains more fluoride than surface water. Dry regions generally have higher

fluoride levels in their water than regions that have higher average rainfall amounts. Two of the Top 3

states with fluoride levels above the .7 mg/L recommended limit – Texas and Arizona – have dry, arid

climates.

According to Rae Nadler-Olenick, an advocate for Fluoride Free Austin and the Texas coordinator

for the Fluoride Action Network, “Looking at average concentration by county, Texas has more areas

than other states that are above the limit. Natural fluoride is high in parts of Texas, such as El Paso.”

Unique conditions to a specific area – from climate to the type of soil or clay prevalent throughout

the terrain, play a role in how fluoride concentrates in groundwater within a given state, as well as

spatial variability of fluoride. For instance, a report from the Arizona Department of Environmental
Quality stated that:

Resources   

   

http://www.fluoridefreeaustin.com/
https://legacy.azdeq.gov/environ/water/assessment/download/gw_quality.pdf
https://www.waterlogic.com/en-us/


3/11/22, 11:33 AM How Water Fluoridation in the USA Affects Us | Waterlogic

https://www.waterlogic.com/en-us/resources-blog/usa-fluoride-levels-and-how-they-affect-us/ 14/17

Follow us:   

 Latest Articles

Waterlogic presents Oceansaver Accolade to Four Seasons Hotel Miami

Read more

Waterlogic is committed to helping the abolition of modern slavery

The business case for safe and sustainable hydration

World Mental Health Day 2021

Read more 

Read more 

Read more 

“Elevated fluoride concentrations may occur throughout Arizona but tend to be most

common in the southeastern and west central portions of the state. Fluoride

concentrations above 5 mg/L are controlled by calcium through precipitation or

dissolution of the mineral fluorite. In a chemically closed hydrologic system, calcium is

removed from solution by precipitation of the calcium carbonate and the formation of

smectite clays; high concentrations of dissolved fluoride may occur in groundwater

depleted in calcium if a source of fluoride ions is available for dissolution (Robertson, 1991).

Thus, wells having soft, sodium-dominated, older water, such as artesian wells drawing

from deep aquifers in southeastern Arizona, are likely to have elevated fluoride

concentrations.”

Arizona Department of Environmental Quality



Resources   

   

https://www.facebook.com/waterlogic/
https://twitter.com/waterlogic_usa?lang=enCan
https://www.linkedin.com/company/waterlogic-usa/
https://www.waterlogic.com/en-us/resources-blog/waterlogic-is-committed-to-helping-the-abolition-of-modern-slavery/
https://www.waterlogic.com/en-us/resources-blog/the-business-case-for-safe-and-sustainable-hydration/
https://www.waterlogic.com/en-us/resources-blog/world-mental-health-day-2021/
https://www.waterlogic.com/en-us/


3/11/22, 11:33 AM How Water Fluoridation in the USA Affects Us | Waterlogic

https://www.waterlogic.com/en-us/resources-blog/usa-fluoride-levels-and-how-they-affect-us/ 15/17

The importance of promoting employee wellness alongside sustainable
hydration

Follow us:   

Related articles

Read more 

Water, News, Innovation, Environment, Businesses,
Environment, Businesses, Environment, Innovation,
News, Water

The business case for safe and sustainable hydration

Resources   

   

https://www.facebook.com/waterlogic/
https://twitter.com/waterlogic_usa?lang=enCan
https://www.linkedin.com/company/waterlogic-usa/
https://www.waterlogic.com/en-us/resources-blog/the-importance-of-promoting-employee-wellness-alongside-sustainable-hydration/
https://www.waterlogic.com/en-us/resources-blog/the-business-case-for-safe-and-sustainable-hydration/
https://www.waterlogic.com/en-us/resources-blog/world-mental-health-day-2021/
https://www.waterlogic.com/en-us/


3/11/22, 11:33 AM How Water Fluoridation in the USA Affects Us | Waterlogic

https://www.waterlogic.com/en-us/resources-blog/usa-fluoride-levels-and-how-they-affect-us/ 16/17

Water, News, Innovation, Environment, Businesses,
Environment, Businesses, Environment, Innovation,
News, Water

World Mental Health Day 2021

Environment

Tackling the forgotten plastic pandemic: climate change

Resources   

   

https://www.waterlogic.com/en-us/resources-blog/world-mental-health-day-2021/
https://www.waterlogic.com/en-us/resources-blog/tackling-the-forgotten-plastic-pandemic-climate-change/
https://www.waterlogic.com/en-us/


3/11/22, 11:33 AM How Water Fluoridation in the USA Affects Us | Waterlogic

https://www.waterlogic.com/en-us/resources-blog/usa-fluoride-levels-and-how-they-affect-us/ 17/17

View all blog articles

   

© 2022 Waterlogic Holdings Ltd. All rights reserved.    Terms & Conditions      Privacy Policy      Cookies Policy

     COVID-19 Information      Restart   

 Choose region 

Resources   

   

https://www.waterlogic.com/en-us/resources-blog/tackling-the-forgotten-plastic-pandemic-climate-change/
https://www.waterlogic.com/en-us/resources-blog/
https://www.waterlogic.com/en-us/
https://www.facebook.com/waterlogic/
https://twitter.com/waterlogic_usa?lang=enCan
https://www.linkedin.com/company/waterlogic-usa/
https://www.waterlogic.com/en-us/terms-and-conditions/
https://www.waterlogic.com/en-us/privacy-policy/
https://www.waterlogic.com/en-us/cookies-policy/
https://www.waterlogic.com/en-us/covid19-faqs/
https://www.waterlogic.com/en-us/restart/
https://www.waterlogic.com/en-us/


3/11/22, 11:11 AM The Fluoride Debate: The Pros and Cons of Fluoridation

https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC6195894/ 1/17

Prev Nutr Food Sci. 2018 Sep; 23(3): 171–180.
Published online 2018 Sep 30. doi: 10.3746/pnf.2018.23.3.171

PMCID: PMC6195894
PMID: 30386744

The Fluoride Debate: The Pros and Cons of Fluoridation
Antoine Aoun,  Farah Darwiche, Sibelle Al Hayek, and Jacqueline Doumit

Abstract

Fluoride is one of the most abundant elements found in nature. Water is the major dietary source of
fluoride. The only known association with low fluoride intake is the risk of dental caries. Initially,
fluoride was considered beneficial when given systemically during tooth development, but later
research has shown the importance and the advantages of its topical effects in the prevention or
treatment of dental caries and tooth decay. Water fluoridation was once heralded as one of the best
public health achievements in the twentieth century. Since this practice is not feasible or cost effective
in many regions, especially rural areas, researchers and policy makers have explored other methods of
introducing fluoride to the general population such as adding fluoride to milk and table salt. Lately,
major concerns about excessive fluoride intake and related toxicity were raised worldwide, leading
several countries to ban fluoridation. Health-care professionals and the public need guidance regarding
the debate around fluoridation. This paper reviews the different aspects of fluoridation, their
effectiveness in dental caries prevention and their risks. It was performed in the PubMed and the
Google Scholar databases in January 2018 without limitation as to the publication period.

Keywords: dental caries, fluoridation, prevention, public health, toxicity

INTRODUCTION

Fluoride is the ionic form of fluorine, the thirteenth most abundant element in the earth’s crust. It is
released into the environment naturally in both water and air. Its concentration in water is variable (1).
Water is the major dietary source of fluoride. The variability in water content explains much of the
variability in total fluoride intake. Other important sources of fluoride are tea, seafood that contains
edible bones or shells, medicinal supplements, and fluoridated toothpastes (2). Fluoride compounds are
also produced by some industrial processes that use the mineral apatite, a mixture of calcium phosphate
compounds (2). Dietary fluoride is absorbed rapidly in the stomach and small intestine. One-quarter to
one-third of the absorbed fluoride is taken up into calcified tissues, whereas the rest is lost in the urine
(3–6). In bone and teeth, fluoride can displace hydroxyl ions from hydroxyapatite to produce
fluorapatite or fluorohydroxyapatite. About 99% of total body fluoride is contained in bones and teeth
(3), and the amount steadily increases during life. The recommended intake for fluoride is expressed as

The PMC website is updating on 03/21/2022. Try out this update now on PMC
Labs or Learn more.

https://dx.doi.org/10.3746%2Fpnf.2018.23.3.171
https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/30386744
https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/?term=Aoun%20A%5BAuthor%5D&cauthor=true&cauthor_uid=30386744
https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/?term=Darwiche%20F%5BAuthor%5D&cauthor=true&cauthor_uid=30386744
https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/?term=Al%20Hayek%20S%5BAuthor%5D&cauthor=true&cauthor_uid=30386744
https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/?term=Doumit%20J%5BAuthor%5D&cauthor=true&cauthor_uid=30386744
https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/labs/pmc/articles/PMC6195894/
https://ncbiinsights.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/2022/01/27/updated-pmc/


3/11/22, 11:11 AM The Fluoride Debate: The Pros and Cons of Fluoridation

https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC6195894/ 2/17

an adequate intake rather than recommended dietary allowance, because of the limited data available to
determine the population needs. The adequate intake for fluoride is 0.7 mg daily for toddlers, rising to
3 mg daily for adult women and 4 mg daily for adult men. It remains unclear whether fluoride is truly
essential, although fluoride may have some beneficial effects (2). Once taken up into bone, fluoride
appears to increase osteoblast activity and bone density, especially in the lumbar spine (7). Fluoride has
been suggested as a therapy for osteoporosis since the 1960s, but despite producing denser bone,
fracture risk is not reduced. Indeed, there is some evidence that nonvertebral fractures may be increased
(8). The only known association with low fluoride intake is the risk of dental caries, acting through
both pre-eruptive and post-eruptive mechanisms (5). The American Dental Association strongly
supports fluoridation of community drinking water supplies (4); however, strong contradictory opinions
also are held (9).

Dental caries is an infectious and multifactorial disease afflicting most people in industrialized and
developing countries. Fluoride reduces the incidence of dental caries and slows or reverses the
progression of existing lesions (10). Although pit and fissure sealants, meticulous oral hygiene, and
appropriate dietary practices contribute to caries prevention and control, the most effective and widely
used approaches include fluoride use (11).

The first ‘artificial’ water fluoridation for caries control was introduced in 1945 and 1946 in the United
States (US) and Canada, respectively, and it was expected that caries prevalence would be reduced by
as much as 50% (12). The success of water fluoridation in preventing and controlling dental caries led
to the development of several fluoride-containing products, including toothpaste, mouth rinse, dietary
supplements, and professionally applied or prescribed gel, foam, or varnish.

Much of the research on the efficacy and effectiveness of individual fluoride modalities in preventing
and controlling dental caries was conducted before 1980, when dental caries were more common and
more severe. Several modes of fluoride use have evolved, each with its own recommended
concentration, frequency of use, and dosage schedule. Simultaneously, recent resistance has been
growing worldwide against fluoridation, emphasizing the possible risk of toxicity. Thus, health-care
professionals and the public need guidance regarding the debate around fluoridation. This review
examines the different aspects of fluoridation, their effectiveness in dental caries prevention, and their
risks.

MODE OF ACTION

Fluoride works to control early dental caries in several ways. Due to its anticariogenic and
antimicrobial properties, the fluoride ion (F ) has been widely used in the treatment of dental caries.
The antibacterial action of fluoride is due to the acidification of the bacterial cytoplasm through the
formation of hydrogen ion (H ) and F  from hydrogen fluoride and the disruption of the bacterial
metabolism by inhibiting vital bacterial enzymes such as proton releasing adenosine triphosphatase and
enolase.

Moreover, the use of fluoride lowers the pH. Bacteria will thus use more energy to maintain a neutral
pH. Therefore, they will have less energy left to grow, reproduce and generate acid and
polysaccharides.

The mechanisms of fluoride oral action suggested by Ullah et al. (13) include the following: reduction
in de-mineralization of sound enamel by inhibiting microbial growth and metabolism; enhancement of
the remineralization and the recovery of demineralized enamel, and the formation of the fluorapatite
mineral phase that provides more resistance to demineralization and acid dissolution following acid
production by bacteria; inhibition of enzymes such as reduction of immunoglobulin A protease

−

+ −



3/11/22, 11:11 AM The Fluoride Debate: The Pros and Cons of Fluoridation

https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC6195894/ 3/17

synthesis; reduction in extracellular polysaccharide production which helps in decreasing bacterial
adherence to dental hard tissues. As fluoride concentrates in dental plaque, it inhibits the process by
which cariogenic bacteria metabolize carbohydrates to produce acid and adhesive polysaccharides.

The laboratory and epidemiologic research led to a better understanding of the way fluoride prevents
dental caries. Its predominant effect is post-eruptive and topical, and depends on the use of fluoride in
the right amount, in the right place and at the right time. Fluoride works primarily after teeth have
erupted, especially when small amounts of fluoride are maintained constantly in the mouth, and
specifically in dental plaque and saliva. Thus, not only children benefit from fluoride as was previously
assumed, but also adults since it is more readily taken up by demineralized enamel than by sound
enamel (11).

WATER FLUORIDATION

Fluoride is naturally found in fresh water. Its concentration depends on the geographical location and
source, and ranges from 0.01 ppm to a maximum of 100 ppm (13). In the 1930s, several studies
reported a low prevalence of dental caries among people consuming natural drinking-water with high
fluoride (14).

Water fluoridation, in which controlled amount of fluoride is added to the public water supply, was
considered one of the greatest successes in public health in the twentieth century (15), and one of the
most popular methods of delivering fluoride systemically to a large population with no need for its
active participation (13). It is actually practiced in many countries throughout the world. In 1945,
public water fluoridation was implemented for the first time in the US, and was recommended by the
World Health Organization (WHO) as the main delivery method of fluoride to improve oral health (16).
By 2012, more than 435 million people worldwide had access to either naturally fluoridated water
(about 57 million) or water with adjusted fluoride concentrations at or near optimal level (about 378
million). Some of these countries include the US, Brazil, Australia, Canada, Spain, Argentina, South
Korea, and New Zealand (17).

Over the past 60 years, research studies conducted in several countries were remarkably consistent in
demonstrating substantial reductions in caries prevalence as a result of water fluoridation. Prior to
1990, around 113 studies on the effectiveness of artificial water fluoridation were conducted in 23
countries, and recorded a modal percent caries reduction of 40~50% in primary teeth and 50~60% in
permanent teeth. More recent systematic reviews summarizing the extensive data have confirmed that
water fluoridation substantially reduces the prevalence and incidence of dental caries in primary and
permanent teeth (14). Another review of studies conducted between 1990 and 2010 in 10 countries on
individuals ranging from 3 to 44 years of age reported average caries reductions of 30~59% and
40~49% in primary and permanent teeth, respectively (14). The fluoride action in the prevention of
dental caries was predominantly posteruptive and topical (14).

Large sections of the population in developed countries are suffering from fluorosis as a result of the
fluoridation of drinking water and dental products. Between 1999 and 2004, the prevalence of dental
fluorosis was 41% in American adolescents aged 12~15 years (13). To minimize fluoride toxicity, the
concentration of fluoride in drinking water has been controlled to attain the recommended level of
0.8~1.0 ppm (13).

Although water fluoridation is the most widely used public health measure for caries prevention, less
than 10% of the world’s population has access to this intervention, as it is not feasible in many areas
because of the nature of water supplies (10).



3/11/22, 11:11 AM The Fluoride Debate: The Pros and Cons of Fluoridation

https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC6195894/ 4/17

MILK FLUORIDATION

Milk constitutes an essential food in early life and continues to provide benefits from childhood and
adolescence up until and through old age. According to O’Mullane et al. (14), the concept of milk as a
vehicle for fluoride emerged in the early 1950s and was first investigated almost simultaneously in
Switzerland, the US, and Japan (18). Since 1986, programs aiming to validate the feasibility for
community use of fluoridated milk for caries prevention were promoted and supported by the WHO
International Programme for Milk Fluoridation (14). At present, milk fluoridation programmes,
supported by the WHO and Food and Agriculture Organization, are running continuously in about 15
countries and various channels are used to provide fluoridated milk to children attending kindergarten
and school.

The bioavailability of fluoride in milk and the biological plausibility of milk fluoridation were
demonstrated by a significant amount of non-clinical published research. Four systematic reviews have
been published on the clinical effectiveness of milk fluoridation in preventing dental caries. The first
three reviews found that all studies reported a reduction in dental decay among those
consuming/receiving fluoridated milk (19–21). However, the fourth wider-ranging review, including 18
studies conducted in 12 countries, found that only nine studies demonstrated caries prevention in
primary teeth and 12 in the permanent dentition (22). A very recent study, conducted in Bulgaria, also
showed that fluoridated milk delivered on a daily basis to children in schools resulted in substantially
lowering caries development compared to children receiving milk with no added fluoride (23). In
general, milk fluoridation is effective in the prevention of dental caries. In order to protect and reduce
caries in primary teeth, it was recommended that fluoridated milk should be consumed by children
early on, preferably before the age of 4 years, and at the eruption of their first permanent molars (24).
Currently, more than one and a half million children worldwide consume fluoridated milk (24) and
considerable knowledge on practical aspects of fluoridation was provided by the experience gained in
this international program.

The daily dosage of fluoride per child varies from 0.50 mg to 0.85 mg (14). Children are advised to
drink around 200 mL of fluoridated milk per day for about 200 days per year (22). Given that the dose
is constant and related to age and background fluoride exposure, the risk of adverse effects is very low
(22). However, milk fluoridation is a less efficient method for delivery of fluoride when compared to
water fluoridation. The fluoride added to milk forms insoluble complexes that make fluoride absorption
difficult (14).

The addition of fluoride to milk is a simple process and the costs of fluoridated and non-fluoridated
milk are usually the same. Overall, the annual cost of the programs in Chile, Thailand, and the United
Kingdom (UK) is around 2 to 3 US dollars per child (22,25,26).

SALT FLUORIDATION

The fact that the lower social strata consistently show the highest levels of caries in the population has
so far remained an unsolved problem (12). The availability of water fluoridation to a large proportion
of the world’s population is prevented by various political, geographical, financial, and technical
reasons such as few central water systems and inappropriate water infrastructure. Based on the
successful use of iodized salt in preventing goiter, fluoridated salt was initiated in 1955 in Switzerland
to lower the risk of dental caries (17). This practice was facilitated by the following: 1) the successful
community trials, 2) WHO and Fédération Dentaire Internationale World Dental Federation
recommendations, 3) the approval of the European Union on sodium and potassium fluoride as food
additives, and 4) the adaptation to local political, technological, and cultural environments (19). In



3/11/22, 11:11 AM The Fluoride Debate: The Pros and Cons of Fluoridation

https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC6195894/ 5/17

1980~82, adding fluoride to table salt was authorized for human consumption (12). Fluoridated salt
reaches the consumer through several channels including domestic salt, meals at schools, large kitchens
and in bread, and exerts both systemic and topical effects (14).

Effectiveness in caries prevention

Research studies initiated in the early seventies showed that fluoride, when added to salt, inhibits dental
caries (12).

The first studies that assessed the effects of fluoride added to ingested salt on the incidence and
prevalence of dental caries were carried out from 1965 to 1985 in Colombia, Hungary, and
Switzerland. The results were similar to those observed with fluoridated water (14). The number of
teeth affected by caries was reduced by approximately 50 percent. The beneficial effect of fluoridated
salt in reducing dental caries was also observed among Hungarian adults in a study (1991) including
the following: 1) one group who were lifetime residents in a community with access to 1.1 ppm of
natural fluoride in drinking water (N=205; lowest caries experience), 2) another group who had access
to fluoridated salt between 1966 and 1985 (N=213; intermediate caries experience), and 3) a third
group who had minimal fluoride exposure (N=258; highest caries experience) (17). A further study,
conducted by Sagheri et al. (27) in two communities (Dublin and Freiburg) with different oral health
prevention strategies (water fluoridation and salt fluoridation), confirmed that both water and salt
fluoridation reduced the gap in dental caries experience between middle and lower social classes. Thus,
salt fluoridation can be considered a good strategy in preventing or reducing the levels of dental caries,
especially where water fluoridation is not feasible. On the contrary, Armfield (9) stated that the
effectiveness of fluoridated salt is doubtful since no randomized clinical trials were conducted to prove
its efficacy.

Fluoride concentration in salt

Salt fluoridation comprises the addition of a mixture of potassium fluoride and sodium fluoride to
domestic or table salt to reach a concentration of 250~300 mg of fluoride/kg salt (15). At this
concentration, the level of fluoride in saliva is very similar to that found in the saliva of individuals
exposed to water fluoridation at 1 mg/L. In order to achieve a meaningful effect on caries control, the
minimal acceptable level of fluoride is 200 mg/kg salt. Moreover, urine is used as a biomarker to
monitor salt fluoridation compliance and possible excessive fluoride ingestion by individuals (17).

Domestic salt fluoridation is found to be a suitable automatic method for caries prevention. A regular
and continuous consumption of domestic salt containing 250 mg of fluoride/kg significantly reduces
caries in both deciduous and permanent teeth. The degree of caries reduction depends on the
concentration of fluoride in salt. A domestic salt with 200 mg of fluoride/kg has a lower caries
reduction than that with 250 mg of fluoride/kg. The best results are observed when domestic salt
contains 350 mg of fluoride/kg. There are no side effects or significantly mottled enamel in any of the
three experimental groups using salt with different concentrations: 200, 250, or 350 mg of fluoride/kg,
when compared to a control group using no fluoridated salt (10).

Availability

Salt fluoridation is a well-established public means for delivery of fluoride. According to Yeung (19),
fluoridated salt is available in several countries including 12 in the American continent and 8 in
Europe. It has been used mainly in Europe for decades, and increasingly since the early 1990s in South
and Central America. Salt fluoridation has recently been adopted in some Asian countries including



3/11/22, 11:11 AM The Fluoride Debate: The Pros and Cons of Fluoridation

https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC6195894/ 6/17

Cambodia and Laos, and also implemented in an African country, Madagascar (17). Presently, 300
million people worldwide are using fluoridated salt, including 200 million in Latin America (available
in nearly all countries except Brazil, Chile, and Panama) and 70~80 million in Europe (15).

Nowadays, according to Pollick (17), there are national regulations or authorizations for the production
and marketing of fluoridated salt in eight European countries: Austria, Czech Republic, France,
Germany (67% of domestic salt consumed is fluoridated), Romania, Slovakia, Spain, and Switzerland
(85% of domestic salt consumed is fluoridated). In Europe, where there are major discounters, there are
safeguards regarding importation of fluoridated salt across borders. There are many variants of the
commercial distribution or “channels” that reach the consumer. These channels include domestic salt,
meals at schools, large kitchens, and food items such as bread.

The most extensive use of fluoridated salt is in Jamaica, Costa Rica, the canton of Vaud, and
Switzerland. In some Swiss cantons, France, and Germany, the domestic salt is the main basis for salt
fluoridation programs. Mapping of the natural fluoride content of water is necessary to keep salt
fluoridation away from regions where the fluoride content of water is higher than 0.7 ppm (17).

The impact on community coverage and health is affected by many factors such as distribution,
marketing, pricing, and implementation methods. For instance, Jamaica prohibited the importation and
sale of all non-fluoridated salt for human consumption and achieved reported caries reductions of up to
82% in 12-year-old (14). In Mexico, fluoridated and iodized salt and fluoridated water were used in
order to achieve national fluoride coverage for its population of 112 million. In Uruguay, it was
legislated that a specific percentage of domestic salt be fluoridated for human consumption. Depending
on national implementation methods, part of or entire populations may be covered. The minimum level
of implementation is fluoridation of domestic salt only, as practiced in France and Germany. Various
levels of implementation concerning multiple products containing fluoride are in place in Costa Rica,
Jamaica, and Switzerland. Population coverage is almost complete when salts used in bakeries,
institutions, and domestically, are fluoridated. When only a portion of households use fluoridated salt,
consumers retain the capacity to choose between different types of salt, however, the reduction of
fluoride intake through salt may impact negatively on communities’ dental health (14).

Concerns about salt use

One point of concern is the possibility of contraindication, from the perspective of general public
health, when promoting salt fluoridation, because excessive salt consumption is linked to hypertension.
Yet the usual behavior leading to benefits does not need to be changed by people, and if a decline in
salt consumption is indicated, an increase in fluoride concentration could be considered. Essential
hypertension is estimated to be uncommon among communities or groups who usually consume low-
salt diets (<5 g NaCl/person/d). Estimates of normal daily salt requirements for adults range up to 15
g/d. The available margin of safety regarding fluoride intake from fluoridated salt is wide. Fluoride
intake from fluoridated salt can range from 0.5 to 0.75 mg/d. The upper tolerable limit for fluoride
intake is estimated to be 0.12 mg/kg/d, which is equivalent to about 5 mg/d for 9 to 14-year-old
children and 7 mg/d for 15-year-old and older people, including pregnant and lactating women. No
adverse health effects have been reported when using fluoridated salt, or when combining iodide and
fluoride in salt (17). However, combining both salt and water fluoridation is not recommended.

Costs of salt fluoridation



3/11/22, 11:11 AM The Fluoride Debate: The Pros and Cons of Fluoridation

https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC6195894/ 7/17

For the initial process of implementation, the equipment costs of salt fluoridation are similar to those
for water fluoridation. However, during operation, the estimated cost of salt fluoridation is 10 to 100
times lower than that associated with water fluoridation programs (17). Thus, costs are minimal and
coverage can be universal. The collaboration between health authorities, salt processors, distributors,
and the community is indispensable for an effective program implementation. Benefits are considerably
higher than the investment required for implementing the program as determined by cost-benefit
studies comparing anticipated fluoridation costs versus economic resources no longer needed on dental
treatment after implementation of salt fluoridation. In different countries, the price of fluoridated salt
varies considerably, in comparison with iodized or non-iodized salt, and depends on local policies,
regulations, and the fluctuations of the market (14).

Moreover, a recent review shows that, in some circumstances, salt fluoridation is a more cost-effective
caries preventive method for children than either water or milk fluoridation or fluoridated mouth rinses
(15).

The cost of salt fluoridation is very low, it ranges from 0.02 to 0.05 euros per year per capita. Children
and adults from low socio-economic strata tend to have substantially more untreated caries than those
from higher strata. Salt fluoridation is by far the cheapest method for improving oral health (12). 
Table 1 describes several characteristics of the different fluoridation methods.

https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC6195894/table/t1-pnfs-23-171/


3/11/22, 11:11 AM The Fluoride Debate: The Pros and Cons of Fluoridation

https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC6195894/ 8/17

Table 1

Fluoridation methods

Water fluoridation Milk fluoridation Salt fluoridation

Foundation First implemented in
1945 in USA (16).

Emerged in the early
1950s and was first
investigated in
Switzerland, the USA,
and Japan (18).

Initiated in Switzerland in 1955 (17).

Supporting
bodies

Recommended by the
WHO (16).

Supported by the WHO
and FAO (14).

Supported by community trials, WHO,
FDI World Dental Federation
recommendations and others (19).

Accessibility More than 435 million
people worldwide have
access to either
naturally or artificially
fluoridated water (17).

More than one and a
half million children
worldwide currently
consume fluoridated
milk (24).

Presently, 300 million people
worldwide use fluoridated salt (15).

Benefits Substantially reduces
the prevalence and
incidence of dental
caries in primary and
permanent teeth (14).

Effective in caries
prevention in primary
and permanent teeth
(22,23).

Inhibits dental caries (12); however,
the effectiveness of fluoridated salt is
uncertain since no randomized clinical
trials were conducted to prove its
efficacy (9).

Dosage Fluoride concentration
in natural water ranges
from 0.01 to 100 ppm
(13).

Daily dosage varies
from 0.50 mg to 0.85
mg fluoride/child with
children drinking
around 200 mL of
fluoridated milk/d for

about 200 days per year
(14).

Fluoride concentration ranges from
250~300 mg/kg of table salt (15).

Feasibility Less than 10% of the
world’s population is
able to have access to
fluoridated water (10).

It is a simple process
and the cost of
fluoridated milk is
usually the same as
non-fluoridated milk
(25).

During operation, the estimated cost is
10 to 100 times lower than that
associated with water fluoridation
programs (17).

Efficiency Considered more Fluoride added to milk In some circumstances salt fluoridation

Open in a separate window

WHO, World Health Organization; FAO, Food and Agriculture Organization; FDI, Fédération Dentaire
Internationale.

https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC6195894/table/t1-pnfs-23-171/?report=objectonly


3/11/22, 11:11 AM The Fluoride Debate: The Pros and Cons of Fluoridation

https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC6195894/ 9/17

COMBINATION OF MULTIPLE FLUORIDE SOURCES

Combining several methods of self-administered topical fluoride products with water fluoridation will
lead to caries reduction benefits greater than when using only one method. Having a dose-response
relationship, the exposure to multiple sources of fluoride, especially in lower concentrations
administered daily, increases the caries reduction benefits. Combining topical fluoride products with
the consumption of fluoridated water will benefit high-risk patients (28).

As with fluoridated water, there has been some concern about the simultaneous combination of fluoride
ingested from both salt and toothpaste. Available data suggest that this combination has not resulted in
objectionable enamel fluorosis levels. However, observations of increased mild dental fluorosis were
seen in children who consumed fluoride tablets and fluoridated salt (17).

Thus, the statement that combining topical fluorides use and fluoridated water intake will cause
fluorosis in the adult patient is uncertain. Fluorosis occurs only when fluoride is ingested in excessive
amounts during the late secretion to the early maturation stage of enamel formation in the course of
tooth development. Once tooth development is complete, any amount of topical fluoride exposure,
whether in combination with fluoridated water or not, is not a risk factor for fluorosis. Children should
be supervised when using topical products since swallowing some doses of these products regularly
during tooth development has the potential to cause fluorosis (28).

INCREASING OPPOSITION TO FLUORIDATION

More than 80% of fluoride toxicity is seen in children before the age of 6 years, due to ingestion of
fluoride-containing toothpaste or mouthwashes (29); it is rare in adults in the developed world. Acute
toxicity is characterized by nonspecific gastrointestinal disturbances such as pain, nausea, vomiting,
and diarrhea (30,31). In severe cases, this may progress to renal and cardiac dysfunction, coma, and
ultimately death (32). In children, as little as 8.4 mg/kg may produce symptoms (30). Chronic fluoride
toxicity is usually caused by high fluoride concentrations in drinking water or the use of fluoride
supplements. Chronic ingestion of high doses leads to dental fluorosis, a cosmetic disorder where the
teeth become mottled (1). In more severe cases, it leads to skeletal fluorosis, in which bone is
radiologically dense, but fragile. Fractures can occur, and there may be calcification of ligaments and
tendons, leading to reduced joint mobility (1). The syndrome also may include extensive calcification
of ligaments and cartilage, as well as the bony outgrowths of osteophytes and exostoses (33).

In Europe, only Ireland, Poland, Serbia, Spain, and the UK fluoridate their water. However, most
developed countries, including Japan and 97% of the European population, do not consume fluoridated
water (34). In Europe, only four countries have optional salt fluoridation (Germany, France,
Switzerland, and Austria), while the majority have neither fluoridated water nor fluoridated salt (34). In
the US, about 70% of public water supplies are fluoridated (34). India, China, and parts of Africa have
areas with high natural fluoride levels in their water, and are taking measures to remove the fluoride
since it may cause health problems (34). Fluoridation has been debated in recent years, and several
countries are taking measures to reduce fluoride intake because of its toxicity risk and many other
concerns (Table 2) mentioned below:

https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC6195894/table/t2-pnfs-23-171/


3/11/22, 11:11 AM The Fluoride Debate: The Pros and Cons of Fluoridation

https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC6195894/ 10/17

Table 2

Increasing opposition to fluoridation

Reasons to oppose fluoridation References

Fluoride intake through fluoridated water is uncontrollable, since people are receiving varying
doses regardless of age, health status, and individualized therapy.

35

Water might get contaminated with toxic chemicals while being fluoridated.
 

Not all countries provide certificates of analysis and the amounts of contaminants in chemicals
added to water.

37

Excessive fluoride intake may cause dental fluorosis. 50

Studies on animals and humans concerning fluoride intake showed neurotoxic, nephrotoxic, and
other adverse effects even when small doses are administered.

39, 40, 43,
48

Fluoride can be received from sources other than fluoridated water, including ingested
(mechanically deboned meat, pesticide residue, and tea) and non-ingested products (fluoridated
toothpaste).

52, 53, 55

The fluoride benefit is topical rather than systemic, so it is better to be directly delivered to the
teeth.

56

In fluoridated low-income countries, tooth decay is widely spread and is mainly caused by the
absence of dental care and poor hygiene.

34

The effectiveness of fluoridation was not validated by any randomized controlled trial.
 

The US Food and Drug Administration have classified fluoride as an “unapproved new drug”.
 

As of January 2012, over 4,000 professionals have signed a memorandum to end water
fluoridation worldwide.

58, 60, 61

Open in a separate window

– Once water is fluoridated, it is difficult to control excessive fluoride intake, as people drink
different amounts of water. For instance, manual laborers, patients (i.e., diabetics), athletes, and
so forth, need and may consume a higher amount of water compared to other people (34).
Accordingly, excess in fluoride intake can affect anyone regardless of age, health status, and
individualized therapy (35). For example, children are receiving the same amount of fluoride as
adults, and some patients (i.e., patients with kidney disease) are receiving the same dose as
healthy people. We must also keep in mind that the amount of fluoride added to water (1 ppm) is
up to 200 times higher than its amount in breast milk (0.005~0.01 ppm) (36).

– Moreover, while fluoridating water, contamination with toxic chemicals can probably occur
(i.e., arsenic). Although all suppliers are required to provide certificates of analysis and the
amounts of contaminants in chemicals added to water as in some countries such as New Zealand
(37), this is not always the case all over the world.

– In addition, several animal and human studies on fluoride show some neurotoxic (38–42) and
nephrotoxic (43) effects. Other negative effects of fluoride, even when administered in small
doses (starting 0.3 ppm), occur on the levels of the thyroid function (44), the skeletal system

https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC6195894/table/t2-pnfs-23-171/?report=objectonly


3/11/22, 11:11 AM The Fluoride Debate: The Pros and Cons of Fluoridation

https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC6195894/ 11/17

(45,46) and the reproductive system (47–49).

– Another major concern caused by excessive fluoride intake is dental fluorosis, which can range
from mild to severe, as proved by the 2010 CDC report on fluorosis among children (50), but the
2009 New Zealand Oral Health Survey found similar cases of fluorosis in both fluoridated and
non-fluoridated countries (51). However, this might not be the case everywhere.

– Nowadays, people receive fluoride from many sources other than fluoridated water. These
sources include ingested products such as mechanically deboned meat (52), tea (53), pesticide
residues on food (54), and non-ingested products like fluoridated dental products (55).

– The fluoride benefit is topical rather than systemic (11,56,57), hence, it is better to deliver
fluoride directly to the tooth using the toothpaste instead of ingesting it (34)

– Furthermore, tooth decay is widely spread in fluoridated low-income countries where the
absence of dental care and poor hygiene are the main causes of dental decay (34).

– It is important to note that there are no randomized controlled trials to validate the
effectiveness of fluoridation (58). In 2000, none of the studies on fluoridation received a Grade A
classification by the British Government’s “York Review” (59). Correspondingly, fluoride is
classified as an “unapproved new drug” by the US Food and Drug Administration (60). As of
January 2012, over 4,000 professionals have signed a memorandum to end water fluoridation
worldwide (61).

CASE STUDY: SALT FLUORIDATION IN LEBANON

In 1994, a national Oral Health Survey was conducted in Lebanon and showed a high prevalence of
dental caries in all age groups (62), which consequently encouraged the Ministry of Health (MOH) to
work on the introduction of a massive oral health preventive program, particularly through systemic
fluoride supplementation (63). Salt fluoridation was chosen as an alternative to water fluoridation
deemed a non-feasible approach in Lebanon. On the third of September 2011, the Lebanese parliament
approved the salt fluoridation law number 178 mandating that all table and kitchen salts in Lebanon be
fluoridated by potassium fluoride at a concentration of 250 mg/kg salt. The law was supposed to come
into effect on December 2014, but it stirred up controversy among the Lebanese population (64). On
the one hand, supporters of the law argued that salt fluoridation can help reduce tooth decay especially
since its rate in Lebanese children was among the highest in the world. On the other hand, their
opponents claimed that fluoride is toxic and that various adverse effects may be caused by its addition
to salt, thus questioning whether the assumed dental benefits outweigh the risks.

In order to reflect on the levels of fluoride exposure and intake in Lebanon, a number of local Lebanese
studies, supported by the MOH, have been conducted among Lebanese school children. The results
showed that the Lebanese population was not exposed to sufficient fluoride (62). However, the studies
had several limitations, including a narrow age range, and 15 of the tested water sources (2 of which
fall within an industrial zone) had fluoride concentrations within or above the minimum recommended
level of 0.5 mg/L fluoride in water (20,65). Moreover, a significant amount of fluoride surpassing the
estimated safe and adequate intake is being consumed by the Lebanese population through non-milk
products (especially tea), as shown by Jurdi et al. (66). No data were found regarding local and
imported foods which contain high levels of fluoride (67). Furthermore, it was found that a subgroup of
the Lebanese population suffers from mild iodine deficiency (68,69) which can be aggravated in the
presence of fluoride (64).



3/11/22, 11:11 AM The Fluoride Debate: The Pros and Cons of Fluoridation

https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC6195894/ 12/17

Therefore, for all these reasons, the Lebanese law number 178 of salt fluoridation was not clearly
applied.

CONCLUSION

Dental treatments are expensive throughout the world. The cost of dentistry has hardly been reduced,
even in countries where the decline in caries began 30 years ago. Thus, extension of preventive
dentistry is still indispensable for improving oral health (12). The absence of dental care and poor
hygiene are still considered the main causes of dental decay (34). Although multifactorial in origin,
caries is a preventable disease, with fluoride as a preventive agent used worldwide. Several modes of
fluoride use have evolved, each with its own recommended concentration, frequency of use, and
dosage schedule. Concurrently, recent opposition has been growing worldwide against fluoridation,
emphasizing the potential and serious risk of toxicity. Since the fluoride benefit is mainly topical,
perhaps it is better to deliver fluoride directly to the tooth instead of ingesting it (34). Fluoride
toothpaste, rinses and varnish applications have proven their effectiveness in some countries, but they
are still not universally affordable.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

The authors would like to thank Dr. Charbel El Amm and Mr. Andres Rodrigues for their precious
assistance in editing and finalizing the manuscript.

Footnotes
AUTHOR DISCLOSURE STATEMENT

The authors declare no conflict of interest.

REFERENCES

1. Stamp TC. Fluoride. In: Macrae R, Robinson RK, Sadler MJ, editors. Encyclopaedia of food science,
food technology and nutrition. Academic Press; London, UK: 1993. p. 1932. [Google Scholar]

2. National Research Council. Recommended dietary allowances. 10th ed. The National Academies
Press; Washington, DC, USA: 1989. pp. 235–240. [Google Scholar]

3. National Research Council. Fluoride in drinking water: a scientific review of EPA’s standards. The
National Academies Press; Washington, DC, USA: 2006. p. 74. [Google Scholar]

4. American Dental Association. [accessed Nov 2017];ADA Fluoridation Policy.
www.ada.org/en/public-programs/advocating-for-the-public/fluoride-and-fluoridation/ada-fluoridation-
policy.

5. Palmer CA, Gilbert JA. Position of the academy of nutrition and dietetics: the impact of fluoride on
health. J Acad Nutr Diet. 2012;112:1443–1453. doi: 10.1016/j.jand.2012.07.012. [PubMed] [CrossRef]
[Google Scholar]

6. Whitford GM. Fluoride metabolism and excretion in children. J Public Health Dent. 1999;59:224–
228. doi: 10.1111/j.1752-7325.1999.tb03273.x. [PubMed] [CrossRef] [Google Scholar]

7. Meunier PJ, Sebert JL, Reginster JY, Briancon D, Appelboom T, Netter P, Loeb G, Rouillon A,
Barry S, Evreux JC, Avouac B, Marchandise X The FAVOStudy Group. Fluoride salts are no better at
preventing new vertebral fractures than calcium-vitamin D in postmenopausal osteoporosis: The

https://scholar.google.com/scholar_lookup?title=Encyclopaedia+of+food+science,+food+technology+and+nutrition&author=TC+Stamp&publication_year=1993&
https://scholar.google.com/scholar_lookup?title=Recommended+dietary+allowances&publication_year=1989&
https://scholar.google.com/scholar_lookup?title=Fluoride+in+drinking+water:+a+scientific+review+of+EPA%E2%80%99s+standards&publication_year=2006&
http://www.ada.org/en/public-programs/advocating-for-the-public/fluoride-and-fluoridation/ada-fluoridation-policy
https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/22939444
https://dx.doi.org/10.1016%2Fj.jand.2012.07.012
https://scholar.google.com/scholar_lookup?journal=J+Acad+Nutr+Diet&title=Position+of+the+academy+of+nutrition+and+dietetics:+the+impact+of+fluoride+on+health&author=CA+Palmer&author=JA+Gilbert&volume=112&publication_year=2012&pages=1443-1453&pmid=22939444&doi=10.1016/j.jand.2012.07.012&
https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/10682327
https://dx.doi.org/10.1111%2Fj.1752-7325.1999.tb03273.x
https://scholar.google.com/scholar_lookup?journal=J+Public+Health+Dent&title=Fluoride+metabolism+and+excretion+in+children&author=GM+Whitford&volume=59&publication_year=1999&pages=224-228&pmid=10682327&doi=10.1111/j.1752-7325.1999.tb03273.x&


3/11/22, 11:11 AM The Fluoride Debate: The Pros and Cons of Fluoridation

https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC6195894/ 13/17

FAVOStudy. Osteoporosis Int. 1998;8:4–12. doi: 10.1007/s001980050041. [PubMed] [CrossRef]
[Google Scholar]

8. Haguenauer D, Welch V, Shea B, Tugwell P, Wells G. Fluoride for treating postmenopausal
osteoporosis. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2000;2000:CD002825. [PMC free article] [PubMed]
[Google Scholar]

9. Armfield JM. When public action undermines public health: a critical examination of
antifluoridationist literature. Aust New Zealand Health Policy. 2007;4:25. doi: 10.1186/1743-8462-4-
25. [PMC free article] [PubMed] [CrossRef] [Google Scholar]

10. Madléna M, Lipták L. Prevention of dental caries with fluorides in Hungary. Paediatrics Today.
2014;10:84–94. doi: 10.5457/p2005-114.94. [CrossRef] [Google Scholar]

11. CDC. [accessed Dec 2017];Recommendations for using fluoride to prevent and control dental
caries in the United States. https://www.cdc.gov/mmwr/preview/mmwrhtml/rr5014a1.htm#top.

12. Marthaler TM. Salt fluoridation and oral health. Acta Med Acad. 2013;42:140–155. [PubMed]
[Google Scholar]

13. Ullah R, Zafar MS. Oral and dental delivery of fluoride: a review. Fluoride. 2015;48:195–204.
[Google Scholar]

14. O’Mullane DM, Baez RJ, Jones S, Lennon MA, Petersen PE, Rugg-Gunn AJ, Whelton H, Whitford
GM. Fluoride and oral health. Community Dent Health. 2016;33:69–99. [PubMed] [Google Scholar]

15. Barker JC, Guerra C, Gonzalez-Vargas MJ, Hoeft KS. Acceptability of salt fluoridation in a rural
latino community in the United States: an ethnographic study. PLoS One. 2016;11:e0158540.
doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0158540. [PMC free article] [PubMed] [CrossRef] [Google Scholar]

16. Arnold FA, Jr, Dean HT, Jay P, Knutson JW. Effect of fluoridated public water supplies on dental
caries prevalence. 1956. Bull World Health Organ. 2006;84:761–764. [PMC free article] [PubMed]
[Google Scholar]

17. Pollick HF. Salt fluoridation: a review. J Calif Dent Assoc. 2013;41:395–397. 400–404. [PubMed]
[Google Scholar]

18. Bánóczy J, Rugg-Gunn AJ. Milk – a vehicle for fluorides: a review. Clin Pesq Odontol.
2006;2:415–426. [Google Scholar]

19. Yeung CA. Efficacy of salt fluoridation. Evid Based Dent. 2011;12:17–18.
doi: 10.1038/sj.ebd.6400776. [PubMed] [CrossRef] [Google Scholar]

20. National Research Council. Fluoride in drinking water: a scientific review of EPA’s standards. The
National Academies Press; Washington, DC, USA: 2006. pp. 85–106. [Google Scholar]

21. Cagetti MG, Campus G, Milia E, Lingström P. A systematic review on fluoridated food in caries
prevention. Acta Odontol Scand. 2013;71:381–387. doi: 10.3109/00016357.2012.690447. [PubMed]
[CrossRef] [Google Scholar]

22. Bánóczy J, Rugg-Gunn A, Woodward M. Milk fluoridation for the prevention of dental caries. Acta
Med Acad. 2013;42:156–167. [PubMed] [Google Scholar]

23. Petersen PE, Kwan S, Ogawa H. Long-term evaluation of the clinical effectiveness of community
milk fluoridation in Bulgaria. Community Dent Health. 2015;32:199–203. [PubMed] [Google Scholar]

https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/9692071
https://dx.doi.org/10.1007%2Fs001980050041
https://scholar.google.com/scholar_lookup?journal=Osteoporosis+Int&title=Fluoride+salts+are+no+better+at+preventing+new+vertebral+fractures+than+calcium-vitamin+D+in+postmenopausal+osteoporosis:+The+FAVOStudy&author=PJ+Meunier&author=JL+Sebert&author=JY+Reginster&author=D+Briancon&author=T+Appelboom&volume=8&publication_year=1998&pages=4-12&doi=10.1007/s001980050041&
https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC8453489/
https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/11034769
https://scholar.google.com/scholar_lookup?journal=Cochrane+Database+Syst+Rev&title=Fluoride+for+treating+postmenopausal+osteoporosis&author=D+Haguenauer&author=V+Welch&author=B+Shea&author=P+Tugwell&author=G+Wells&volume=2000&publication_year=2000&pages=CD002825&
https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC2222595/
https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/18067684
https://dx.doi.org/10.1186%2F1743-8462-4-25
https://scholar.google.com/scholar_lookup?journal=Aust+New+Zealand+Health+Policy&title=When+public+action+undermines+public+health:+a+critical+examination+of+antifluoridationist+literature&author=JM+Armfield&volume=4&publication_year=2007&pages=25&pmid=18067684&doi=10.1186/1743-8462-4-25&
https://dx.doi.org/10.5457%2Fp2005-114.94
https://scholar.google.com/scholar_lookup?journal=Paediatrics+Today&title=Prevention+of+dental+caries+with+fluorides+in+Hungary&author=M+Madl%C3%A9na&author=L+Lipt%C3%A1k&volume=10&publication_year=2014&pages=84-94&doi=10.5457/p2005-114.94&
https://www.cdc.gov/mmwr/preview/mmwrhtml/rr5014a1.htm#top
https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/24308394
https://scholar.google.com/scholar_lookup?journal=Acta+Med+Acad&title=Salt+fluoridation+and+oral+health&author=TM+Marthaler&volume=42&publication_year=2013&pages=140-155&pmid=24308394&
https://scholar.google.com/scholar_lookup?journal=Fluoride&title=Oral+and+dental+delivery+of+fluoride:+a+review&author=R+Ullah&author=MS+Zafar&volume=48&publication_year=2015&pages=195-204&
https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/27352462
https://scholar.google.com/scholar_lookup?journal=Community+Dent+Health&title=Fluoride+and+oral+health&author=DM+O%E2%80%99Mullane&author=RJ+Baez&author=S+Jones&author=MA+Lennon&author=PE+Petersen&volume=33&publication_year=2016&pages=69-99&pmid=27352462&
https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC4938551/
https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/27391112
https://dx.doi.org/10.1371%2Fjournal.pone.0158540
https://scholar.google.com/scholar_lookup?journal=PLoS+One&title=Acceptability+of+salt+fluoridation+in+a+rural+latino+community+in+the+United+States:+an+ethnographic+study&author=JC+Barker&author=C+Guerra&author=MJ+Gonzalez-Vargas&author=KS+Hoeft&volume=11&publication_year=2016&pages=e0158540&pmid=27391112&doi=10.1371/journal.pone.0158540&
https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC2627464/
https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/17136816
https://scholar.google.com/scholar_lookup?journal=Bull+World+Health+Organ&title=Effect+of+fluoridated+public+water+supplies+on+dental+caries+prevalence.+1956&author=FA+Arnold&author=HT+Dean&author=P+Jay&author=JW+Knutson&volume=84&publication_year=2006&pages=761-764&pmid=17136816&
https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/23875431
https://scholar.google.com/scholar_lookup?journal=J+Calif+Dent+Assoc&title=Salt+fluoridation:+a+review&author=HF+Pollick&volume=41&publication_year=2013&pages=395-397&pmid=23875431&
https://scholar.google.com/scholar_lookup?journal=Clin+Pesq+Odontol&title=Milk+%E2%80%93+a+vehicle+for+fluorides:+a+review&author=J+B%C3%A1n%C3%B3czy&author=AJ+Rugg-Gunn&volume=2&publication_year=2006&pages=415-426&
https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/21436859
https://dx.doi.org/10.1038%2Fsj.ebd.6400776
https://scholar.google.com/scholar_lookup?journal=Evid+Based+Dent&title=Efficacy+of+salt+fluoridation&author=CA+Yeung&volume=12&publication_year=2011&pages=17-18&pmid=21436859&doi=10.1038/sj.ebd.6400776&
https://scholar.google.com/scholar_lookup?title=Fluoride+in+drinking+water:+a+scientific+review+of+EPA%E2%80%99s+standards&publication_year=2006&
https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/22827733
https://dx.doi.org/10.3109%2F00016357.2012.690447
https://scholar.google.com/scholar_lookup?journal=Acta+Odontol+Scand&title=A+systematic+review+on+fluoridated+food+in+caries+prevention&author=MG+Cagetti&author=G+Campus&author=E+Milia&author=P+Lingstr%C3%B6m&volume=71&publication_year=2013&pages=381-387&pmid=22827733&doi=10.3109/00016357.2012.690447&
https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/24308395
https://scholar.google.com/scholar_lookup?journal=Acta+Med+Acad&title=Milk+fluoridation+for+the+prevention+of+dental+caries&author=J+B%C3%A1n%C3%B3czy&author=A+Rugg-Gunn&author=M+Woodward&volume=42&publication_year=2013&pages=156-167&pmid=24308395&
https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/26738215
https://scholar.google.com/scholar_lookup?journal=Community+Dent+Health&title=Long-term+evaluation+of+the+clinical+effectiveness+of+community+milk+fluoridation+in+Bulgaria&author=PE+Petersen&author=S+Kwan&author=H+Ogawa&volume=32&publication_year=2015&pages=199-203&pmid=26738215&


3/11/22, 11:11 AM The Fluoride Debate: The Pros and Cons of Fluoridation

https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC6195894/ 14/17

24. Bánóczy J, Edgar M, Petersen PE, Rugg-Gunn AJ, Villa A, Woodward M. In: Milk fluoridation for
the prevention of dental caries. Bánóczy J, Petersen PE, Rugg-Gunn AJ, editors. WHO Press; Geneva,
Switzerland: 2009. pp. 156–167. [Google Scholar]

25. Woodward SM, Ketley CE, Pealing R, West J, Lennon MA. School milk as a vehicle for fluoride in
the United Kingdom. An interim report. Community Dent Health. 2001;18:150–156. [PubMed]
[Google Scholar]

26. Marinho VC, Worthington HV, Walsh T, Clarkson JE. Fluoride varnishes for preventing dental
caries in children and adolescents. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2013
doi: 10.1002/14651858.CD002279.pub2. [PubMed] [CrossRef] [Google Scholar]

27. Sagheri D, McLoughlin J, Clarkson JJ. A comparison of dental caries levels in two communities
with different oral health prevention strategies stratified in different social classes. J Public Health
Dent. 2007;67:1–7. doi: 10.1111/j.1752-7325.2007.00002.x. [PubMed] [CrossRef] [Google Scholar]

28. Bennett BL. Mosby’s review questions for the national board dental hygiene examination. 1st ed.
Elsevier Inc; St.Louis, MO, USA: 2014. p. 237. [Google Scholar]

29. Martínez-Mier EA. Fluoride: its metabolism, toxicity, and role in dental health. J Evidence Based
Complementary Altern Med. 2012;17:28–32. doi: 10.1177/2156587211428076. [CrossRef]
[Google Scholar]

30. Augenstein WL, Spoerke DG, Kulig KW, Hall AH, Hall PK, Riggs BS, el Saadi M, Rumack BH.
Fluoride ingestion in children: a review of 87 cases. Pediatrics. 1991;88:907–912. [PubMed]
[Google Scholar]

31. Whitford GM. Acute toxicity of ingested fluoride. Monogr Oral Sci. 2011;22:66–80.
doi: 10.1159/000325146. [PubMed] [CrossRef] [Google Scholar]

32. Whitford GM. Acute and chronic fluoride toxicity. J Dent Res. 1992;71:1249–1254.
doi: 10.1177/00220345920710051901. [PubMed] [CrossRef] [Google Scholar]

33. Rackoff P. Skeletal fluorosis– a tricky diagnosis. Arthritis Rheumatol. 2015;67:2701.
doi: 10.1002/art.39237. [PubMed] [CrossRef] [Google Scholar]

34. Connett P. 50 reasons to oppose fluoridation. Medical Veritas. 2004;1:70–80.
doi: 10.1588/medver.2004.01.00014. [CrossRef] [Google Scholar]

35. Carlsson A. Current problems relating to the pharmacology and toxicology of fluorides. J Swedish
Med Assoc. 1978;14:1388–1392. [Google Scholar]

36. Ekstrand J, Boreus LO, de Chateau P. No evidence of transfer of fluoride from plasma to breast
milk. Br Med J. 1981;283:761–762. doi: 10.1136/bmj.283.6294.761. [PMC free article] [PubMed]
[CrossRef] [Google Scholar]

37. Water New Zealand. Water New Zealand good practice guide: supply of fluoride for use in water
treatment. 2nd ed. Water New Zealand; Wellington, New Zealand: 1997. pp. 1–18. [Google Scholar]

38. Varner JA, Jensen KF, Horvath W, Isaacson RL. Chronic administration of aluminum-fluoride or
sodium-fluoride to rats in drinking water: alterations in neuronal and cerebro-vascular integrity. Brain
Res. 1998;784:284–298. doi: 10.1016/S0006-8993(97)01336-X. [PubMed] [CrossRef]
[Google Scholar]

https://scholar.google.com/scholar_lookup?title=Milk+fluoridation+for+the+prevention+of+dental+caries&author=J+B%C3%A1n%C3%B3czy&author=M+Edgar&author=PE+Petersen&author=AJ+Rugg-Gunn&author=A+Villa&publication_year=2009&
https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/11580090
https://scholar.google.com/scholar_lookup?journal=Community+Dent+Health&title=School+milk+as+a+vehicle+for+fluoride+in+the+United+Kingdom.+An+interim+report&author=SM+Woodward&author=CE+Ketley&author=R+Pealing&author=J+West&author=MA+Lennon&volume=18&publication_year=2001&pages=150-156&pmid=11580090&
https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/23846772
https://dx.doi.org/10.1002%2F14651858.CD002279.pub2
https://scholar.google.com/scholar_lookup?journal=Cochrane+Database+Syst+Rev&title=Fluoride+varnishes+for+preventing+dental+caries+in+children+and+adolescents&author=VC+Marinho&author=HV+Worthington&author=T+Walsh&author=JE+Clarkson&publication_year=2013&pmid=23846772&doi=10.1002/14651858.CD002279.pub2&
https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/17436972
https://dx.doi.org/10.1111%2Fj.1752-7325.2007.00002.x
https://scholar.google.com/scholar_lookup?journal=J+Public+Health+Dent&title=A+comparison+of+dental+caries+levels+in+two+communities+with+different+oral+health+prevention+strategies+stratified+in+different+social+classes&author=D+Sagheri&author=J+McLoughlin&author=JJ+Clarkson&volume=67&publication_year=2007&pages=1-7&pmid=17436972&doi=10.1111/j.1752-7325.2007.00002.x&
https://scholar.google.com/scholar_lookup?title=Mosby%E2%80%99s+review+questions+for+the+national+board+dental+hygiene+examination&author=BL+Bennett&publication_year=2014&
https://dx.doi.org/10.1177%2F2156587211428076
https://scholar.google.com/scholar_lookup?journal=J+Evidence+Based+Complementary+Altern+Med&title=Fluoride:+its+metabolism,+toxicity,+and+role+in+dental+health&author=EA+Mart%C3%ADnez-Mier&volume=17&publication_year=2012&pages=28-32&doi=10.1177/2156587211428076&
https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/1945630
https://scholar.google.com/scholar_lookup?journal=Pediatrics&title=Fluoride+ingestion+in+children:+a+review+of+87+cases&author=WL+Augenstein&author=DG+Spoerke&author=KW+Kulig&author=AH+Hall&author=PK+Hall&volume=88&publication_year=1991&pages=907-912&pmid=1945630&
https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/21701192
https://dx.doi.org/10.1159%2F000325146
https://scholar.google.com/scholar_lookup?journal=Monogr+Oral+Sci&title=Acute+toxicity+of+ingested+fluoride&author=GM+Whitford&volume=22&publication_year=2011&pages=66-80&pmid=21701192&doi=10.1159/000325146&
https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/1607442
https://dx.doi.org/10.1177%2F00220345920710051901
https://scholar.google.com/scholar_lookup?journal=J+Dent+Res&title=Acute+and+chronic+fluoride+toxicity&author=GM+Whitford&volume=71&publication_year=1992&pages=1249-1254&pmid=1607442&doi=10.1177/00220345920710051901&
https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/26097233
https://dx.doi.org/10.1002%2Fart.39237
https://scholar.google.com/scholar_lookup?journal=Arthritis+Rheumatol&title=Skeletal+fluorosis%E2%80%93+a+tricky+diagnosis&author=P+Rackoff&volume=67&publication_year=2015&pages=2701&pmid=26097233&doi=10.1002/art.39237&
https://dx.doi.org/10.1588%2Fmedver.2004.01.00014
https://scholar.google.com/scholar_lookup?journal=Medical+Veritas&title=50+reasons+to+oppose+fluoridation&author=P+Connett&volume=1&publication_year=2004&pages=70-80&doi=10.1588/medver.2004.01.00014&
https://scholar.google.com/scholar_lookup?journal=J+Swedish+Med+Assoc&title=Current+problems+relating+to+the+pharmacology+and+toxicology+of+fluorides&author=A+Carlsson&volume=14&publication_year=1978&pages=1388-1392&
https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC1506856/
https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/6791740
https://dx.doi.org/10.1136%2Fbmj.283.6294.761
https://scholar.google.com/scholar_lookup?journal=Br+Med+J&title=No+evidence+of+transfer+of+fluoride+from+plasma+to+breast+milk&author=J+Ekstrand&author=LO+Boreus&author=P+de+Chateau&volume=283&publication_year=1981&pages=761-762&pmid=6791740&doi=10.1136/bmj.283.6294.761&
https://scholar.google.com/scholar_lookup?title=Water+New+Zealand+good+practice+guide:+supply+of+fluoride+for+use+in+water+treatment&publication_year=1997&
https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/9518651
https://dx.doi.org/10.1016%2FS0006-8993(97)01336-X
https://scholar.google.com/scholar_lookup?journal=Brain+Res&title=Chronic+administration+of+aluminum-fluoride+or+sodium-fluoride+to+rats+in+drinking+water:+alterations+in+neuronal+and+cerebro-vascular+integrity&author=JA+Varner&author=KF+Jensen&author=W+Horvath&author=RL+Isaacson&volume=784&publication_year=1998&pages=284-298&pmid=9518651&doi=10.1016/S0006-8993(97)01336-X&


3/11/22, 11:11 AM The Fluoride Debate: The Pros and Cons of Fluoridation

https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC6195894/ 15/17

39. Sawan RM, Leite GA, Saraiva MC, Barbosa F, Jr, Tanus-Santos JE, Gerlach RF. Fluoride increases
lead concentrations in whole blood and in calcified tissues from lead-exposed rats. Toxicology.
2010;271:21–26. doi: 10.1016/j.tox.2010.02.002. [PubMed] [CrossRef] [Google Scholar]

40. Ding Y, Gao Y, Sun H, Han H, Wang W, Ji X, Liu X, Sun D. The relationships between low levels
of urine fluoride on children’s intelligence, dental fluorosis in endemic fluorosis areas in Hulunbuir,
Inner Mongolia, China. J Hazard Mater. 2011;186:1942–1946. doi: 10.1016/j.jhazmat.2010.12.097.
[PubMed] [CrossRef] [Google Scholar]

41. Poureslami HR, Horri A, Khoramian S, Garrusi B. Intelligence quotient of 7 to 9 year-old children
from an area with high fluoride in drinking water. J Dent Oral Hyg. 2011;3:61–64. [Google Scholar]

42. Rocha-Amador D, Navarro ME, Carrizales L, Morales R, Calderón J. Decreased intelligence in
children and exposure to fluoride and arsenic in drinking water. Cad Saude Publica. 2007;23:S579–
S587. doi: 10.1590/S0102-311X2007001600018. [PubMed] [CrossRef] [Google Scholar]

43. Willinger CC, Moschèn I, Kulmer S, Pfaller W. The effect of sodium fluoride at prophylactic and
toxic doses on renal structure and function in the isolated perfused rat kidney. Toxicology. 1995;95:55–
71. doi: 10.1016/0300-483X(94)02875-U. [PubMed] [CrossRef] [Google Scholar]

44. Jiang Y, Guo X, Sun Q, Shan Z, Teng W. Effects of excess fluoride and iodide on thyroid function
and morphology. Biol Trace Elem Res. 2016;170:382–389. doi: 10.1007/s12011-015-0479-0. [PubMed]
[CrossRef] [Google Scholar]

45. Levy SM, Guha-Chowdhury N. Total fluoride intake and implications for dietary fluoride
supplementation. J Public Health Dent. 1999;59:211–223. doi: 10.1111/j.1752-7325.1999.tb03272.x.
[PubMed] [CrossRef] [Google Scholar]

46. Cohn PD. An epidemiologic report on drinking water and fluoridation. Environmental Health
Service, State of New Jersey Department of Health; Trenton, NJ, USA: 1992. pp. 1–29.
[Google Scholar]

47. Freni SC. Exposure to high fluoride concentrations in drinking water is associated with decreased
birth rates. J Toxicol Environ Health. 1994;42:109–121. doi: 10.1080/15287399409531866. [PubMed]
[CrossRef] [Google Scholar]

48. Hao P, Ma X, Cheng X, Ba Y, Zhu J, Cui L. Effect of fluoride on human hypothalamus-hypophysis-
testis axis hormones. Wei Sheng Yan Jiu. 2010;39:53–55. [PubMed] [Google Scholar]

49. Ortiz-Pérez D, Rodríguez-Martínez M, Martínez F, Borja-Aburto VH, Castelo J, Grimaldo JI, de la
Cruz E, Carrizales L, Díaz-Barriga F. Fluoride-induced disruption of reproductive hormones in men.
Environ Res. 2003;93:20–30. doi: 10.1016/S0013-9351(03)00059-8. [PubMed] [CrossRef]
[Google Scholar]

50. Beltrán-Aguilar ED, Barker L, Dye BA. Prevalence and severity of dental fluorosis in the United
States, 1999–2004. NCHS Data Brief no 53 2010 [PubMed] [Google Scholar]

51. Ministry of Health. Our oral health: key findings of the 2009 New Zealand oral health survey.
Ministry of Health; Wellington, New Zealand: 2010. pp. 273–278. [Google Scholar]

52. Fein NJ, Cerklewski FL. Fluoride content of foods made with mechanically separated chicken. J
Agric Food Chem. 2001;49:4284–4286. doi: 10.1021/jf0106300. [PubMed] [CrossRef]
[Google Scholar]

https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/20188782
https://dx.doi.org/10.1016%2Fj.tox.2010.02.002
https://scholar.google.com/scholar_lookup?journal=Toxicology&title=Fluoride+increases+lead+concentrations+in+whole+blood+and+in+calcified+tissues+from+lead-exposed+rats&author=RM+Sawan&author=GA+Leite&author=MC+Saraiva&author=F+Barbosa&author=JE+Tanus-Santos&volume=271&publication_year=2010&pages=21-26&pmid=20188782&doi=10.1016/j.tox.2010.02.002&
https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/21237562
https://dx.doi.org/10.1016%2Fj.jhazmat.2010.12.097
https://scholar.google.com/scholar_lookup?journal=J+Hazard+Mater&title=The+relationships+between+low+levels+of+urine+fluoride+on+children%E2%80%99s+intelligence,+dental+fluorosis+in+endemic+fluorosis+areas+in+Hulunbuir,+Inner+Mongolia,+China&author=Y+Ding&author=Y+Gao&author=H+Sun&author=H+Han&author=W+Wang&volume=186&publication_year=2011&pages=1942-1946&pmid=21237562&doi=10.1016/j.jhazmat.2010.12.097&
https://scholar.google.com/scholar_lookup?journal=J+Dent+Oral+Hyg&title=Intelligence+quotient+of+7+to+9+year-old+children+from+an+area+with+high+fluoride+in+drinking+water&author=HR+Poureslami&author=A+Horri&author=S+Khoramian&author=B+Garrusi&volume=3&publication_year=2011&pages=61-64&
https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/18038039
https://dx.doi.org/10.1590%2FS0102-311X2007001600018
https://scholar.google.com/scholar_lookup?journal=Cad+Saude+Publica&title=Decreased+intelligence+in+children+and+exposure+to+fluoride+and+arsenic+in+drinking+water&author=D+Rocha-Amador&author=ME+Navarro&author=L+Carrizales&author=R+Morales&author=J+Calder%C3%B3n&volume=23&publication_year=2007&pages=S579-S587&pmid=18038039&doi=10.1590/S0102-311X2007001600018&
https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/7825191
https://dx.doi.org/10.1016%2F0300-483X(94)02875-U
https://scholar.google.com/scholar_lookup?journal=Toxicology&title=The+effect+of+sodium+fluoride+at+prophylactic+and+toxic+doses+on+renal+structure+and+function+in+the+isolated+perfused+rat+kidney&author=CC+Willinger&author=I+Mosch%C3%A8n&author=S+Kulmer&author=W+Pfaller&volume=95&publication_year=1995&pages=55-71&pmid=7825191&doi=10.1016/0300-483X(94)02875-U&
https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/26319807
https://dx.doi.org/10.1007%2Fs12011-015-0479-0
https://scholar.google.com/scholar_lookup?journal=Biol+Trace+Elem+Res&title=Effects+of+excess+fluoride+and+iodide+on+thyroid+function+and+morphology&author=Y+Jiang&author=X+Guo&author=Q+Sun&author=Z+Shan&author=W+Teng&volume=170&publication_year=2016&pages=382-389&pmid=26319807&doi=10.1007/s12011-015-0479-0&
https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/10682326
https://dx.doi.org/10.1111%2Fj.1752-7325.1999.tb03272.x
https://scholar.google.com/scholar_lookup?journal=J+Public+Health+Dent&title=Total+fluoride+intake+and+implications+for+dietary+fluoride+supplementation&author=SM+Levy&author=N+Guha-Chowdhury&volume=59&publication_year=1999&pages=211-223&pmid=10682326&doi=10.1111/j.1752-7325.1999.tb03272.x&
https://scholar.google.com/scholar_lookup?title=An+epidemiologic+report+on+drinking+water+and+fluoridation&author=PD+Cohn&publication_year=1992&
https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/8169995
https://dx.doi.org/10.1080%2F15287399409531866
https://scholar.google.com/scholar_lookup?journal=J+Toxicol+Environ+Health&title=Exposure+to+high+fluoride+concentrations+in+drinking+water+is+associated+with+decreased+birth+rates&author=SC+Freni&volume=42&publication_year=1994&pages=109-121&pmid=8169995&doi=10.1080/15287399409531866&
https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/20364589
https://scholar.google.com/scholar_lookup?journal=Wei+Sheng+Yan+Jiu&title=Effect+of+fluoride+on+human+hypothalamus-hypophysis-testis+axis+hormones&author=P+Hao&author=X+Ma&author=X+Cheng&author=Y+Ba&author=J+Zhu&volume=39&publication_year=2010&pages=53-55&pmid=20364589&
https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/12865044
https://dx.doi.org/10.1016%2FS0013-9351(03)00059-8
https://scholar.google.com/scholar_lookup?journal=Environ+Res&title=Fluoride-induced+disruption+of+reproductive+hormones+in+men&author=D+Ortiz-P%C3%A9rez&author=M+Rodr%C3%ADguez-Mart%C3%ADnez&author=F+Mart%C3%ADnez&author=VH+Borja-Aburto&author=J+Castelo&volume=93&publication_year=2003&pages=20-30&pmid=12865044&doi=10.1016/S0013-9351(03)00059-8&
https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/21211168
https://scholar.google.com/scholar_lookup?journal=NCHS+Data+Brief+no+53&title=Prevalence+and+severity+of+dental+fluorosis+in+the+United+States,+1999%E2%80%932004&author=ED+Beltr%C3%A1n-Aguilar&author=L+Barker&author=BA+Dye&publication_year=2010&
https://scholar.google.com/scholar_lookup?title=Our+oral+health:+key+findings+of+the+2009+New+Zealand+oral+health+survey&publication_year=2010&
https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/11559124
https://dx.doi.org/10.1021%2Fjf0106300
https://scholar.google.com/scholar_lookup?journal=J+Agric+Food+Chem&title=Fluoride+content+of+foods+made+with+mechanically+separated+chicken&author=NJ+Fein&author=FL+Cerklewski&volume=49&publication_year=2001&pages=4284-4286&pmid=11559124&doi=10.1021/jf0106300&


3/11/22, 11:11 AM The Fluoride Debate: The Pros and Cons of Fluoridation

https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC6195894/ 16/17

53. Levy SM, Eichenberger-Gilmore J, Warren JJ, Letuchy E, Broffitt B, Marshall TA, Burns T,
Willing M, Janz K, Torner JC. Associations of fluoride intake with children’s bone measures at age 11.
Community Dent Oral Epidemiol. 2009;37:416–426. doi: 10.1111/j.1600-0528.2009.00478.x.
[PMC free article] [PubMed] [CrossRef] [Google Scholar]

54. Chen L, ShangGuan LM, Wu YN, Xu LJ, Fu FF. Study on the residue and degradation of fluorine-
containing pesticides in Oolong tea by using gas chromatography-mass spectrometry. Food Control.
2012;25:433–440. doi: 10.1016/j.foodcont.2011.11.027. [CrossRef] [Google Scholar]

55. Bentley EM, Ellwood RP, Davies RM. Fluoride ingestion from toothpaste by young children. Br
Dent J. 1999;186:460–462. [PubMed] [Google Scholar]

56. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Achievements in public health, 1900–1999:
fluoridation of drinking water to prevent dental caries. JAMA. 2000;283:1283–1286.
doi: 10.1001/jama.283.10.1283. [PubMed] [CrossRef] [Google Scholar]

57. Hellwig E, Lennon AM. Systemic versus topical fluor ide. Caries Res. 2004;38:258–262.
doi: 10.1159/000077764. [PubMed] [CrossRef] [Google Scholar]

58. Cheng KK, Chalmers I, Sheldon TA. Adding fluoride to water supplies. BMJ. 2007;335:699.
doi: 10.1136/bmj.39318.562951.BE. [PMC free article] [PubMed] [CrossRef] [Google Scholar]

59. McDonagh MS, Whiting PF, Wilson PM, Sutton AJ, Chestnutt I, Cooper J, Misso K, Bradley M,
Treasure E, Kleijnen J. Systematic review of water fluoridation. BMJ. 2000;321:855.
doi: 10.1136/bmj.321.7265.855. [PMC free article] [PubMed] [CrossRef] [Google Scholar]

60. United States Food and Drug Administration. [accessed Jun 2017];
https://www.fda.gov/iceci/enforcementactions/warningletters/2016/ucm513608.htm.

61. Fluoride Action Network. [accessed May 2017]; http://fluoridealert.org/wp-
content/pesticides/sf.submission.12-16-05.pdf.

62. Doumit M, Doughan B. Oral health in school children in Lebanon. Sante. 2002;12:223–228.
[PubMed] [Google Scholar]

63. Ministry of Health. [accessed Jun 2017]; http://www.moph.gov.lb/ar/Pages/13/2024/press-
conference-for-he-minister-abou-faour-on-6-7-2015-

64. Fadlallah R, El-Jardali F, Ghaddar F, Hamad L. K2 Prapid response: informing the salt fluoridation
law in Lebanon. Knowledge to Policy (K2P) Center; Beirut, Lebanon: 2015. pp. 5–6. [Google Scholar]

65. WHO Expert Committee on Oral Health Status and Fluoride Use & World Health Organization.
Fluorides and oral health: report of a WHO Expert Committee on Oral Health Status and Fluoride
Use. World Health Organization; Geneva, Switzerland: 1994. (WHO technical report series; 846).
[PubMed] [Google Scholar]

66. Jurdi M, Abi Said D, Al Kouatly Kambris M. Decision to fluoridate. 1. Fluoride levels in herbal
teas used in Lebanese communities. Food Nutr Bull. 2001;22:62–66.
doi: 10.1177/156482650102200110. [CrossRef] [Google Scholar]

67. AbuZeid K, El Hatow L. Impact of fluoride content in drinking water. Presented at Arab Water
Healthy Conference; Cairo, Egypt. 2007. [accessed Jun 2017].
https://www.researchgate.net/profile/Khaled_Abu-
Zeid/publication/265567218_IMPACT_OF_FLUORIDE_CONTENT_IN_DRINKING_WATER/links/
5603b06208ae08d4f1717a86.pdf. [Google Scholar]

https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC2765810/
https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/19740248
https://dx.doi.org/10.1111%2Fj.1600-0528.2009.00478.x
https://scholar.google.com/scholar_lookup?journal=Community+Dent+Oral+Epidemiol&title=Associations+of+fluoride+intake+with+children%E2%80%99s+bone+measures+at+age+11&author=SM+Levy&author=J+Eichenberger-Gilmore&author=JJ+Warren&author=E+Letuchy&author=B+Broffitt&volume=37&publication_year=2009&pages=416-426&pmid=19740248&doi=10.1111/j.1600-0528.2009.00478.x&
https://dx.doi.org/10.1016%2Fj.foodcont.2011.11.027
https://scholar.google.com/scholar_lookup?journal=Food+Control&title=Study+on+the+residue+and+degradation+of+fluorine-containing+pesticides+in+Oolong+tea+by+using+gas+chromatography-mass+spectrometry&author=L+Chen&author=LM+ShangGuan&author=YN+Wu&author=LJ+Xu&author=FF+Fu&volume=25&publication_year=2012&pages=433-440&doi=10.1016/j.foodcont.2011.11.027&
https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/10365494
https://scholar.google.com/scholar_lookup?journal=Br+Dent+J&title=Fluoride+ingestion+from+toothpaste+by+young+children&author=EM+Bentley&author=RP+Ellwood&author=RM+Davies&volume=186&publication_year=1999&pages=460-462&pmid=10365494&
https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/10714718
https://dx.doi.org/10.1001%2Fjama.283.10.1283
https://scholar.google.com/scholar_lookup?journal=JAMA&title=Achievements+in+public+health,+1900%E2%80%931999:+fluoridation+of+drinking+water+to+prevent+dental+caries&volume=283&publication_year=2000&pages=1283-1286&pmid=10714718&doi=10.1001/jama.283.10.1283&
https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/15153698
https://dx.doi.org/10.1159%2F000077764
https://scholar.google.com/scholar_lookup?journal=Caries+Res&title=Systemic+versus+topical+fluor+ide&author=E+Hellwig&author=AM+Lennon&volume=38&publication_year=2004&pages=258-262&pmid=15153698&doi=10.1159/000077764&
https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC2001050/
https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/17916854
https://dx.doi.org/10.1136%2Fbmj.39318.562951.BE
https://scholar.google.com/scholar_lookup?journal=BMJ&title=Adding+fluoride+to+water+supplies&author=KK+Cheng&author=I+Chalmers&author=TA+Sheldon&volume=335&publication_year=2007&pages=699&pmid=17916854&doi=10.1136/bmj.39318.562951.BE&
https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC27492/
https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/11021861
https://dx.doi.org/10.1136%2Fbmj.321.7265.855
https://scholar.google.com/scholar_lookup?journal=BMJ&title=Systematic+review+of+water+fluoridation&author=MS+McDonagh&author=PF+Whiting&author=PM+Wilson&author=AJ+Sutton&author=I+Chestnutt&volume=321&publication_year=2000&pages=855&pmid=11021861&doi=10.1136/bmj.321.7265.855&
https://www.fda.gov/iceci/enforcementactions/warningletters/2016/ucm513608.htm
http://fluoridealert.org/wp-content/pesticides/sf.submission.12-16-05.pdf
https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/12196295
https://scholar.google.com/scholar_lookup?journal=Sante&title=Oral+health+in+school+children+in+Lebanon&author=M+Doumit&author=B+Doughan&volume=12&publication_year=2002&pages=223-228&pmid=12196295&
http://www.moph.gov.lb/ar/Pages/13/2024/press-conference-for-he-minister-abou-faour-on-6-7-2015-
https://scholar.google.com/scholar_lookup?title=K2+Prapid+response:+informing+the+salt+fluoridation+law+in+Lebanon&author=R+Fadlallah&author=F+El-Jardali&author=F+Ghaddar&author=L+Hamad&publication_year=2015&
https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/7975675
https://scholar.google.com/scholar_lookup?title=Fluorides+and+oral+health:+report+of+a+WHO+Expert+Committee+on+Oral+Health+Status+and+Fluoride+Use&publication_year=1994&
https://dx.doi.org/10.1177%2F156482650102200110
https://scholar.google.com/scholar_lookup?journal=Food+Nutr+Bull&title=Decision+to+fluoridate.+1.+Fluoride+levels+in+herbal+teas+used+in+Lebanese+communities&author=M+Jurdi&author=D+Abi+Said&author=M+Al+Kouatly+Kambris&volume=22&publication_year=2001&pages=62-66&doi=10.1177/156482650102200110&
https://www.researchgate.net/profile/Khaled_Abu-Zeid/publication/265567218_IMPACT_OF_FLUORIDE_CONTENT_IN_DRINKING_WATER/links/5603b06208ae08d4f1717a86.pdf
https://scholar.google.com/scholar?q=AbuZeid+K+El+Hatow+L+2007+Impact+of+fluoride+content+in+drinking+water+Presented+at+Arab+Water+Healthy+Conference+Cairo,+Egypt+https://www.researchgate.net/profile/Khaled_Abu-Zeid/publication/265567218_IMPACT_OF_FLUORIDE_CONTENT_IN_DRINKING_WATER/links/5603b06208ae08d4f1717a86.pdf+accessed+Jun+2017+


3/11/22, 11:11 AM The Fluoride Debate: The Pros and Cons of Fluoridation

https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC6195894/ 17/17

68. Haddad L, Achadi E, Bendech MA, Ahuja A, Bhatia K, Bhutta Z, Blössner M, Borghi E, Colecraft
E, de Onis M, Eriksen K, Fanzo J, Flores-Ayala R, Fracassi P, Kimani-Murage E, Nago Koukoubou E,
Krasevec J, Newby H, Nugent R, Oenema S, Martin-Prével Y, Randel J, Requejo J, Shyam T,
Udomkesmalee E, Reddy KS. The Global Nutrition Report 2014: actions and accountability to
accelerate the world’s progress on nutrition. J Nutr. 2015;145:663–671. doi: 10.3945/jn.114.206078.
[PMC free article] [PubMed] [CrossRef] [Google Scholar]

69. Brough L, Thomson BM, Skeaff SA. Revisiting the Iodine Global Network’s definition of iodine
status by country. Br J Nutr. 2016;115:374–376. doi: 10.1017/S0007114515004389. [PubMed]
[CrossRef] [Google Scholar]

Articles from Preventive Nutrition and Food Science are provided here courtesy of Korean Society of Food
Science and Nutrition (KFN)

HHS Vulnerability Disclosure

https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC5129664/
https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/25740908
https://dx.doi.org/10.3945%2Fjn.114.206078
https://scholar.google.com/scholar_lookup?journal=J+Nutr&title=The+Global+Nutrition+Report+2014:+actions+and+accountability+to+accelerate+the+world%E2%80%99s+progress+on+nutrition&author=L+Haddad&author=E+Achadi&author=MA+Bendech&author=A+Ahuja&author=K+Bhatia&volume=145&publication_year=2015&pages=663-671&pmid=25740908&doi=10.3945/jn.114.206078&
https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/26627636
https://dx.doi.org/10.1017%2FS0007114515004389
https://scholar.google.com/scholar_lookup?journal=Br+J+Nutr&title=Revisiting+the+Iodine+Global+Network%E2%80%99s+definition+of+iodine+status+by+country&author=L+Brough&author=BM+Thomson&author=SA+Skeaff&volume=115&publication_year=2016&pages=374-376&pmid=26627636&doi=10.1017/S0007114515004389&
https://www.hhs.gov/vulnerability-disclosure-policy/index.html


What Are the Pros and Cons 
of Fluoride in Drinking Water? 
 South Florida Caribbean News December 2, 2020 

 

Everybody needs potable drinking water for survival. Experts even recommend consuming 

eight to ten glasses of water a day. However, not all water is safe for human consumption, 

and there are even individuals who have a certain sensitivity when it comes to water 

purity.  That’s one reason not everyone can settle with the same water filtration system 

technology. For instance, the areas with water containing heavy metals apart from fluoride, 

need an advanced RO filtration system like the Homemaster’s RO system, which is meant 

to target heavy metals and fluoride. However, in this article we will talk about the pros and 

cons of the presence of fluoride in drinking water so that you understand your drinking 

water well. 

 

Fluoride in Brief 

Fluoride is a natural mineral that can be present in the food that you eat as well as in the 

water that you drink. It can also be found in soil and rocks and it is considered one of the 

most vital elements in the earth’s crust. While its ingestion is relatively safe when done in 

small quantities, fluoride can have adverse effects when consumed in large doses. 

Pros 
●     Tooth Decay Prevention 

One of the main advantages of drinking water with fluoride is that it can help prevent tooth 

decay. This is particularly beneficial for children who are not keen on proper brushing. In 

this case, the lack of fluoride that they get from their toothpaste is supplemented in the 

water that they drink. The great thing about this is that fluoridation is already endorsed by 

the American Medical Association, as well as the American Dental Association as a safe and 

effective means of reducing cavities. 

https://sflcn.com/author/ianhamilton/
https://ro-guide.com/home-master-tmafc-erp-artesian-ro-system-review-2/
https://ro-guide.com/home-master-tmafc-erp-artesian-ro-system-review-2/
https://www.sallingtate.com/Blog/298094/Tooth-Brushing-Best-Practices


According to these esteemed medical organizations, the fluoride present in drinking water 

can protect people of various age ranges from cavities. Thus, the positive effect tends to be 

apparent from children to the elderly. Statistics show that communities delving into the use 

of water with fluoride reduced the chances of tooth decay from children to adults by almost 

25%. 

●     Cost-Effective 

Another advantage of drinking water packed with fluoride is that it can significantly save 

money on dental costs. In several cities, every dollar that is invested in the fluoridation of 

the water saves an individual up to $40 in dental costs. This means that instead of having a 

dentist resolve dental issues, they only need to perform cleaning tasks because the teeth of 

their patients are already strong and healthy. 

●     Natural Mineral 

Fluoride found in drinking water comes from natural sources because this mineral is 

naturally present in groundwater, as well as ocean water. The process of fluoridation merely 

adjusts the fluoride content of the water to a recommended level to ensure that it is safe 

for consumption. The process is known to be similar to fortifying other foods and beverages 

such as fortifying salt with iodine. This is the reason why water fluoridation is widely 

endorsed by numerous health organizations. 

 

Cons 
●     Uncontrolled Dosage 

One of the primary drawbacks of having fluoride in your drinking water is the uncontrolled 

fluoride dosage that you garner from it. For several individuals, this is comparable to 

medication without consent. In this case, you can have a fluoride water filter installed to 

ensure that the water you are drinking is free from fluoride and other minerals such as lead. 

In doing so, you won’t be exposed to excessive fluoride that can lead to dental fluorosis 

later on. Some people also argue that the effects of fluoride in strengthening the teeth are 

more effective when applied as a topical solution rather than when consumed directly. Thus, 

using a fluoride-rich toothpaste is still better in preventing tooth decay compared to 

drinking water that is treated with fluoridation. They also hold that there is no significant 

https://www.deltadentalwa.com/blog/entry/2017/03/benefits-of-fluoride
https://watertechadvice.com/best-fluoride-water-filter/


link between fluoride exposure and tooth decay, which means that there is no proof that 

drinking fluoride-rich water will help prevent tooth decay. 

 

●     Negative Health Effects 

Another drawback of having fluoride in your drinking water is the associated negative 

health effects that you can gain from it. Certain studies show that bone fractures as well as 

thyroid disorders are linked to the consumption of excessive fluoride present in drinking 

water. Aside from this, there are also research papers that aim to shed light on the 

connection of fluoride in drinking water to impaired brain development and functions. To 

mitigate these adverse effects of fluoride, make sure that the filtration system that you 

install leverages the reverse osmosis filtration technique. 

The presence of fluoride in your drinking water has several advantages and disadvantages. 

Nevertheless, it is your responsibility to weigh each of these accordingly to ensure that you 

make the proper choice when it comes to the drinking water that you consume, particularly 

in your household. Rest assured that all these are geared towards ensuring that you are 

drinking high-quality water that is beneficial for your overall health. 

 



City of Waterloo

Financial highlights

April 21, 2022

Client service team

Jodi Dobson, Partner, CPA
Justin Hoagland, Senior Manager, CPA

© 2022 Baker Tilly US, LLP



City of Waterloo
General fund results

Summarized income statement
Actual Final budget Variance

Revenues and other financing sources 2,237,476$            2,144,781$            92,695$                  

Expenditures and other financing uses 2,188,285              2,324,781              136,496                  

   Net change in fund balance 49,191$                 (180,000)$              229,191$                

Fund balance category definitions
Nonspendable - amounts cannot be spent either because they are not in spendable form or because

          legal or contractual requirements require them to be maintained in tact.

Restricted - amounts that can be spent only for the specific purposes stipulated by an external source.
Committed - amounts constrained for specific purposes that are internally imposed through formal
          action of the governing body.

Assigned - spendable amounts that are intended to be used for specific purposes that are not

          considered restricted or committed.

Unassigned - residual amounts that have not been classified within other categories above.

$50,396 

$-

$-

$270,510 

$955,625 

$1,276,531 

$72,414 

-

-

302,436 

852,490 

$1,227,340 

 $-  $400,000  $800,000  $1,200,000  $1,600,000

Nonspendable

Restricted

Committed

Assigned

Unassigned

Total

General fund - fund balance by category2020 2021

© 2022 Baker Tilly US, LLP
Source: current and prior year financial statement information and other benchmark information as noted.



City of Waterloo
General fund - fund balance trends

Fund balance policy:
   The policy is to maintain a working capital fund of 25% - 33% of the current year general fund final

   budgeted expenditures. The balance at year-end was $955,625 or 41%. The graph below includes both 

   unassigned and assigned fund balance, which is why it's showing 52.7% at year-end.

Other reference values
GFOA recommends a minimum of no less than 2 months (16.7%) of general fund expenditures.

Median reference value generated from 2017 - 2020 Baker Tilly municipal client data for population ranges
         less than 10,000.

59.2%

21.6%

9.8%

57.5%

52.7%

38.2%
37.1% 36.1%

46.0%

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

2017 2018 2019 2020 2021

Unrestricted general fund - fund balance 
as a percentage of expenditures 

General Fund Actual Policy minimum Policy maximum Reference - Median

© 2022 Baker Tilly US, LLP
Source: current and prior year financial statement information and other benchmark information as noted.



City of Waterloo
General obligation debt

Debt management policy:
          The City does not currently have a debt management policy.
          Legal debt margin capacity (5% of the city's total equalized value).

Actual percentage of debt limit at 12/31/21: 27%

Total debt outstanding by type at 12/31/2021
General obligation Revenue Debt Other Total

City 3,610,570$                 -$                    -$            3,610,570$            

Comparative metrics available online through the Wisconsin Policy Forum.

                 Select "Debt" -- options for custom comparisons or comparisons by county

https://wispolicyforum.org/research/municipal-datatool-examining-and-comparing-wisconsin-cities-and-
villages/

$3,671,537
$3,109,959 $2,608,305

$3,968,747 $3,610,570

$10,690,690  $10,749,515 

$11,708,960 
$12,234,985 

$13,333,770 

 $‐

 $2,000,000

 $4,000,000

 $6,000,000

 $8,000,000

 $10,000,000

 $12,000,000

 $14,000,000

 $16,000,000

2017 2018 2019 2020 2021

General obligation debt capacity

Total G.O. debt outstanding G.O. debt limit

© 2022 Baker Tilly US, LLP
Source: current and prior year financial statement information and other benchmark information as noted.



City of Waterloo
Governmental funds - debt service 

Current and prior year data
2021 2020

Principal 1,118,177$                 1,669,558$         
Interest 89,126                        81,794                

     Total 1,207,303$                 1,751,352$         

Non-capital expenditures 4,457,792$                 5,382,481$         

Other reference values
Median reference value generated from 2017 - 2020 Baker Tilly municipal client data for population ranges
          less than 10,000.

11.0%

17.0%

26.3%

32.5%

27.1%

17.4%

16.7% 16.6%

19.2%

0.00%

5.00%

10.00%

15.00%

20.00%

25.00%

30.00%

35.00%

2017 2018 2019 2020 2021

Debt service to non-capital expenditures

City of Waterloo Reference - Median

© 2022 Baker Tilly US, LLP
Source: current and prior year financial statement information and other benchmark information as noted.



Waterloo Water & Light Commission

Unrestricted Reserves

2017 2018 2019 2020 2021

Year end balance 902,614$        621,759$        731,550$        812,038$        545,015$        
  Months on hand 2.02 1.35 1.50 1.73 1.06

Debt Coverage

2017 2018 2019 2020 2021

Actual 1.84 2.23 2.51 2.30 2.80
Required 1.25 1.25 1.25 1.25 1.25

Investment in Capital

5,365,628  5,512,967 
5,842,080  5,636,763 

6,158,716 

4,802,609  4,699,607  4,862,694  4,800,434  4,920,121 

 $‐

 $1,000,000

 $2,000,000

 $3,000,000

 $4,000,000

 $5,000,000

 $6,000,000

 $7,000,000

2017 2018 2019 2020 2021

Operating results

Operating revenues Operating expenses

Equity, 69% Debt, 31%



Waterloo Water & Light Commission
Electric Utility Results

Water Utility Results

Sewer Utility Results

3,886,169  3,857,900 

3,759,867 
3,704,621 

4,053,003 

$3,668,517 

$3,539,329  $3,572,244 
$3,515,807  $3,521,494 

 $3,200,000

 $3,300,000

 $3,400,000

 $3,500,000

 $3,600,000

 $3,700,000

 $3,800,000

 $3,900,000

 $4,000,000

 $4,100,000

2017 2018 2019 2020 2021

Operating results

Operating revenues Operating expenses

638,307  640,325 

830,981  867,634  874,609 

$429,476  $437,466 
$481,236 

$399,562 

$533,455 

 $‐

 $200,000

 $400,000

 $600,000

 $800,000

 $1,000,000

2017 2018 2019 2020 2021

Operating results

Operating revenues Operating expenses

841,152 

1,014,742 

1,251,232 

1,064,508 

1,231,104 

$704,616  $722,812 
$809,214 

$885,065  $865,172 

 $‐

 $200,000

 $400,000

 $600,000

 $800,000

 $1,000,000

 $1,200,000

 $1,400,000

2017 2018 2019 2020 2021

Operating results

Operating revenues Operating expenses


